
UNIT III.  SURVEY OF INTERESTING TOPICS
A.  Discriminatory Advertising
RAGIN v. THE NEW YORK TIMES CO.
923 F.2d 995 (2d Cir. 1991)

WINTER, Circuit Judge:  The New York Times Company appeals ...  from the denial of its motion under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6) to dismiss the complaint in the instant matter.  Briefly stated, the complaint alleges that, during the past twenty years, the Times has published real estate advertisements “featuring thousands of human models of whom virtually none were black,” and that the few blacks depicted rarely represented potential home buyers or renters.  On those rare occasions when blacks were depicted as consumers of housing, moreover, the housing in question was in predominantly black areas.  Plaintiffs contend that by publishing these advertisements the Times has violated the Fair Housing Act....  Because Section 3604(c) validly prohibits the publication of real estate ads that “indicate[] any preference ... based on race,” and the complaint can fairly be read to allege that the Times has published such ads, we affirm the denial of the motion to dismiss.

BACKGROUND.  The Times is the publisher of The New York Times, a nationally known newspaper.  The individual plaintiffs are black persons who have been looking for housing in the New York metropolitan area.  Plaintiff Open Housing Center, Inc., is a not‑for‑profit New York corporation, one of the primary goals of which is to eliminate racially discriminatory housing practices. ...  A pertinent excerpt from the complaint states: 

During the twenty year period since the Act was passed ... advertisements appeared in the Sunday Times featuring thousands of human models of whom virtually none were black....  [W]hile many of the white human models depict representative or potential home owners or renters, the few blacks represented are usually depicted as building maintenance employees, doormen, entertainers, sports figures, small children or cartoon characters....

[T]he Times has continued to ... publish numerous advertisements that picture all‑white models in advertisements for realty located in predominantly white buildings, developments, communities or neighborhoods.  It has also ... published a few advertisements that picture all black models in advertisements for realty located in predominantly black buildings, developments, communities or neighborhoods. The use of human models in advertising personalizes the advertisements and encourages consumers to identify themselves in a positive way with the models and housing featured.  In real estate advertisements, human models often represent actual or potential purchasers or renters, or the type of potential purchasers or renters that the real estate owner has targeted as desirable occupants. Therefore, the repeated and continued depiction of white human models and the virtual absence of any black human models ... indicates a preference on the basis of race.... The real estate display advertisements featured by the Times indicate a preference based on race through the use of human models reflecting the predominant race of the advertised building, development or community.

The Times moved ... to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which relief may be granted.  ... With respect to the claim under Section 3604(c), Judge Haight denied the motion to dismiss.  Responding to the Times’s arguments, he first concluded that the pattern of ads alleged in the complaint, if proven at trial, would be sufficient to support a finding that the Times had published ads that indicated a racial preference.   Second, Judge Haight concluded that the First Amendment provides no protection for such illegal commercial speech, and that requiring the Times to monitor the ads it receives would not impose an unconstitutional burden on the press.  Finally, assuming for purposes of his decision that the constitutional vagueness doctrine was applicable to civil actions involving commercial speech, Judge Haight concluded that the statute gave the Times constitutionally adequate notice of the prohibited conduct. ...


DISCUSSION.  Like any party moving to dismiss a complaint under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), the Times must carry the burden of showing that “it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff[s] can prove no set of facts in support of [their] claim which would entitle [them] to relief.”  Conley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 45‑46 (1957).  Given the breadth of the facts alleged in the complaint, most of the Times’s statutory and constitutional arguments amount to an assertion of immunity from Section 3604(c).  We reject those arguments.


A. 
Statutory Issues. Section 3604(c) states in pertinent part that it is unlawful: “To ... publish ... any ... advertisement, with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates any preference ... based on race....”  Beginning our analysis with the statutory language, the first critical word is the verb “indicates.”  Giving that word its common meaning, we read the statute to be violated if an ad for housing suggests to an ordinary reader that a particular race is preferred or dispreferred for the housing in question.  This standard has been adopted by the Fourth, see United States v. Hunter, 459 F.2d 205, 215 (4th Cir.), cert. denied, 409 U.S. 934 (1972), and District of Columbia Circuits, see Spann v. Colonial Village, Inc., 899 F.2d 24 (D.C.Cir.1990), and we also adopt it.

The second critical word is the noun “preference.”  The Times asks us to read that word to preclude liability for a publisher where the ad in question is not facially discriminatory and the publisher has no other evidence of a discriminatory intent.  We share that general view but with important qualifications.

The Times’s conception of what kinds of ads might be deemed by a trier of fact as facially suggesting to an ordinary reader a racial preference is intolerably narrow.  At oral argument, suggested as examples of such a facial message were real estate advertisements depicting burning crosses or swastikas.  We do not limit the statute—not to say trivialize it—by construing it to outlaw only the most provocative and offensive expressions of racism or statements indicating an outright refusal to sell or rent to persons of a particular race.  Congress used broad language in Section 3604(c), and there is no cogent reason to narrow the meaning of that language.  Ordinary readers may reasonably infer a racial message from advertisements that are more subtle than the hypothetical swastika or burning cross, and we read the word “preference” to describe any ad that would  discourage an ordinary reader of a particular race from answering it.

Moreover, the statute prohibits all ads that indicate a racial preference to an ordinary reader whatever the advertiser’s intent.  To be sure, the intent of the creator of an ad may be relevant to a factual determination of the message conveyed, but the touchstone is nevertheless the message.  If, for example, an advertiser seeking to reach a group of largely white consumers were to create advertisements that discouraged potential black consumers from responding, the statute would bar the ads, whether or not the creator of the ad had a subjective racial intent.


Keeping these general, and fairly obvious, propositions in mind, we turn to the allegations of the complaint.  Those allegations focus upon the use of models of particular races in real estate advertisements.  A threshold question is whether Section 3604(c) reaches the use of models as a medium for the expression of a racial preference.  We hold that it does.  Congress prohibited all expressions of racial preferences in 
housing advertisements and did not limit the prohibition to racial messages conveyed through certain means. Neither the text of the statute nor its legislative history suggests that Congress intended to exempt from its proscriptions subtle methods of indicating racial preferences. 

The next question is whether and in what circumstances the use of models may convey an illegal racial message.  We begin with another proposition that seems to us fairly obvious: namely, that a trier of fact could find that in this age of mass communication and sophisticated modes of persuasion, advertisers target as potential consumers groups with certain racial as well as other characteristics.  In some circumstances, such targeting conveys a racial preference, or so a trier might find.  We live in a race‑conscious society, and real estate advertisers seeking the attention of groups that are largely white may see greater profit in appealing to white consumers in a manner that consciously or unconsciously discourages non‑whites.  They may do so out of simple inertia or because of the fear that the use of black models will deter more white consumers than it attracts black consumers.  In any event, a trier plausibly may conclude that in some circumstances ads with models of a particular race and not others will be read by the ordinary reader as indicating a racial preference.

The Times does not deny that advertisers target groups but rather vigorously presses the claim that if Section 3604(c) is applied to the Times, the specter of racially conscious decisions and of racial quotas in advertising will become a reality.  We need not enter the public debate over the existence or merits of racial quotas in fields other than advertising, or look to the scope of Supreme Court decisions that permit race‑conscious decisions.  Nor do we by any means suggest that an order directing such quotas is the only appropriate or usual remedy should a publisher be found liable.

We do believe, however, that the Times’s concerns are overblown.  The quota controversy principally concerns selection of persons for competitive opportunities, such as employment or admission to college.  These are circumstances in which opinions differ whether individual skills or purely academic qualifications should govern and whether a race‑conscious decision is itself an act of racial discrimination.  The use of models in advertising, however, involves wholly different considerations.  Advertising is a make‑up‑ your‑own world in which one builds an image from scratch, selecting those portrayals that will attract targeted consumers and discarding those that will put them off.  Locale, setting, actions portrayed, weather, height, weight, gender, hair color, dress, race and numerous other factors are varied as needed to convey the message intended.  A soft‑drink manufacturer seeking to envelop its product in an aura of good will and harmony may portray a group of persons of widely varying nationalities and races singing a cheerful tune on a mountaintop.  A chain of fast‑food retailers may use models of the principal races found in urban areas where its stores are located.  Similarly, a housing complex may decide that the use of models of one race alone will maximize the number of potential consumers who respond, even though it may also discourage consumers of other races.

In advertising, a conscious racial decision regarding models thus seems almost inevitable.  All the statute requires is that in this make‑up‑your‑own world the creator of an ad not make choices among models that create a suggestion of a racial preference.  The deliberate inclusion of a black model where necessary to avoid such a message seems to us a far cry from the alleged practices that are at the core of the debate over quotas.  If race‑conscious decisions are inevitable in the make‑up‑your‑own world of advertising, a statutory interpretation that may lead to some race‑conscious decisionmaking to avoid indicating a racial preference is hardly a danger to be averted at all costs.

Moreover, the Times’s argument would prevent a trier of fact from scrutinizing the selection of models and inferring from that selection and from the surrounding circumstances a race‑conscious decision.  The creator of an ad may testify, “Gosh, I didn’t notice until this trial that all the models for tenants were white and the model for a custodian was black.”  However, a trier may justifiably disbelieve such an assertion in light of all the circumstances, much as triers of fact are allowed to draw inferences of racial intent in other contexts, or may consider such an assertion an inadvertent or unconscious expression of racism.

 Given this scope for fact‑finding, the present complaint cannot be dismissed for failure to state a claim for relief.  It alleges a long‑standing pattern of publishing real estate ads in which models of potential consumers are always white while black models largely portray service employees, except for the exclusive use of black models for housing in predominantly black neighborhoods.  Finally, it alleges that this pattern reflects a targeting of racial groups.  Given the ordinary reader test, it can hardly be said that these allegations are insufficient to enable plaintiffs to prove that the Times has published, and continues to publish, some discriminatory ads.

In the proceedings to follow, the standard for liability will no doubt be sharpened in the context of the parties’ evidentiary submissions.  We believe it useful to make some preliminary observations on that standard, however.  First, we agree with the Times that liability may not be based on an aggregation of advertisements  by different advertisers.  Although the twenty‑year pattern alleged in the complaint may have been a powerful engine for housing segregation and, if proven, will almost certainly include violations of Section 3604(c), the statute provides a prohibition only with regard to individual advertisers.

Second, as stated, liability will follow only when an ordinary reader would understand the ad as suggesting a racial preference.  The ordinary reader is neither the most suspicious nor the most insensitive of our citizenry.  Such a reader does not apply a mechanical test to every use of a model of a particular race.  An ad depicting a single model or couple of one race that is run only two or three times would seem, absent some other direct evidence of an intentional racial message, outside Section 3604(c)’s prohibitions as a matter of law.  A housing complex that runs ads several times a week for a year depicting numerous white models as consumers and black models as doormen or custodial employees would have difficulty persuading a trier of fact that its ads did not facially indicate a racial preference.  It thus seems inevitable that the close questions of liability will involve advertisers that either use a large number of models and/or advertise repetitively.  In such cases, the advertiser’s opportunities to include all groups are greater, and the message conveyed by the exclusion of a racial group is stronger.


B. 
Constitutional Issues.  The Times argues that Section 3604(c) is void for vagueness.  Even if we indulge in the assumption that the vagueness doctrine applies to civil actions, we believe the ordinary reader standard provides constitutionally adequate notice of the prohibited conduct.  As Judge Haight observed, “[t]he ‘ordinary reader’ is nothing more, but nothing less, than the common law’s ‘reasonable man’:  that familiar creature by whose standards human conduct has been judged for centuries.”  The Times’s argument seems based on an unstated premise either that the selection of models in advertising is entirely random or that publishers of major newspapers lack the sophistication to notice racial messages that are apparent to others.  The premise regarding the random selection of models is baseless, and we have more confidence in the perspicacity of publishers than do the Times’s lawyers.  Of course, close questions will arise, as they do in every area of the law, but we cannot say in the context of a facial challenge to the statute that the ordinary reader test—as Judge Haight noted, not a novel, untried concept—is a hopelessly vague legal standard. …

The Times also raises a number of arguments concerning purportedly unconstitutional burdens imposed by Section 3604(c).  First, the Times argues that enforcement of the Fair Housing Act against newspapers will compromise the unique position of the free press. As the Supreme Court in Pittsburgh Press was unable to discern any significant interference with the traditional “protection afforded to editorial judgment and to the free expression of views ... however controversial,” 413 U.S. at 391, so we perceive no disruption of the press’s traditional role that will result from prohibiting the publication of real estate ads that, to the ordinary reader, indicate a racial preference.

Second, the Times contends that the press cannot be compelled to act as an enforcer of otherwise desirable laws and that such an obligation imposes unconstitutional special burdens on the press.  The Times relies upon Zauderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel, 471 U.S. 626 (1985).  Zauderer, however, is wholly inapposite.  In pertinent part, that decision addressed the constitutionality of a broad prohibition on the use of advertising by lawyers to give unsolicited legal advice and to recommend their own hiring. Although the ads in question were conceded to be truthful, the State attempted to justify the ban on the grounds that ads of that nature were prone to falsehoods and deception and that separation of the true from the false was so costly as to make a broad prohibition necessary. The Court rejected that argument, observing that “the free flow of commercial information is  valuable enough to justify imposing on would‑be regulators the costs of distinguishing the truthful from the false, the helpful from the misleading, and the harmless from the harmful.”  Id. at 646.  We do not have before us, however, a statutory prohibition on harmless as well as harmful advertising.  The ban is on racial messages, and the “would‑be regulators,” namely the plaintiffs, are entirely willing to bear the burden of proving at trial that the advertisements published by the Times indicated a racial preference.  Zauderer, therefore, is of no aid to the Times.

 Third, returning to the model of the obtuse publisher, the Times asserts that the press is ill‑equipped to conduct the monitoring of advertisements that Section 3604(c) requires.  There is, however, no support for the factual premise of this argument.  Given the facial nature of the Times’s challenge to the statute—namely, that the Times need not monitor the use of models in real estate ads at all—we do not address every ambiguous situation that may arise.  Indeed, we need only take notice of the monitoring of messages in advertising that the Times presently undertakes.

The Times thus admits that it presently reviews advertising submissions to avoid publishing ads that do not meet its “Standards of Advertising Acceptability.”  These Standards provide inter alia: 

The Times will not accept: 1. Generally —Advertisements which contains [sic] fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading statements or illustrations. —Attacks of a personal character. —Advertisements that are overly competitive or that refer abusively to the goods or services of others. 2. Investments Advertisements which do not comply with applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations. 3. Occult Pursuits Advertisements for fortune telling, dream interpretations and individual horoscopes. 4. Foreign Languages .... 

5. Discrimination —Advertisements which fail to comply with the express requirements of federal and state laws against discrimination, including Title VII and the Fair Housing Act, or which otherwise discriminate on grounds of race, religion, national origin, sex, age, marital status or disability. 6. Offensive to Good Taste Indecent, vulgar, suggestive or other advertising that, in the opinion of The Times, may be offensive to good taste. This list is not intended to include all the types of advertisements unacceptable to The Times.  Generally speaking, any other advertising that may cause financial loss to the reader, or injury to his health, or loss of his confidence in reputable advertising and ethical business practices is unacceptable. 

Given that this extensive monitoring—for purposes that are both numerous and often quite vague—is routinely performed, it strains credulity beyond the breaking point to assert that monitoring ads for racial messages imposes an unconstitutional burden.

Moreover, the Times’s argument is a policy argument that, if accepted, would undermine other civil rights laws.  For example, the Times is prohibited by Title VII from discriminating on the basis of race in employment. It thus must monitor those of its employees with the power to hire and fire.  Given the intangible and unquantifiable factors that legitimately may be taken into account in employment decisions, Section 3604(c) seems to us to impose a lesser burden of compliance than Title VII.

 We do view one of the Times’s arguments with a degree of sympathy, although it does not affect the outcome.  The individual plaintiffs seek compensatory and punitive damages for emotional injury resulting from the ads in question, and the Times is fearful that such claims from a multitude of plaintiffs might lead to a large number of staggering, perhaps crushing, damage awards that might over time impair the press’s role in society.  The problem is that a claimant may establish a prima facie case for such damages simply by oral testimony that he or she is a newspaper reader of a race different from the models used and was substantially insulted and distressed by a certain ad.  The potential for large numbers of truly baseless claims for emotional injury thus exists, and there appears to be no ready device, other than wholly speculative judgments as to credibility, to separate the genuine from the baseless.  However, we do not regard this possibility as a reason to immunize publishers from any liability under Section 3604(c), including injunctive relief.  Rather, it is reason to assert judicial control over the size of damage awards for emotional injury in individual cases.  Where the claim of an illegal racial preference is based solely upon the use of models and not upon more directly offensive racial messages, we are confident that courts will be able to keep such awards within reason.  Accordingly, the judgment of the district court is affirmed.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
SAUNDERS v. GENERAL SERVICES CORP.

659 F.Supp. 1042 (E.D. Vir. 1987)

MERHIGE, District Judge.  Renee Saunders, a black female who resides in Richmond, Virginia, is an individual plaintiff in the instant action.  Plaintiff Housing Opportunities Made Equal (“HOME”) is a non-profit corporation....  Its purposes are to further the goals of the Fair Housing Act and to promote equal housing opportunities in the Richmond area.   Defendant General Services Corporation (“GSC”) ... operates and manages fourteen apartment complexes in the Richmond area. Defendant Jonathan Perel, a white male, is President of GSC.... [P]laintiffs claim that certain of defendants’ advertising practices violate the Fair Housing Act ... and the Civil Rights Act of 1866....

Facts. ... In 1981, HOME, along with several individual complainants, including two former GSC employees, filed administrative complaints with the Virginia Real Estate Commission (“VREC”) and the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”).  They alleged that GSC, through its supervisory employees, had committed various acts of housing discrimination aimed at discouraging or preventing blacks from renting housing in GSC apartment complexes.  Many of such allegations focused on the conduct of a GSC Property Manager, John Hunt.

  
[The two GSC employees in question,] Lynn Graybill and Jean Mann, testified [in this proceeding] that Hunt instructed them on various occasions to treat black tenants and prospective tenants less favorably than whites, including discouraging GSC-sponsored social activities that might attract black tenants and “turning off the charm” to prospective black tenants.  Mann also testified that defendant Perel was present at meetings at which Hunt recommended such action and did not express any disagreement. Further, she informed Perel of her concerns about Hunt’s discriminatory actions after she was terminated by GSC, but he took no action once Hunt disclaimed her allegations.

After VREC conducted its investigation and issued reasonable cause determinations as to Graybill’s and Mann’s complaints, Dr. Barbara Wurtzel, HOME’s Executive Director ... and the Assistant Director, Linda Harms, made the decision to attempt conciliation of its complaints with GSC.  The evidence establishes that HOME considered negotiation of affirmative advertising provisions, in conformity with HUD regulations, to constitute a crucial element of its conciliation agreement with GSC, as with all such cases.  As such, a standard provision in all of its proposed agreements required that all advertising and other printed materials contain an equal housing opportunity slogan or logo within thirty days of the effective date of the conciliation agreement.  Such provision was proposed by HOME to GSC as part of its proposed agreement submitted to GSC’s attorneys on August 30, 1982.

In reaction to HOME’s proposal, GSC’s attorney submitted a letter to HOME’s attorney dated October 12, 1982, which outlined its concerns with the proposed agreement in order to facilitate the parties’ next negotiating meeting. Concerning the affirmative advertising provisions, the letter represented that:

GSC will undertake some affirmative action in advertising so long as the agreement recognizes economic reality.  Although classified newspaper advertising is relatively easy to change, advertising that involves layout by professional advertisers can only be changed at considerable expense.  In addition, advertising other than through newspapers is printed in bulk and used over a period of time.  Any changes in such advertising could not be adopted until the current store of materials has been distributed.

  
Both Linda Harms and Dr. Wurtzel testified that they were concerned by GSC’s reaction to the 30-day provision because the affirmative advertising provisions were a major component of the agreement and a 30-day limit was customary in such agreements.  Based on this concern, both Harms and Wurtzel recalled asking defendants’ counsel in a negotiating session the extent of GSC’s “current store of materials” because they believed allowing depletion of the current supply would be acceptable only so long as such supply was not extensive and compliance would be achieved in a reasonably short time.  Both witnesses remember counsel representing to them that the supply was not large and would be depleted in a matter of months, and less than a year.  Wurtzel’s testimony, to which the Court gives credence, is somewhat more exact, with her recollection that such representation occurred in approximately March 1983 and was that GSC had approximately a two-month supply.  While counsel’s representation may have been premised on an honest belief at the time, subsequent conduct of the defendants supports the Court’s conclusion that they acted in an unlawful manner.  Ms. Harms further testified that Marianne Phillips, GSC Operations Manager …, confirmed that GSC’s supply was not extensive.

Both Harms and Wurtzel testified that such representation was crucial to their acceptance of GSC’s modification to the agreement, providing that a slogan or logo would be included in GSC’s advertising materials, other than newspapers, “when those materials are reprinted.”

The only rebuttal evidence offered by defendants concerning such representation was Marianne Phillips’ statement that she didn’t recall whether she had represented that GSC’s current supply was small.

While the agreement was finally executed between July 13 and 18, 1983, the testimony indicates that, as one would expect in contract negotiations, individual provisions within the agreement were agreed upon at various points in late 1982 to mid-1983.  Both Harms and Wurtzel testified that agreement on the affirmative advertising provisions was reached early in the negotiating process.  Dr. Wurtzel testified that such agreement was reached in approximately March 1983, and that after that date, the remaining negotiations focused on confidentiality and content of the news release.  Her recollection is reinforced by her negotiating notes of March 2 and 9, 1983.  While defendants argue generally that there was no legal agreement at all until the final agreement was signed in July 1983, they offer no evidence contradicting plaintiff’s evidence that the advertising provisions had been agreed upon by the parties by March 1983.

  
HOME’s attorney sent copies of the final conciliation agreement agreed to by HOME and GSC to VREC and HUD on June 20, 1983.  This agreement was executed by VREC, HOME, the individual complainants, GSC, Perel, Hunt, and Betsy King, GSC’s marketing director, between July 13 and 18, 1983, and became effective on July 18, 1983.  It included affirmative advertising provisions by which GSC agreed to include an EHO slogan or logo in all future newspaper advertising and “in other future printed advertising materials when those materials are reprinted.”  Such affirmative advertising provisions were to remain in effect for two years.  As part of the agreement, HOME released GSC and Perel from all claims which it had ever had against them up until the date of the agreement, including claims for violations of the Fair Housing Act and … §§1981-82.

HOME subsequently discovered … that GSC had ordered 134,000 copies of its Lifestyle brochure without any EHO logo or slogan on approximately June 15, 1983–just days before signing the conciliation agreement.  Such order went to press beginning on June 19, 1983, and was completed by July 23, 1983.  ...  Marianne Phillips testified that on June 1983 she ordered 134,000 copies of Lifestyle, which she believed would last for approximately one year.  In fact, such supply lasted far past the term of the conciliation agreement because … GSC decided not to proceed with a planned mass mailing in April 1984.  According to Phillips’ testimony, the large order was placed due to the cheaper unit cost, although she had testified at her deposition that she had no recollection of why such a large order was placed.  At no time during this process did anyone from GSC notify HOME of its planned order nor did it revise the brochure at that time to include an EHO logo, although other revisions were made. ... [R]evising the brochure to include an EHO logo would have cost approximately $200 to $500.

After execution of the 1983 Conciliation Agreement, GSC began to take steps to comply with its provisions.  It developed a fair housing policy statement and distributed it to all employees.  It implemented an employee training program in 1983, although unfortunately Betsy King, GSC’s Marketing Director with significant advertising responsibilities, had not yet participated in the program as of the date of trial.  

Most significant to the instant suit, GSC began implementation of the agreement’s advertising provisions.  According to Marianne Phillips’ testimony, which the Court credits on this issue, GSC attempted to comply with the basic advertising requirements, although errors were made.  Concerning newspaper advertisements, the agreement required such ads to include an EHO slogan or logo by September 1, 1983, unless modifications required the services of a design or advertising agency.  Yet it wasn’t until late September 1983 that Marianne Phillips discovered that such changes had not been made and advised her staff to make such changes “as soon as is possible.”

While, from the evidence presented, the Court finds that GSC generally complied with the agreement’s requirements concerning newspaper advertisements, it also finds that GSC exhibited a reluctance to comply, a desire to do only the bare minimum required, and an attempt to advertise its EHO policy as inconspicuously as possible.  See, e.g., [various trial exhibits] (admonishing staff to “make sure” that EHO logo is “not the only thing on the line;” questioning whether to use EHO logo in new ad in March 1986 after expiration of ad provisions; ads sent to [28] college newspapers without logo during agreement’s term; memo requesting that logo be added to group of display ads requested on last date possible under agreement; note from GSC staff member to Doug Ziegler [at GSC’s advertising agency], asking him to “add in the [EHO] logo discreetly”).

On July 5, 1985, HOME’s Fair Housing Director wrote to GSC’s attorney concerning two areas of apparent non-compliance with the advertising provisions: (1) failure to include an EHO logo in GSC’s April 1985 flyer known as “GSC Happenings”;  (2) failure of GSC’s 38-page Lifestyle brochure to include an adequate number of black models, thereby impermissibly indicating a preference based on race.  In response, GSC’s attorney agreed to include an EHO logo or slogan on future “Happenings” fliers, but stated that GSC “should not have to undertake the considerable cost of redoing [Lifestyle].”  In a later telephone conversation, Marianne Phillips did agree to include an EHO slogan or logo in an insert being planned for inclusion in Lifestyle, but stated that GSC would not agree to reprint the brochure itself until the current supply was depleted, which she estimated would take one year.  Because HOME considered GSC’s response unsatisfactory, it filed a complaint with HUD and VREC on September 9, 1985, and filed the instant action on April 15, 1986.

Beginning sometime in October 1985, GSC did begin to discuss revisions to Lifestyle, including the use of more black models.  (Betsy King’s notes concerning meetings on revisions).  Notes from these meetings reflect considerable discussion concerning the addition of black models to the brochure;  however, again GSC’s attitude appeared to be one of reluctance and interest in including blacks as little as possible.  For example, Betsy King’s notes of the initial meeting held on October 3, 1985, discuss staging “a mock cocktail party that would include ‘Marianne’s cousins.’”  In her deposition, King explained that such term was used as an acronym to refer to blacks.  Notes of another conversation with Jon Perel advise that “every prop[erty] has to have 5 people plus 1 minority.”  A questionnaire circulated by GSC asked the question “Best places for blacks?” and responses included “one or two blk. children” and “groups.”

Finally, in a memorandum from Doug Ziegler to Marianne Phillips, John Hunt, and Betsy King discussing specific areas in which revisions would be made, Ziegler wrote the following:  “Swimming: Strong need for this throughout.  Should we use blacks in this arena?”

In a meeting held on November 12, 1985, Marianne Phillips’ handwritten notes on this memorandum drew a line leading from the question “Should we use blacks in this arena?” to the answer “yes. (not in water per JH.).”  While John Hunt, Marianne Phillips and Doug Ziegler all denied that this note referred to an instruction by John Hunt not to photograph blacks in the swimming pool, this Court gives no credence to the explanations tendered.  Phillips suggests that her note is not a response to the question “Should we use blacks in this arena,” even though she drew a line from that question to the answer.  Instead, she states that Hunt merely instructed Ziegler that no one should be photographed in the water because GSC complex logos recently had been printed on the pool bottoms, and he didn’t want models to block those logos in the photographs.

  
Such an explanation lacks reason and is dispelled by the evidence.  In fact, there are more pictures containing models in the water in the revised brochure than in the original brochure.  While early in the trial, the defendants were eager to point out that there is a picture of a black couple on page 8 of the revised brochure, on cross-examination of a defendant’s witness, it was revealed that such picture was only added to the brochure at the last minute–within three weeks prior to trial.  While an advertising executive indicated that the picture of black models was added because of a last-minute need, and not to counter the effect of an October memo in the instant lawsuit, such explanation is contradicted by the whole evidence.  A comparison of the “Blue Line” and final versions of revised Lifestyle demonstrates that the picture of blacks in the pool of page 8 was merely substituted for a picture of whites in the pool, which was then moved to page 30.  The only pictures removed from the final version were a picture of a black couple sitting by the pool and a picture of two joggers, for which a stock photo of a white couple in the pool was substituted on page 13.  

Plaintiffs allege ... that defendants violated the Fair Housing Act by indicating a racial preference in their advertising and that defendants violated 42 U.S.C. §§1981-82 by intentionally using discriminatory advertising, infringing upon plaintiffs’ right to contract for rental property. ...

[In Part I, the court held that both HOME and Saunders had standing to raise FHA discriminatory advertising claims.  In Part II, the court found that the defendants had committed fraud by concealing the June 15, 1983 order of 134,000 copies of Lifestyle in order to induce HOME to enter into the conciliation agreement and granted rescission of the agreement and other remedies.  In Part III, in light of that rescission, it declined to reach HOME’s claim that defendants breached the conciliation agreement.]

IV. 
Fair Housing Act Claim

  
A.  Substance of Claim.  ... Plaintiffs argue, in what appears to be a case of first impression, that defendants violated [§3604(c)] in the publication of the Lifestyle brochure.  They contend that the virtual absence of black models from the sixty-eight photographs in that brochure containing human models indicates a preference or an intention to make a preference based on race.

In order to prove a violation of this subsection, plaintiffs need not establish that defendants intended to express a racial preference.  Rather, one court has held that a violation is proven if “[t]o an ordinary reader the natural interpretation of the advertisements published in the [newspaper] is that they indicate a racial preference in the acceptance of tenants.”  Hunter.   ...  In the instant case, then, the Court must determine from the conflicting evidence whether the Lifestyle brochure’s paucity of black models indicates a racial preference to the ordinary reader.

While the Court believes that the evidence is mixed on the instant issue, it finds that plaintiffs have proven their claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Both of plaintiffs’ experts, Dr. Barban and Mr. Franklin, have done considerable academic and market research on the effect of the racial composition of advertising models on the consumer.  Both testified that, in their opinion, the Lifestyle brochure indicated a preference for white tenants and a subtle message that black tenants would be less welcome.  While the Court is not unduly impressed by their research methodology and basis for their opinions, their findings do comport with the average layman’s knowledge of advertising.  It requires no expert to recognize that human models in advertising attempt to create an identification between the model, the consumer, and the product.  In other words, advertisers choose models with whom the targeted consumers will positively identify, hoping to convey the message that people like the depicted models consume and enjoy the advertised product. Therefore, if the consumer wants to emulate the model, he or she will use the product, too.

Thus, it is natural that readers of the Lifestyle brochure would look at the human models depicted as representing the kinds of individuals that live in and enjoy GSC apartment complexes.  If a prospective tenant positively identified with these models, the message conveyed would be that “I belong in these apartments.  ‘My kind of people’ live there.”  Conversely, if the prospective tenant reading the brochure saw no models with whom he or she could identify, the reader would obtain a message that “these apartments are not for me or ‘my kind.’“  Thus, the Court finds that the natural interpretation of the Lifestyle brochure is to indicate that GSC apartment complexes are for white, and not black, tenants, thus discouraging blacks from seeking housing there.

GSC’s own documents demonstrate that it was aware that the models used would affect the types of tenants attracted and that it intended to indicate preferences for certain types of tenants.  For example, in a memo from Jon Perel to Doug Ziegler, Perel suggested various ideas to be used in the advertising brochure for one of GSC’s properties to convey its “institutional/upper income/exclusivity approach.”  Further, when GSC recently decided to revise its Lifestyle brochure, it circulated a questionnaire to management members, asking how the brochure should “treat children, seniors” and where were the “best places for blacks,” indicating again the importance GSC placed on the placement of human models.

Finally, the Court considers a memorandum asking “Should we use blacks in this arena [swimming]?” which contains Phillips’ handwritten note responding “Yes (not in water per J.H.).”  The Court finds absolutely incredible Phillips’ and Hunt’s explanation that this note did not refer to the use of blacks in pool pictures, but merely to a general desire not to photograph human models in the pool.  The totality of the evidence clearly indicates that Hunt was concerned about showing blacks in GSC pools, again demonstrating GSC’s own belief that the race of models used would indicate GSC’s racial preferences.

Plaintiffs also presented the testimony of Renee Saunders and Earl Danzler, both of whom testified that they immediately noticed the absence of blacks in GSC’s advertising and received the message that GSC did not wish to appeal to blacks.  Finally, Mr. Franklin conducted a study which, despite many methodological weaknesses, provides some additional evidence that blacks interpreted Lifestyle to indicate a preference for white tenants.

While defendants’ expert, Dr. Loftus, did raise several valid concerns about the studies and conclusions offered by plaintiffs’ experts, she did not, in the Court’s view, adequately refute plaintiffs’ evidence that Lifestyle indicates a racial preference. ...

C.  Remedies.  Having determined that defendants have violated the Act, the Court now must determine the appropriate relief for such violation.  Plaintiffs ... ask the Court to declare that defendants’ publication of Lifestyle violated the Act, enjoin defendants from any further racial discrimination under the Act, and order defendants to modify their advertising to comply with the law, including blacks in their advertising in numbers proportionate to their percentage in the population of the Richmond metropolitan area.  In the Court’s view, the relief sought is unnecessary and overbroad.

While it is true that a Court may award affirmative injunctive relief in order to remedy past discriminatory advertising practices, such decision rests within the sound discretion of the trial court, based on whether it believes “the vestiges of prior discrimination linger and remain to be eliminated.”  Hunter. As the Court held in Hunter in affirming the district court’s decision to grant declaratory, but not injunctive relief, “in considering whether to grant injunctive relief a court should impose upon a defendant no restriction greater than necessary to protect the plaintiff from the injury of which he complains.”  Thus, the Court should not grant injunctive relief unless “there exists some cognizable danger of recurrent violation.”  

In the instant case, while declaratory relief is appropriate, the Court is not convinced that a cognizable danger exists that defendants will continue to violate their advertising obligations under the Act.  In fact, although perhaps induced by the instant litigation, defendants have subsequently revised Lifestyle to increase the use of black models.  Plaintiffs’ own experts testified that the revised brochure did not indicate a racial preference.  The Court finds that a declaratory judgment, combined with monetary damages, will adequately redress plaintiffs’ injuries and provide assurances that defendants will not engage in future violations.

In addition, the Court finds that plaintiffs are not entitled by law to force defendants to give proportional representation to blacks in their advertising, nor is there any evidence in the record that such representation would be necessarily required to avoid indicating a racial preference. ...

V. 
Section 1981 and 1982 Claims.  Plaintiffs allege that defendants’ discriminatory advertising practices also violate 42 U.S.C. §§1981-82.  The Court deals with these claims jointly because the Supreme Court has held that the reach of these statutes is coextensive.  

Plaintiffs contend that because Lifestyle indicated a preference based on race, black persons were denied an equal right to make a contract for the rental of GSC property under Sections 1981 and 1982. Defendants argue that plaintiffs are not entitled to recover under either section both factually and as a matter of law.  Initially, they assert that, even if defendants’ publication of Lifestyle constituted a form of intentional discrimination, such discrimination is not cognizable under Sections 1981 and 1982.  They further contend that, even if plaintiffs’ allegations do state a cause of action under these statutes, plaintiffs have failed to prove that defendants had the requisite discriminatory intent.

A. 
Scope of Sections 1981 and 1982.  In the first instance, the Court must determine whether the conduct alleged–defendants’ intentional discrimination in publishing advertising that indicates a preference based on race–constitutes a violation of Section 1981 and/or 1982.  Such determination appears to present an issue of first impression, at least among published authority.

  
1. 
Section 1982.  Plaintiffs allege that defendants’ discriminatory advertising practices violate 42 U.S.C. §1982....  They contend that because Lifestyle indicated a preference based on race, black persons were denied an equal right to make a contract for the rental of GSC property.  Defendants assert that §1982 does not encompass such advertising claim, citing dictum in a 1968 Supreme Court decision as authority for their assertion.  See Jones v. Alfred H. Mayer Co., 392 U.S. 409 (1968).   

In Jones, the specific issue before the Court involved whether §1982 applied to private, and not only state, action in the sale or rental of property and, if so, whether such scope was constitutional.  In beginning its examination of the scope of §1982, the Court compared §1982 to the Fair Housing Act.  Unlike the Fair Housing Act, the Court explained, §1982 “is not a comprehensive open housing law.” The Court then noted several differences between the scope of the two statutes, noting as follows:

[Section 1982] does not deal specifically with discrimination in the provision of services or facilities in connection with the sale or rental of a dwelling.  It does not prohibit advertising or other representations that indicate discriminatory preferences.  It does not refer explicitly to discrimination in financing arrangements or in the provision of brokerage services.

In a footnote to the above-quoted language, the Court explained that, although §1982 does not specifically address discrimination in the provision of services or facilities, financing arrangements or brokerage services, the Court “intimates no view” upon whether such discrimination still might be covered under §§1982 and/or 1981. Notably, the Court did not apply such disclaimer to its statement that discriminatory advertising is not prohibited by §1982.  ...

Plaintiffs argue, correctly in the Court’s view, that the Supreme Court’s statements in Jones concerning preferential advertising, an issue not before the Court, do not constitute binding authority on the instant issue.  While we agree that such statements in dictum do not create binding precedent, however, they do provide insight into the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the intended scope of §1982.

As interpreted in Jones, §1982 “must encompass every racially motivated refusal to sell or rent.”  A survey of housing discrimination cases supports the interpretation that §1982 prohibits refusals to sell or rent based on race, and not the mere expression of a preference to sell or rent based on race.  Under the plain language of the statute itself, advertising that indicates a racial preference, while it may discourage blacks from exercising their right to rent certain property, does not deny them the opportunity to rent such property.

Thus, the Court finds no basis for interpreting §1982 to apply to advertising indicating a racial preference.  Certainly, the effect of such advertising can be as discriminatory and devastating as a direct refusal to rent.  Congress presumably recognized this fact, however, in enacting the broader, more detailed prohibitions of the Fair Housing Act.  Having determined that §1982 affords no cause of action for the instant advertising claims, the Court finds no authority to grant a more expansive interpretation of §1981.1  ... .

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

Statutes & Regulations
3.01 (a):  What statutory arguments do you see about whether §3604(c) creates liability for   newspapers that run discriminatory ads.  What policy arguments support extending liability to newspapers?   
(b): What arguments do the newspapers make in Ragin that the application of the statute is too burdensome to them?   What is the court’s response?  Is it convincing?  
3.02 (a):  Look at 24 CFR §100.75(c)(3).  What does this regulation prohibit? Is the regulation a reasonable interpretation of §3604(c)?  
(b) What kinds of situations covered by the regulation seem to fit best with the policies of the statute?  What kinds fit least?
3.03 (a):  Saunders holds that discriminatory advertising does not violate §1982.  Assuming plaintiffs appealed that decision, what arguments would you make for each side based on the statutory language and Congressional intent?  
(b) In footnote 1, the court says that this statutory question is essentially irrelevant to the result in Saunders anyway.  Can you think of a situation where it might matter?
Human Models
3.04:  Ragin, Saunders, and the other courts that have addressed the issue have all held that use of human models can violate the statute.  Does the statutory language support this interpretation?  Does it make sense as a matter of policy?   
3.05:  What limitations does Ragin place on the scope of newspaper liability for publication of ads that employ human models in a way that violates the statute?  Are these limitations sufficient to protect the newspapers?  Too great?  
3.06:  All the reported cases that have dealt with human models have addressed alleged preferences based on race or family status.  Should the cases be extended to cover handicap?  What might that entail?

The Ordinary Reader Test
3.07:  Ragin, Saunders, and the Hunter case on which Ragin relies hold that an ad violates §3604(c) if it suggests to an “ordinary reader” a preference or dispreference for a particular protected category.  Who is an “ordinary reader”?  How might Ragin’s definition help a judge or jury to apply the test?  What type of evidence would you use to prove a violation of this test?  
3.08:  What intent must the defendant have to violate the ordinary reader test?  Is this consistent with the statutory language? Of what relevance is evidence of the advertiser’s understanding of the meaning of the ad?  
3.09:  Some commentators have suggested that the test should focus on the views of an ordinary reader of the particular category that the ad is alleged to disfavor (e.g., “ordinary African-American reader”).  What evidence might you present to jurors who are not members of the category to help them understand what this type of ordinary reader believes?  What statutory and policy arguments could you make to a court considering adoption of this test?  

Application of the Ordinary Reader Test
3.10:  What is the best evidence for the plaintiff that the statute was violated in Saunders?  Of what relevance is the evidence of the advertiser’s intent? What arguments would you have made for the defendants that the statute was not violated?  
3.11:  What arguments can you make about whether any of the following statements would violate §3604(c) if made as part of housing ads:
a)  “ FOR RENT‑Furnished basement apartment In private white home.”
b)  “ Divorced white professional female seeks roommate”

c)  “ Spanish speaker preferred”

d)  “ Perfect for Singles or Couple”

e)  “ Walking distance to shopping”

f)  “ Convenient to Knights of Columbus”
3.12:  Suppose a developer wishes to advertise a new set of houses (“Fungible Estates”) built on the outskirts of a major city.  She runs ads on billboards across the city which say:  “We At The New Fungible Estates Development (Located at 17000 175th Ave) Believe That The Fair Housing Act is a Violation of Your Constitutional Rights to Property and Association.”  Does this violate the FHA?  
3.13:  I posted on the course page PDF versions of two housing ads that were actually published.  In considering possible liability under §3604(c), keep in mind that, when applying the Ordinary Reader test, the fact-finder should look at the ad as a whole, considering  all text and images (including models, and the context in which they appear). 

(a) “Fajer ad 1” was an insert in the University of Miami college newspaper. What arguments can you make about whether the ad violates §3604(c) with regard to “sex” or “familial status”?

(b) “Fajer ad 2” ran in an upscale travel magazine available by subscription and in airports throughout the U.S.  What arguments can you make about whether the ad violates §3604(c) with regard to “race”, “handicap” or “familial status”? Assume that  when the ad originally ran in the magazine, it was clear that none of the models was primarily of African descent and that one of the chefs and the guard at the security gate were the darkest-skinned models in the ad.

(c) You are an attorney representing the developers and they bring you “Fajer ad 2” before having it published. You are concerned that an aggressive local enforcement agency might challenge the ad under §3604(c) with regard to “race”, “handicap” or “familial status.” Make suggestions about changing the ad to reduce the likelihood of violating the statute without undermining your client’s marketing strategy. For each of these characteristics considered separately, assume that you can suggest any number of alterations to the text, but that the client would only consider changing one picture.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
Review Problem 3A 
3A Based on the facts below, discuss whether the Healthy Highrises advertising violates§3604(c) on the basis of “handicap”? Healthy Highrises (HH) was a brand new condominium complex in Manhattan.  HH consisted of four towers containing housing units surrounding a large athletic complex, whose use was limited to residents and their guests.  HH’s advertising showed pictures of very fit men and women of several races using the athletic facilities.  The models ranged in age from about 12 to about 50.  The text of the ads read as follows:

PERFECT BODY, PERFECT LIVING

You know how hard it is to stay fit in the city.

What if you and your family had access to a world-class training facility right in the building where you lived?  

What if the facility included weights and aerobic machines, group exercise classes, an Olympic-sized pool, sauna and steam rooms, and five tennis courts?

What if the only people who could use the facility were you, your fellow residents, and your guests, all committed to perfect health and fitness?

What if access to the athletic facility came with fully-equipped two-bedroom and three-bedroom condos, all with great city views?
HEALTHY HIGHRISES.  JUST PERFECT.
B. “Race” Under the Civil Rights Act of 1866
NOTE:  BACKGROUND & MacDonald


By the time the U.S. Supreme Court had decided Jones in 1968, it had established that the unique language of sections 1981 and 1982 authorized only claims based on discrimination because of race (as opposed to, e.g., religion or sex). In McDonald v. Santa Fe Trail Transportation Co., 
427 U.S. 273 (1976), the Court, per Justice Marshall, rejected a claim that the statuites did not cover discrimination against white people:

[T]he Act was meant, by its broad terms, to proscribe discrimination in the making or enforcement of contracts against, or in favor of, any race. Unlikely as it might have appeared in 1866 that white citizens would encounter substantial racial discrimination of the sort proscribed under the Act, the statutory structure and legislative history persuade us that the 39th Congress was intent upon establishing in the federal law a broader principle than would have been necessary simply to meet the particular and immediate plight of the newly freed Negro slaves. And while the statutory language has been somewhat streamlined in re‑enactment and codification, there is no indication that §1981 is intended to provide any less than the Congress enacted in 1866 regarding racial discrimination against white persons.


After MacDonald, the lower courts still had to wrestle with the question of what exactly constituted a claim based on “race” for the purposes of sections 1981 and 1982.  The issue returned to the Supreme Court in 1987 in two cases involving the controversial question of whether discrimination against Arabs and/or Jews was on the basis of “race.”

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
SAINT FRANCIS COLLEGE v. AL‑KHAZRAJI
481 U.S. 604 (1987)

Justice WHITE delivered the opinion of the Court.  Respondent, a citizen of the United States born in Iraq, was an associate professor at St. Francis College….  [H]e applied for tenure;  the Board of Trustees denied his request….   He … sought administrative reconsideration of the tenure decision, which was denied….  [He filed an action against the college alleging, inter alia, a violation of 42 U.S.C. §1981.  On d]efendants’ motion for summary judgment, [the judge] construed the pleadings as asserting only discrimination on the basis of national origin and religion, which §1981 did not cover.  Even if racial discrimination was deemed to have been alleged, the District Court ruled that §1981 does not reach claims of discrimination based on Arabian ancestry.  …

[T]he Court of Appeals held that respondent had alleged discrimination based on race and that although under current racial classifications Arabs are Caucasians, respondent could maintain his §1981 claim.2  Congress, when it passed what is now §1981, had not limited its protections to those who today would be considered members of a race different from the race of the defendant.  Rather, the legislative history of the section indicated that Congress intended to enhance “at the least, membership in a group that is ethnically and physiognomically distinctive.” Section 1981, “at a minimum,” reaches “discrimination directed against an individual because he or she is genetically part of an ethnically and physiognomically distinctive sub‑grouping of homo sapiens.”  …  We granted certiorari [in part to determine] whether a person of Arabian ancestry was protected from racial discrimination under §1981, and now affirm the judgment of the Court of Appeals.


… Although § 1981 does not itself use the word “race,” the Court has construed the section to forbid all “racial” discrimination in the making of private as well as public contracts. Petitioner college, although a private institution, was therefore subject to this statutory command.  There is no disagreement among the parties on these propositions.  The issue is whether respondent has alleged racial discrimination within the meaning of §1981.


Petitioners contend that respondent is a Caucasian and cannot allege the kind of discrimination § 1981 forbids.  Concededly, McDonald held that white persons could maintain a §1981 suit;  but that suit involved alleged discrimination against a white person in favor of a black, and petitioner submits that the section does not encompass claims of discrimination by one Caucasian against another.  We are quite sure that the Court of Appeals properly rejected this position.

Petitioner’s submission rests on the assumption that all those who might be deemed Caucasians today were thought to be of the same race when §1981 became law in the 19th century; and it may be that a variety of ethnic groups, including Arabs, are now considered to be within the Caucasian race.4  The understanding of “race” in the 19th century, however, was different.  Plainly, all those who might be deemed Caucasian today were not thought to be of  the same race at the time §1981 became law.

In the middle years of the 19th century, dictionaries commonly referred to race as a “continued series of descendants from a parent who is called the stock,” N. Webster, An American Dictionary of the English Language 666 (1830), “[t]he lineage of a family,” 2 N. Webster, A Dictionary of the English Language 411 (1841), or “descendants of a common ancestor,” J. Donald, Chambers’ Etymological Dictionary of the English Language 415 (1871).  The 1887 edition of Webster’s expanded the definition somewhat:  “The descendants of a common ancestor;  a family, tribe, people or nation, believed or presumed to belong to the same stock.”  N. Webster, Dictionary of the English Language 589 (1887).  It was not until the 20th century that dictionaries began referring to the Caucasian, Mongolian, and Negro races, 8 The Century Dictionary and Cyclopedia 4926 (1911), or to race as involving divisions of mankind based upon different physical characteristics.  Webster’s Collegiate Dictionary 794 (3d ed. 1916).  Even so, modern dictionaries still include among the definitions of race “a family, tribe, people, or nation belonging to the same stock.”  Webster’s Third New International Dictionary 1870 (1971); Webster’s Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary 969 (1986).

Encyclopedias of the 19th century also described race in terms of ethnic groups, which is a narrower concept of race than petitioners urge. Encyclopedia Americana in 1858, for example, referred to various races such as Finns, gypsies, Basques, and Hebrews.  The 1863 version of the New American Cyclopaedia divided the Arabs into a number of subsidiary races;  represented the Hebrews as of the Semitic race, and identified numerous other groups as constituting races, including Swedes, Norwegians, Germans, Greeks, Finns, Italians, Spanish, Mongolians,  Russians, and the like. The Ninth edition of the Encyclopedia Britannica also referred to Arabs,  Jews, and other ethnic groups such as Germans, Hungarians, and Greeks, as separate races.

These dictionary and encyclopedic sources are somewhat diverse, but it is clear that they do not support the claim that for the purposes of §1981, Arabs, Englishmen, Germans, and certain other ethnic groups are to be considered a single race.  We would expect the legislative history of §1981 ... to reflect this common understanding, which it surely does. The debates are replete with references to the Scandinavian races, as well as the Chinese, Latin, Spanish, and Anglo‑Saxon races.  Jews, Mexicans, blacks, and Mongolians were similarly categorized. Gypsies were referred to as a race. Likewise, the Germans: 

Who will say that Ohio can pass a law enacting that no man of the German race ... shall ever own any property in Ohio, or shall ever make a contract in Ohio, or ever inherit property in Ohio, or ever come into Ohio to live, or even to work?  If Ohio may pass such a law, and exclude a German citizen ... because he is of the German nationality or race, then may every other State do so. 

There was a reference to the Caucasian race, but it appears to have been referring to people of European ancestry.  

The history of the 1870 [Voting Rights] Act reflects similar understanding of what groups Congress intended to protect from intentional discrimination.  It is clear, for example, that the civil rights sections of the 1870 Act provided protection for immigrant groups such as the Chinese.  This view was expressed in the Senate. In the House, Representative Bingham described §16 of the Act, part of the authority for §1981, as declaring “that the States shall not hereafter discriminate against the immigrant from China and in favor of the immigrant from Prussia, nor against the immigrant from France and in favor of the immigrant from Ireland.”  

Based on the history of §1981, we have little trouble in concluding that Congress intended to protect from discrimination identifiable classes of persons who are subjected to intentional discrimination solely because of their ancestry or ethnic characteristics.  Such discrimination is racial discrimination that Congress intended §1981 to forbid, whether or not it would be classified as racial in terms of modern scientific theory.5 The Court of Appeals was thus quite right in holding that §1981, “at a minimum,” reaches discrimination against an individual “because he or she is genetically part of an ethnically and physiognomically distinctive sub‑grouping of homo sapiens.”  It is clear from our holding, however, that a distinctive physiognomy is not essential to qualify for §1981 protection.  If respondent on remand can prove that he was subjected to intentional discrimination based on the fact that he was born an Arab, rather than solely on the place or nation of his origin, or his religion, he will have made out a case under §1981.  The judgment of the Court of Appeals is accordingly affirmed.

Justice BRENNAN, concurring.  Pernicious distinctions among individuals based solely on their ancestry are antithetical to the doctrine of equality upon which this Nation is founded. Today the Court upholds Congress’ desire to rid the Nation of such arbitrary and invidious discrimination, and I concur in its opinion and judgment.  I write separately only to point out that the line between discrimination based on “ancestry or ethnic characteristics,” and discrimination based on “place or nation of ... origin,” ibid., is not a bright one.  It is true that one’s ancestry–the ethnic group from which an individual and his or her ancestors are descended–is not necessarily the same as one’s national origin–the country “where a person was born, or, more broadly, the country from which his or her ancestors came.”  Espinoza v. Farah Manufacturing Co., 414 U.S. 86, 88 (1973). Often, however, the two are identical as a factual matter: one was born in the nation whose primary stock is one’s own ethnic group.  Moreover, national origin claims have been treated as ancestry or ethnicity claims in some circumstances.  For example, in the Title VII context, the terms overlap as a legal matter.  See 29 CFR §1606.1 (1986) (national origin discrimination “includ[es], but [is] not limited to, the denial of equal employment opportunity because of an individual’s, or his or her ancestor’s, place of origin;  or because an individual has the physical, cultural, or linguistic characteristics of a national origin group”); Espinoza, supra, at 89 (the deletion of the word ancestry from the final version of ... Title VII “was not intended as a material change, ... suggesting that the terms ‘national origin’ and ‘ancestry’ were considered synonymous”).  I therefore read the Court’s opinion to state only that discrimination based on birthplace alone is insufficient to state a claim under §1981.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
SHAARE TEFILA CONGREGATION v. COBBPRIVATE 
481 U.S. 615 (1987)

Justice WHITE delivered the opinion of the Court.  On November 2, 1982, the outside walls of the synagogue of the Shaare Tefila Congregation in Silver Spring, Maryland, were sprayed with red and black paint and with large anti‑Semitic slogans, phrases, and symbols.  A few months later, the Congregation and some individual members brought this suit ... , alleging that defendants’ desecration of the synagogue had violated 42 U.S.C. §§1981 [and] 1982. … [T]he District Court dismissed all the claims.  The Court of Appeals affirmed in all respects. … [W]e now reverse the judgment of the Court of Appeals.



Section 1982 guarantees all citizens of the United States, “the same right ... as is enjoyed by white citizens ... to inherit, purchase, lease, sell, hold, and convey real and personal property.”  The section forbids both official and private racially discriminatory interference with property rights. Petitioners’ allegation was that they were deprived of the right to hold property in violation of §1982 because the defendants were motivated by racial prejudice.  They unsuccessfully argued … that Jews are not a racially distinct group, but that defendants’ conduct is actionable because they viewed Jews as racially distinct and were motivated by racial prejudice.  The Court of Appeals held that §1982 was not “intended to apply to situations in which a plaintiff is not a member of a racially distinct group but is merely perceived to be so by defendants.”   The Court of Appeals believed that “[b]ecause discrimination against Jews is not racial discrimination,” the District Court was correct in dismissing the §1982 claim.


We agree with the Court of Appeals that a charge of racial discrimination within the meaning of §1982 cannot be made out by alleging only that the defendants were motivated by racial animus;  it is necessary as well to allege that defendants’ animus was directed towards the kind of group that Congress intended to protect when it passed the statute.  To hold otherwise would unacceptably extend the reach of the statute.


We agree with petitioners, however, that the Court of Appeals erred in holding that Jews cannot state a §1982 claim against other white defendants.  That view rested on the notion that because Jews today are not thought to be members of a separate race, they cannot make out a claim of racial discrimination within the meaning of §1982.  That construction of the section we have today rejected in Saint Francis. … [T]hat case observed that definitions of race when §1982 was passed were not the same as they are today, and concluded that the section was “intended to protect from discrimination identifiable classes of persons who are subjected to intentional discrimination solely because of their ancestry or ethnic characteristics.”   As Saint Francis makes clear, the question before us is not whether Jews are considered to be a separate race by today’s standards, but whether, at the time §1982 was adopted, Jews constituted a group of people that Congress intended to protect.  It is evident from the legislative history of the section reviewed in Saint Francis College, a review that we need not repeat here, that Jews and Arabs were among the peoples then considered to be distinct races and hence within the protection of the statute.  Jews are not foreclosed from stating a cause of action against other members of what today is considered to be part of the Caucasian race.

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.14:  The Court apparently felt itself bound in St. Francis by its earlier statements that §§1981 and 1982 only prohibited discrimination on the basis of race.  It thus viewed its task as to define “race” for the purposes of the statutes.   Is the decision to rely on the understanding of the 1866 Congress a good way to undertake that task?   What other ways might there be to define race?  What significance does footnote 4 have for the process of defining race?  

3.15:  Under the reasoning of St. Francis, is discrimination against “Hispanics” covered by the statute?  Discrimination by lighter-skinned African-Americans against darker skinned African-Americans?  Would sex discrimination be covered if members of Congress in a contemporaneous debate had referred to the “female” race?   What light does Justice Brennan’s concurrence shed on these questions?

3.16:  In Shaare Tefile, the majority says that “a charge of racial discrimination within the meaning of §1982 cannot be made out by alleging only that the defendants were motivated by racial animus;  it is necessary as well to allege that defendants’ animus was directed towards the kind of group that Congress intended to protect when it passed the statute.”  Why is this so?

3.17:  Is Shaare Tefila distinguishable from St. Francis on the question of whether race discrimination is involved?

3.18:  Why is the issue of what constitutes discrimination on the basis of “race” unlikely to arise under the FHA?

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
CARDONA v. AMERICAN EXPRESS TRAVEL RELATED SERVS. CO.
720 F.Supp. 960 (S.D. Fla. 1989)

James Lawrence King, Chief Judge.  Before the court is the defendants’ motion to dismiss the plaintiff’s claim under 42 U.S.C. §1981 ... for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.  After careful review ...,  the court denies the motion to dismiss.

In his complaint, the plaintiff alleges that he was discriminated against because of his race by the management employees of American Express Travel Related Services Co. (American Express) … The plaintiff, a Colombian by national origin, seeks declaratory and injunctive relief and damages... .  The plaintiff alleges that management employees discriminated against him by passing him over for promotion in favor of less qualified employees of Cuban national origin, and subsequently fired him for voicing his opposition to this allegedly discriminatory policy.  ...  [T]he defendants claim that as a Colombian, the plaintiff is not a member of a protected race under §1981, but rather is a member of the larger, protected group of Latins or Hispanics.1 Defendants argue that the plaintiff alleges that he was discriminated against in favor of other members of the same race, that is, Latins who happen to be of Cuban national origin rather than Colombian, and that therefore he has failed to state a claim under §1981. …

The plaintiff alleges ... that he was discriminated against because he is a Colombian by national origin and by ancestry and/or ethnic characteristics.  The United States Supreme Court, in St. Francis held that while a claim of discrimination based solely on the place or nation of the claimant’s origin is not sufficient to state a claim under §1981, “Congress intended to protect from discrimination identifiable classes of persons who are subjected to intentional discrimination solely because of their ancestry or ethnic characteristics.” Among the ethnic groups noted by the Court to be distinct races in its review of the legislative history of §1981 are Latins, Mexicans, and Spanish.  Also distinguished as separate races because of their ethnicity are Finns, Norwegians, and Swedes, who are traditionally considered to be members of the Scandinavian races.  Other ethnic groups are given separate status under §1981 merely because of their country of origin and the ethnicity associated with people from those countries.

The defendants claim that Colombians and Cubans are members of the Latin race, and that therefore §1981 protections do not apply to discrimination between the two groups.  The court is not persuaded by this argument, nor does the it find that to be the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the intent of §1981.

The plaintiff claims that he was discriminated against because of his Colombian ancestry or ethnic background, as well as his national origin. Merely because he is a member of a larger group of Spanish speaking peoples that have come to be known as Latins does not remove from the plaintiff his ethnicity as a Colombian.  Much as the Scandinavian peoples of Norway, Sweden and Finland retain their status as members of separate races because of their ethnicity, the people from the Spanish speaking countries of the Caribbean Basin, Central and South America all have unique ethnic characteristics that distinguish them from each other as separate races within the intent of §1981.  Just as Scandinavians from Finland may be discriminated against in favor of Scandinavians from Sweden, so too are Latins from one country, who have distinct ethnic and cultural characteristics, susceptible to being discriminated against in favor of Latins from another country.  Language itself is not dispositive in defining ethnic groups:  the Supreme Court distinguishes between Spanish speaking Mexicans, Spaniards and Latins;  indeed, within the Spanish speaking Latin superset are Brazilians, who speak Portuguese.   Accordingly, the court holds that a person of Colombian ancestry who claims that because of his ethnic background he was discriminated against in favor of employees of Cuban ancestry, who have little in common with Colombians other than the Spanish language as the tongue of their ancestral home, has stated a claim under §1981.
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.19:  If you were litigating Cardona, what arguments would you have made for each side under St. Francis and Shaare Tefila?  Is the decision consistent with those cases?

3.20:  The 1866 Congress mentioned neither Cubans nor Colombians.  What kind of evidence might you introduce to demonstrate that the two groups should be considered separate races?  You have essentially the entire opinion in Cardona.  Where do you think Judge King got the information that supported his determination?  Would it be permissible for him to rely on his personal experiences living in South Florida?  

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
Review Problem 3B 
(3B) In 2031, for the first time, intelligent beings from another solar system travelled to Earth.  The Lilistines, as they called themselves, originated on a planet circling the star Rigel, and had been engaging in inter-stellar travel for several centuries.  After making contact with humans, they entered trade agreements with a number of nations on Earth and began doing extensive business here, especially with the U.S. and with China.  By 2035, more than 400,000 Lilistines lived on Earth, engaging in commerce or sharing scientific and industrial techniques with humans.


Lilistines are shaped remarkably like humans, except that they ordinarily have two arms on each side of their body and seven fingers on each of their four hands.  Their natural skin tones are various shades of blue and green, which some humans find beautiful and others find repulsive.  Humans also were divided, particularly in the U.S., about whether it was desirable to have “aliens” living among us.  


In 2038, some Lilistines who particularly enjoyed living here applied to be citizens of nations on Earth.  In the U.S., the citizenship issue was very controversial.  On the one hand, American business interests worried about losing trade opportunities to China and to the European Union nations, which all allowed Lilistines to become citizens. On the other hand, many Americans did not want greater contact with the Lilistines and worried about losing jobs to the technically-sophisticated “aliens.”  Some more extreme “Human First” groups developed anti-alien slogans like, 
Red, brown, yellow, black or white, any of these can be all right.

Skin that’s blue or skin that’s green will not do; it is obscene.

 
Congressional leaders drafted and passed a compromise bill that allowed Lilistines to become U.S. citizens, but explicitly excluded them from  protection under Title VII and the Fair Housing Act.  Senator Catherine Garcia, one of the sponsors of the bill, said during the debate that “Our bill protects U.S. economic interests, while allowing individual Americans to decide for themselves whether they want to hire or live with non-humans.”  The bill made no mention of the Civil Rights Act of 1866.  The President signed the bill into law early in 2026.


Late in 2040, a Lilie salesperson named E’rin-T’ron became a U.S. citizen.  Subsequently, E’rin-T’ron applied to rent a penthouse apartment in a building owned by Amanda Allenbaum.  Amanda refused to accept the application, saying she never would rent to a Lilistine.


E’rin-T’ron sued Amanda in federal court claiming the refusal violated 42 U.S.C. §1982.  The trial court granted Amanda’s motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, holding that discrimination against Lilistines is not covered by the Civil Rights Act of 1866.  The court noted that the 1866 Congress “obviously did not contemplate protecting entities from other galaxies” and that the 2025 Congress intended to prevent Lilistines from bringing federal anti-discrimination lawsuits.


The court of appeals reversed, arguing that discrimination against Lilistines seemed “frighteningly” like race discrimination against humans.  The court also pointed out that although the citizenship bill had prohibited claims under Title VII and the FHA, the failure to mention the Civil Rights Act of 1866 suggested that Congress did not intend to prohibit lawsuits arising under §1982. Amanda petitioned for certiorari. The U.S. Supreme Court granted the petition to determine if a cause of action for discrimination against Lilistines was available under §1982.  

For class discussion, identify the best arguments for each position.  On an exam, you’d be asked to compose drafts of the analysis sections of a majority opinion and of a shorter dissent for the U.S. Supreme Court deciding this question in the context of the facts of this case.
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C. Shared Living Space
Fair Housing Council of San Fernando Valley v. Roommate.Com, LLC
666 F.3d 1216 (9th Cir. 2012)

KOZINSKI, Chief Judge: There's no place like home. In the privacy of your own home, you can take off your coat, kick off your shoes, let your guard down and be completely yourself. While we usually share our homes only with friends and family, sometimes we need to take in a stranger to help pay the rent. When that happens, can the government limit whom we choose? Specifically, do the anti-discrimination provisions of the Fair Housing Act (“FHA”) extend to the selection of roommates?

FACTS:  Roommate.com, LLC (“Roommate”) operates an internet-based business that helps roommates find each other. Roommate's website receives over 40,000 visits a day and roughly a million new postings for roommates are created each year. When users sign up, they must create a profile by answering a series of questions about their sex, sexual orientation and whether children will be living with them. An open-ended “Additional Comments” section lets users include information not prompted by the questionnaire. Users are asked to list their preferences for roommate characteristics, including sex, sexual orientation and familial status. Based on the profiles and preferences, Roommate matches users and provides them a list of housing-seekers or available rooms meeting their criteria. Users can also search available listings based on roommate characteristics, including sex, sexual orientation and familial status.

The Fair Housing Councils of San Fernando Valley and San Diego (“FHCs”) sued Roommate in federal court, alleging that the website's questions requiring disclosure of sex, sexual orientation and familial status, and its sorting, steering and matching of users based on those characteristics, violate the Fair Housing Act …. 
The district court initially dismissed the claims, holding that Roommate was immune under section 230 of the Communications Decency Act (“CDA”), 47 U.S.C. §230. We reversed, holding that Roommate was protected by the CDA for publishing the “Additional Comments” section, but not for (1) posting questionnaires that required disclosure of sex, sexual orientation and familial status; (2) limiting the scope of searches by users' preferences on a roommate's sex, sexual orientation and familial status; and (3) a matching system that paired users based on those preferences. Fair Hous. Council v. Roommates.com, LLC, 521 F.3d 1157, 1166 (9th Cir.2008) (en banc).

Our opinion was limited to CDA immunity and didn't reach whether the activities, in fact, violated the FHA. On remand, the district court held that Roommate's prompting of discriminatory preferences from users, matching users based on that information and publishing these preferences violated the FHA … and enjoined Roommate from those activities. Roommate appeals ….
ANALYSIS: If the FHA extends to shared living situations, it's quite clear that what Roommate does amounts to a violation. The pivotal question is whether the FHA applies to roommates.

I. The FHA prohibits discrimination on the basis of “race, color, religion, sex, familial status, or national origin” in the “sale or rental of a dwelling.” 42 U.S.C. §3604(b) (emphasis added). The FHA also makes it illegal to 
make, print, or publish, or cause to be made, printed, or published any notice, statement, or advertisement, with respect to the sale or rental of a dwelling that indicates any preference, limitation, or discrimination based on race, color, religion, sex, handicap, familial status, or national origin, or an intention to make any such preference, limitation, or discrimination.
§3604(c) (emphasis added). The reach of the statute turns on the meaning of “dwelling.”

The FHA defines “dwelling” as “any building, structure, or portion thereof which is occupied as, or designed or intended for occupancy as, a residence by one or more families.” §3602(b). A dwelling is thus a living unit designed or intended for occupancy by a family, meaning that it ordinarily has the elements generally associated with a family residence: sleeping spaces, bathroom and kitchen facilities, and common areas, such as living rooms, dens and hallways.

It would be difficult, though not impossible, to divide a single-family house or apartment into separate “dwellings” for purposes of the statute. Is a “dwelling” a bedroom plus a right to access common areas? What if roommates share a bedroom? Could a “dwelling” be a bottom bunk and half an armoire? It makes practical sense to interpret “dwelling” as an independent living unit and stop the FHA at the front door.


There's no indication that Congress intended to interfere with personal relationships inside the home. Congress wanted to address the problem of landlords discriminating in the sale and rental of housing, which deprived protected classes of housing opportunities. But a business transaction between a tenant and landlord is quite different from an arrangement between two people sharing the same living space. We seriously doubt Congress meant the FHA to apply to the latter. Consider, for example, the FHA's prohibition against sex discrimination. Could Congress, in the 1960s, really have meant that women must accept men as roommates? Telling women they may not lawfully exclude men from the list of acceptable roommates would be controversial today; it would have been scandalous in the 1960s.


While it's possible to read dwelling to mean sub-parts of a home or an apartment, doing so leads to awkward results. And applying the FHA to the selection of roommates almost certainly leads to results that defy mores prevalent when the statute was passed. Nonetheless, this interpretation is not wholly implausible and we would normally consider adopting it, given that the FHA is a remedial statute that we construe broadly. Therefore, we turn to constitutional concerns, which provide strong countervailing considerations.

II.  The Supreme Court has recognized that “the freedom to enter into and carry on certain intimate or private relationships is a fundamental element of liberty protected by the Bill of Rights.” Bd. of Dirs. of Rotary Int'l v. Rotary Club of Duarte, 481 U.S. 537, 545 (1987). “[C]hoices to enter into and maintain certain intimate human relationships must be secured against undue intrusion by the State because of the role of such relationships in safeguarding the individual freedom that is central to our constitutional scheme.” Roberts v. U.S. Jaycees, 468 U.S. 609, 617-18 (1984). Courts have extended the right of intimate association to marriage, child bearing, child rearing and cohabitation with relatives. Id. While the right protects only “highly personal relationships,” IDK, Inc. v. Clark Cnty., 836 F.2d 1185, 1193 (9th Cir.1988) (quoting Roberts, 468 U.S. at 618), the right isn't restricted exclusively to family, Bd. of Dirs. of Rotary Int'l, 481 U.S. at 545. The right to association also implies a right not to associate. Roberts, 468 U.S. at 623.

To determine whether a particular relationship is protected by the right to intimate association we look to “size, purpose, selectivity, and whether others are excluded from critical aspects of the relationship.” Bd. of Dirs. of Rotary Int'l, 481 U.S. at 546. The roommate relationship easily qualifies: People generally have very few roommates; they are selective in choosing roommates; and non-roommates are excluded from the critical aspects of the relationship, such as using the living spaces. Aside from immediate family or a romantic partner, it's hard to imagine a relationship more intimate than that between roommates, who share living rooms, dining rooms, kitchens, bathrooms, even bedrooms.

Because of a roommate's unfettered access to the home, choosing a roommate implicates significant privacy and safety considerations. The home is the center of our private lives. Roommates note our comings and goings, observe whom we bring back at night, hear what songs we sing in the shower, see us in various stages of undress and learn intimate details most of us prefer to keep private. Roommates also have access to our physical belongings and to our person. As the Supreme Court recognized, “[w]e are at our most vulnerable when we are asleep because we cannot monitor our own safety or the security of our belongings.” Minnesota v. Olson, 495 U.S. 91, 99 (1990). Taking on a roommate means giving him full access to the space where we are most vulnerable.


Equally important, we are fully exposed to a roommate's belongings, activities, habits, proclivities and way of life. This could include matter we find offensive (pornography, religious materials, political propaganda); dangerous (tobacco, drugs, firearms); annoying (jazz, perfume, frequent overnight visitors, furry pets); habits that are incompatible with our lifestyle (early risers, messy cooks, bathroom hogs, clothing borrowers). When you invite others to share your living quarters, you risk becoming a suspect in whatever illegal activities they engage in.


Government regulation of an individual's ability to pick a roommate thus intrudes into the home, which “is entitled to special protection as the center of the private lives of our people.” Minnesota v. Carter, 525 U.S. 83, 99 (1998) (Kennedy, J., concurring). “Liberty protects the person from unwarranted government intrusions into a dwelling or other private places. In our tradition the State is not omnipresent in the home.” Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 562 (2003). Holding that the FHA applies inside a home or apartment would allow the government to restrict our ability to choose roommates compatible with our lifestyles. This would be a serious invasion of privacy, autonomy and security.


For example, women will often look for female roommates because of modesty or security concerns. As roommates often share bathrooms and common areas, a girl may not want to walk around in her towel in front of a boy. She might also worry about unwanted sexual advances or becoming romantically involved with someone she must count on to pay the rent.


An orthodox Jew may want a roommate with similar beliefs and dietary restrictions, so he won't have to worry about finding honey-baked ham in the refrigerator next to the potato latkes. Non–Jewish roommates may not understand or faithfully follow all of the culinary rules, like the use of different silverware for dairy and meat products, or the prohibition against warming non-kosher food in a kosher microwave. Taking away the ability to choose roommates with similar dietary restrictions and religious convictions will substantially burden the observant Jew's ability to live his life and practice his religion faithfully. The same is true of individuals of other faiths that call for dietary restrictions or rituals inside the home.


The U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development recently dismissed a complaint against a young woman for advertising, “I am looking for a female christian roommate,” on her church bulletin board. In its Determination of No Reasonable Cause, HUD explained that “in light of the facts provided and after assessing the unique context of the advertisement and the roommate relationship involved ... the Department defers to Constitutional considerations in reaching its conclusions.” Fair Hous. Ctr. of W. Mich. v. Tricia, No. 05–10–1738–8 (Oct. 28, 2010).

It's a “well-established principle that statutes will be interpreted to avoid constitutional difficulties.” Frisby v. Schultz, 487 U.S. 474, 483 (1988). “[W]here an otherwise acceptable construction of a statute would raise serious constitutional problems, the Court will construe the statute to avoid such problems unless such construction is plainly contrary to the intent of Congress.” Pub. Citizen v. U.S. Dep't of Justice, 491 U.S. 440, 466 (1989). Because the FHA can reasonably be read either to include or exclude shared living arrangements, we can and must choose the construction that avoids raising constitutional concerns. … Reading “dwelling” to mean an independent housing unit is a fair interpretation of the text and consistent with congressional intent. Because the construction of “dwelling” to include shared living units raises substantial constitutional concerns, we adopt the narrower construction that excludes roommate selection from the reach of the FHA.

III.  Because we find that the FHA doesn't apply to the sharing of living units, it follows that it's not unlawful to discriminate in selecting a roommate. As the underlying conduct is not unlawful, Roommate's facilitation of discriminatory roommate searches does not violate the FHA. While Roommate itself has no intimate association right, it is entitled to raise the constitutional claims of its users. … The injunction entered by the district court precludes Roommate's members from selecting roommates unfettered by government regulation. Roommate may therefore raise these claims on their behalf. …
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.21:   Look at FHA §3603(b)(2) (SS3). Under what circumstances would the selection of a roommate fall within the exemptions created by this provision? Under what circumstances would it not? Note that this exemptions in §3603(b)(2) do not apply to discriminatory advertising.  Why might the statutes prohibit someone from advertising that they intend to discriminate even with regard to transactions that the statutes exempt?  

3.22: Can you identify problems with Judge Kozinski’s reasoning in …:


(a) The paragraph beginning “There’s no indication …”?


(b) The second sentence of Part III?
3.23:  What is the significance of the court’s citation of the HUD Determination of No Reasonable Cause.

3.24 What policy reasons might support reading the FHA to cover the selection of roommates?  Be prepared to discuss whether these reasons seem sufficient to outweigh the Constitutional concerns discussed in the opinion.

Review Problem 3C
Brett Benjamin, an African-American college student, entered into a three-year lease on a two-bedroom apartment near his college campus.  After a few months, when money got tight, he advertised for a roommate through an online service.  The ad contained no references to Brett’s race or to any racial preference regarding prospective roommates.  

Jason Johnson answered the ad via e-mail and Brett and Jason had an extensive e-mail exchange about the possibility of living together.  Brett was very pleased to discover that Jason attended the same college, shared his taste in music, movies, and TV shows, and shared his belief that it is very important for roommates both to keep common areas neat and to always have chocolate chip cookies in the house.  The two young men agreed that they were probably a good fit and arranged for Jason to come see the apartment.  

When Brett answered the door and saw Jason’s pale freckled face for the first time, he blurted out, “Oh, man, you’re White.”  Jason grinned and said, “Very true, bro.”  Brett then said, “I really don’t think I can do this,” and closed the door.  He later sent Jason an e-mail saying that he was sorry, but he’d found a different roommate.


Jason brought an action in Federal District Court alleging the information provided above and claiming that Brett’s refusal to accept him as a roommate violated 42 U.S.C. §1982.  Brett moved to dismiss the case for failure to state a claim.  The District Court granted the motion, arguing that Roommate.com’s reasoning regarding the FHA also applies to §1982.  


Jason appealed, and the Court of Appeals reversed.  In the majority opinion, two of the judges noted that Roommate.com reached the result it did by narrowly reading the word “dwelling” in the FHA but, by contrast, the broad language of §1982 clearly covers the selection of roommates.  They argued that since Congress created no exceptions at all to §1982, it would be inappropriate for a court to allow an exception here.  The majority thus remanded the case to the District Court for a trial on the merits.  

REIEW PROBLEM 3C CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE

The third Court of Appeals judge concurred in the result, but would have distinguished Roommate.com on the grounds that race discrimination should be treated differently from discrimination based on sex or familial status.  This judge argued that race does not implicate the same privacy concerns and that the prevention of race discrimination is a more important state interest.

Brett petitioned for certiorari. The U.S. Supreme Court granted the petition to determine whether the refusal to accept a potential paying roommate because of race violates §1982.  
For class discussion, identify the best arguments for each position.  On an exam, you’d be asked to compose drafts of the analysis sections of a majority opinion and of a shorter dissent for the U.S. Supreme Court deciding this question in the context of the facts of this case.
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Review Problem 3D
The city of Atlanta is holding a festival to honor and celebrated Dr. Martin Luther King, Jr.  Atlanta has commissioned a play about King’s life that will be performed live daily during the festival. When the city held auditions, Daniel Day Lewis (DDL), the best actor of his generation, unexpectedly appeared wanting to take the role of Dr. King.  City officials would prefer to see an African-American actor take on that role, even though they are aware that DDL is a much more talented than anyone else who auditioned.  Should we treat a refusal to hire DDL as impermissible race discrimination?
i. Why might the city prefer not to use DDL?

ii. Assuming no existing law would govern here, what arguments do you see about whether the city’s reasons seem sufficient as a matter of policy.
iii. The usual Constitutional standard for government decisions based on race is that they are permissible only if narrowly tailored to a compelling state interest.  What arguments do you see about whether the city’s reasons could meet this standard?

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
UNITED STATES v. STARRETT CITY ASSOCIATES
840 F.2d 1096 (2d Cir. 1988)

MINER, Circuit Judge: The United States Attorney General, on behalf of the United States (“the government”), commenced this action under Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 against defendants‑appellants Starrett City Associates, Starrett City, Inc. and Delmar Management Company (collectively, “Starrett”).  The government maintained that Starrett’s practices of renting apartments in its Brooklyn housing complex solely on the basis of applicants’ race or national origin, and of making apartments unavailable to black and Hispanic applicants that are then made available to white applicants, violate  the Act.   The district court granted summary judgment in favor of the government and permanently enjoined appellants from discriminating on the basis of race in the rental of apartments.  Starrett appeals from this judgment.

Background. Appellants constructed, own and operate “Starrett City,” the largest housing development in the nation, consisting of 46 high‑rise buildings containing 5,881 apartments in Brooklyn, New York.  The complex’s rental office opened in December 1973.  The United Housing Foundation abandoned a project to build a development of cooperative apartments at the Starrett City site in 1971.  Starrett proposed to construct rental units on the site on the condition that the New York City Board of Estimate approve a transfer to Starrett of the city real estate tax abatement granted to the original project.  The transfer created “substantial community opposition” because “the neighborhood surrounding the project and past experience with subsidized housing” created fear that “the conversion to rental apartments would result in Starrett City’s becoming an overwhelmingly minority development.” The transfer was approved, however, “upon the assurance of Starrett City’s developer that it was intended to create a racially integrated community.” 

Starrett has sought to maintain a racial distribution by apartment of 64% white, 22% black and 8% Hispanic at Starrett City.  Starrett claims that these racial quotas are necessary to prevent the loss of white tenants, which would transform Starrett City into a predominantly minority complex.  Starrett points to the difficulty it has had in attracting an integrated applicant pool from the time Starrett City opened, despite extensive advertising and promotional efforts.  Because of these purported difficulties, Starrett adopted a tenanting procedure to promote and maintain the desired racial balance.  This procedure has resulted in relatively stable percentages of whites and minorities living at Starrett City between 1975 and the present. 

The tenanting procedure requires completion of a preliminary information card stating, inter alia, the applicant’s race or national origin, family composition, income and employment.  The rental office at Starrett City receives and reviews these applications.  Those that are found preliminarily eligible, based on family composition, income, employment and size of apartment sought, are placed in “the active file,” in which separate records by race are maintained for apartment sizes and income levels.  Applicants are told in an acknowledgement letter that no apartments are presently available, but that their applications have been placed in the active file and that they will be notified when a unit becomes available for them.  When an apartment becomes available, applicants are selected from the active file for final processing, creating a processed applicant pool.  As vacancies arise, applicants of a race or national origin similar to that of the departing tenants are selected from the pool and offered apartments.

In December 1979, a group of black applicants brought an action against Starrett. Plaintiffs alleged that Starrett’s tenanting procedures violated federal and state law by discriminating against them on the basis of race.  The parties stipulated to a settlement in May 1984, and a consent decree was entered subsequently.  The decree provided that Starrett would, depending on apartment availability, make an additional 35 units available each year for a five‑year period to black and minority applicants.  

The government commenced the present action against Starrett in June 1984, “to place before the [c]ourt the issue joined but left expressly unresolved” in the Arthur consent decree:  the “legality of defendants’ policy and practice of limiting the number of apartments available to minorities in order to maintain a prescribed degree of racial balance.” The complaint alleged that Starrett, through its tenanting policies, discriminated in violation of the Fair Housing Act.  Specifically, the government maintained that Starrett violated the Act by making apartments unavailable to blacks solely because of race, 42 U.S.C. §3604(a);  by forcing black applicants to wait significantly longer for apartments than whites solely because of race, §3604(b);  by enforcing a policy that prefers white applicants while limiting the numbers of minority applicants accepted, §3604(c); and by representing in an acknowledgement letter that no apartments are available for rental when in fact units are available, §3604(d).  
[In its motion opposing summary judgment,] Starrett maintained that the tenanting procedures “were adopted at the behest of the [s]tate solely to achieve and maintain integration and were not motivated by racial animus.”  To support their position, appellants submitted the written testimony of three housing experts. They described the “white flight” and “tipping” phenomena, in which white residents migrate out of a community as the community becomes poor and the minority population increases, resulting in the transition to a predominantly minority community.  Acknowledging that “‘the tipping point for a particular housing development, depending as it does on numerous factors and the uncertainties of human behavior, is difficult to predict with precision,’” one expert stated that the point at which tipping occurs has been estimated at from 1% to 60% minority population, but that the consensus ranged between 10% and 20%. Another expert, who had prepared a report in 1980 on integration at Starrett City for the New York State Division of Housing and Community Renewal, estimated the complex’s tipping point at approximately 40% black on a population basis.  A third expert, who had been involved in integrated housing ventures since the 1950’s, found that a 2:1 white‑minority ratio produced successful integration. 

The court, however, accepted the government’s contention that Starrett’s practices of making apartments unavailable for blacks, while reserving them for whites, and conditioning rental to minorities based on a “tipping formula” derived only from race or national origin are clear violations of the Fair Housing Act.  The district court found that apartment opportunities for blacks and Hispanics were far fewer “than would be expected if race and national origin were not taken into account,” while opportunities for whites were substantially greater than what their application rates projected.  Minority applicants waited up to ten times longer than the average white applicant before they were offered an apartment.  Starrett City’s active file was 21.9% white in October 1985, but whites occupied 64.7% of the apartments in January 1984.  Although the file was 53.7% black and 18% Hispanic in October 1985, blacks and Hispanics, respectively, occupied only 20.8% and 7.9% of the apartments as of January 1984. Appellants did not dispute this.  Further, the court found that appellants’ tipping argument was undercut by the “wide elasticity of that standard” and the lack of difficulty they had in increasing their black quota from 21% to 35% “when it became necessary to avoid litigating the private Arthur lawsuit which threatened their unlawful rental practices.”  The court also found that Starrett violated the Act by making untrue representations of apartment unavailability to qualified minority applicants in order to reserve units for whites.  Finally, the court rejected Starrett’s claim that the duty imposed upon government to achieve housing integration justified its actions, stating that “[d]efendants cannot arrogate to themselves the powers” of a public housing authority.  

The court concluded that Starrett’s obligation was “simply and solely to comply with the Fair Housing Act” by treating “black and other minority applicants ... on the same basis as whites in seeking available housing at Starrett City.”  The court noted that Starrett did not dispute any of the operative facts alleged to show violations of the Fair Housing Act.   Accordingly, Judge Neaher granted summary judgment for the government, enjoining Starrett from discriminating against applicants on the basis of race and “[r]equiring [them] to adopt written, objective, uniform, nondiscriminatory tenant selection standards and procedures” subject to the court’s approval.    On appeal, Starrett presses arguments similar to those it made before the district court.  We affirm the district court’s judgment.

Discussion.  Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 was enacted pursuant to Congress’ thirteenth amendment powers “to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the United States.”  42 U.S.C. §3601.   Housing practices unlawful under Title VIII include not only those motivated by a racially discriminatory purpose, but also those that disproportionately affect minorities.  See, e.g., Robinson v. 12 Lofts Realty, Inc. 610 F.2d 1032, 1036‑37 (2d Cir.1979).   Starrett’s allocation of public housing facilities on the basis of racial quotas, by denying an applicant access to a unit otherwise available solely because of race, produces a “discriminatory effect ... [that] could hardly be clearer,” Burney v. Housing Auth., 551 F.Supp. 746, 770 (W.D.Pa.1982). Appellants do not contend that the plain language of section 3604 does not proscribe their practices.  Rather, they claim to be “clothed with governmental authority” and thus obligated, under Otero v. New York City Housing Auth., 484 F.2d 1122 (2d Cir.1973), to effectuate the purpose of the Fair Housing Act by affirmatively promoting integration and preventing “the reghettoization of a model integrated community.”  We need not decide whether Starrett is a state actor, however.  Even if Starrett were a state actor with such a duty, the racial quotas and related practices employed at Starrett City to maintain integration violate the antidiscrimination provisions of the Act.

Both Starrett and the government cite to the legislative history of the Fair Housing Act in support of their positions.  This history consists solely of statements from the floor of Congress.  These statements reveal “that at the time that Title VIII was enacted, Congress believed that strict adherence to the anti‑discrimination provisions of the [A]ct” would eliminate “racially discriminatory housing practices [and] ultimately would result in residential integration.” Thus, Congress saw the antidiscrimination policy as the means to effect the antisegregation‑integration policy. While quotas promote Title VIII’s integration policy, they contravene its antidiscrimination policy, bringing the dual goals of the Act into conflict.  The legislative history provides no further guidance for resolving this conflict.

We therefore look to analogous provisions of federal law enacted to prohibit segregation and discrimination as guides in determining to what extent racial criteria may be used to maintain integration.  Both the thirteenth amendment, pursuant to which Title VIII was enacted, and the fourteenth amendment empower Congress to act in eradicating racial discrimination, and both the fourteenth amendment and Title VIII are informed by the congressional goal of eradicating racial discrimination through the principle of antidiscrimination.  Further, the parallel between the antidiscrimination objectives of Title VIII and Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, has been recognized. Thus, the Supreme Court’s analysis of what constitutes permissible race‑conscious affirmative action under provisions of federal law with goals similar to those of Title VIII provides a framework for examining the affirmative use of racial quotas under the Fair Housing Act.

Although any racial classification is presumptively discriminatory, a race‑conscious affirmative action plan does not necessarily violate federal constitutional or statutory provisions. However, a race‑conscious plan cannot be “ageless in [its] reach into the past, and timeless in [its] ability to affect the future.”  Wygant v. Jackson Bd. of Educ., 476 U.S. 267 (1986) (plurality opinion).  A plan employing racial distinctions must be temporary in nature with a defined goal as its termination point.  See, e.g., Johnson v. Transportation Agency, 107 S.Ct. 1442 (1987).  Moreover, we observe that societal discrimination alone seems “insufficient and over expansive” as the basis for adopting so‑called “benign” practices with discriminatory effects “that work against innocent people,” Wygant, 106 S.Ct. at 1848, in the drastic and burdensome way that rigid racial quotas do.  Furthermore, the use of quotas generally should be based on some history of racial discrimination, see id. at 1847, or imbalance, see Johnson, 107 S.Ct. at 1452‑53, within the entity seeking to employ them.  Finally, measures designed to increase or ensure minority participation, such as “access” quotas have generally been upheld.  However, programs designed to maintain integration by limiting minority participation, such as ceiling quotas are of doubtful validity because they “‘single[ ] out those least well represented in the political process to bear the brunt of a benign program,’ “ Fullilove [v. Klutznick], 448 U.S. 448, 519 (1980) (Marshall, J., concurring) (quoting Regents v. Bakke, 438 U.S. 265, 361 (1978) (Brennan, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part)).

Starrett’s use of ceiling quotas to maintain integration at Starrett City lacks each of these characteristics.  First, Starrett City’s practices have only the goal of integration maintenance.  The quotas already have been in effect for ten years.  Appellants predict that their race‑conscious tenanting practices must continue for at least fifteen more years, but fail to explain adequately how that approximation was reached.  In any event, these practices are far from temporary.  Since the goal of integration maintenance is purportedly threatened by the potential for “white flight” on a continuing basis, no definite termination date for Starrett’s quotas is perceivable.  Second, appellants do not assert, and there is no evidence to show, the existence of prior racial discrimination or discriminatory imbalance adversely affecting whites within Starrett City or appellants’ other complexes.  On the contrary, Starrett City was initiated as an integrated complex, and Starrett’s avowed purpose for employing race‑based tenanting practices is to maintain that initial integration.  Finally, Starrett’s quotas do not provide minorities with access to Starrett City, but rather act as a ceiling to their access.  Thus, the impact of appellants’ practices falls squarely on minorities, for whom Title VIII was intended to open up housing opportunities.  Starrett claims that its use of quotas serves to keep the numbers of minorities entering Starrett City low enough to avoid setting off a wave of “white flight.”  Although the “white flight” phenomenon may be a factor “take[n] into account in the integration equation,” Parent Ass’n of Andrew Jackson High School v. Ambach, 598 F.2d 705, 720 (2d Cir.1979), it cannot serve to justify attempts to maintain integration at Starrett City through inflexible racial quotas that are neither temporary in nature nor used to remedy past racial discrimination or imbalance within the complex.

Appellants’ reliance on Otero is misplaced.  In Otero, the New York City Housing Authority (“NYCHA”) relocated over 1800 families in the Lower East Side of Manhattan to make way for the construction of new apartment buildings.  Pursuant to its regulations, NYCHA offered the former site occupants first priority of returning to any housing built within the urban renewal area.  However, because the response by the largely minority former site residents seeking to return was nearly seven times greater than expected, NYCHA declined to follow its regulation in order to avoid creating a “pocket ghetto” that would “tip” an integrated community towards a predominantly minority community. It instead rented up half of these apartments to non‑former site occupants, 88% of whom were white.  

In a suit brought by former site occupants who were denied the promised priority, the district court held as a matter of law that “affirmative action to achieve racially balanced communities was not permitted where it would result in depriving minority groups” of public housing.  This court reversed , stating that public housing authorities had a federal constitutional and statutory duty “to fulfill, as much as possible, the goal of open, integrated residential housing patterns and to prevent the increase of segregation, in ghettos,” but we recognized that “the effect in some instances might be to prevent some members of a racial minority from residing in publicly assisted housing in a particular location.”  

Otero does not, however, control in this case.  The challenge in Otero did not involve procedures for the long‑term maintenance of specified levels of integration, but rather, the rental of 171 of 360 new apartments to non‑former site occupants, predominantly white, although former site residents, largely minority, sought those apartments and were entitled to priority under NYCHA’s own regulation.  The Otero court did not delineate the statutory or constitutional limits on permissible means of integration, but held only that NYCHA’s rent‑up practice could not be declared invalid as a matter of law under those limits.  In fact, the court in Otero observed that the use of race‑conscious tenanting practices might allow landlords “to engage in social engineering, subject only to general undefined control through judicial supervision” and could “constitute a form of unlawful racial discrimination.” 

It is particularly important to note that the NYCHA action challenged in Otero only applied to a single event—the initial rent up of the new complexes—and determined tenancy in the first instance alone.  NYCHA sought only to prevent the immediate creation of a “pocket ghetto” in the Lower East Side, which had experienced a steady loss of white population, that would tip the precarious racial balance there, resulting in increased white flight and inevitable “non‑white ghettoization of the community.” Further, the suspension of NYCHA’s regulation did not operate as a strict racial quota, because the former site residents entitled to a rental priority were approximately 40% white.  As a one‑time measure in response to the special circumstances of the Lower East Side in the early 1970’s, the action challenged in Otero had an impact on non‑whites as a group far less burdensome or discriminatory than Starrett City’s continuing practices.

Conclusion.  We do not intend to imply that race is always an inappropriate consideration under Title VIII in efforts to promote integrated housing.  We hold only that Title VIII does not allow appellants to use rigid racial quotas of indefinite duration to maintain a fixed level of integration at Starrett City by restricting minority access to scarce and desirable rental accommodations otherwise available to them.  We therefore affirm the judgment of the district court.

JON O. NEWMAN, Circuit Judge, dissenting: Congress enacted the Fair Housing Act to prohibit racial segregation in housing.  Starrett City is one of the most successful examples in the nation of racial integration in housing.  I respectfully dissent because I do not believe that Congress intended the Fair Housing Act to prohibit the maintenance of racial integration in private housing.

I. 
... The development of Starrett City as an apartment complex committed to a deliberate policy of maintained racial integration has at all times occurred with the knowledge, encouragement, and financial support of the agency of the United States directly concerned with housing, the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).  Under a contract between HUD and Starrett City, the federal government pays all but one percent of the debt service of the mortgage loan extended to Starrett City by the New York State Housing Finance Agency (HFA).  By March 1986 HUD had paid HFA more than $211 million on Starrett City’s behalf.  In exchange for this interest subsidy, Starrett City agreed to limit the rent for eligible tenants to a monthly figure specified by HUD or to a stated percentage of the tenant’s monthly income (initially 25%, now 30%), whichever is greater.  In addition, HUD has provided rental subsidies for tenants with low incomes.  Since 1981 these rental subsidies have been nearly $22 million a year.

Despite its close cooperation in the development of Starrett City as an integrated housing complex, the United States now sues Starrett City to force it to abandon the rental policies that have enabled it to maintain racial integration.  The bringing of the suit raises a substantial question as to the Government’s commitment to integrated housing.  The timing of the suit puts that commitment further in doubt.  In 1979 a class of Black applicants for housing at Starrett City brought suit to challenge on federal statutory and constitutional grounds the same tenant selection policies at issue in this case. With the federal government observing from the sidelines, the parties to [that] litigation engaged in protracted settlement negotiations.  More than four years later, a mutually advantageous settlement was reached.  Starrett City was permitted to continue its policy of maintaining integration through its tenant selection policies.  In return, Starrett City agreed to increase by three percent over five years the proportion of rental units occupied by minority tenants.  At the same time, DHCR, the state housing agency, which was also a defendant in the Arthur litigation, agreed to take affirmative steps to promote housing opportunities for minorities in DHCR‑supervised housing projects in New York City. Specifically, the State agency agreed to give a priority in other projects to minority applicants on the Starrett City waiting list.  No member of the class of minority applicants for housing at Starrett City objected to the settlement.  Thus, the needs of the minority class for whose benefit the suit had been brought were met to their satisfaction by providing for more rental opportunities both at Starrett City and elsewhere.  Just one month after that settlement was reached, the United States filed this suit, ostensibly concerned with vindication of the rights of the same minority applicants for housing who had just settled their dispute on favorable terms.

II. 
The only issue in this case is whether Starrett City’s rental policies violate Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 The defendants do not dispute that their rental policies fall within the literal language of Title VIII’s prohibition on discriminatory housing practices.  Instead they contend that  their race‑conscious policies further the compelling state interest of promoting integrated housing and are narrowly tailored to achieve that interest.  At a minimum, they contend, they are entitled to a trial on the merits to prove their claim.

In my view, the defendants are entitled to prevail simply on the statutory issue to which the Government has limited its lawsuit.  Though the terms of the statute literally encompass the defendants’ actions, the statute was never intended to apply to such actions.  This statute was intended to bar perpetuation of segregation.  To apply it to bar maintenance of integration is precisely contrary to the congressional policy “to provide, within constitutional limitations, for fair housing throughout the United States.” 42 U.S.C. §3601.  We have been wisely cautioned by Learned Hand that “[t]here is no surer way to misread a document than to read it literally.” That aphorism is not always true with respect to statutes, whose text is always the starting point for analysis and sometimes the ending point.  But literalism is not always the appropriate approach even with statutes, as the Supreme Court long ago recognized:  “It is a familiar rule, that a thing may be within the letter of the statute and yet not within the statute, because not within its spirit, nor within the intent of its makers.”  Church of the Holy Trinity v. United States, 143 U.S. 457, 459 (1892).

Title VIII bars discriminatory housing practices in order to end segregated housing.  Starrett City is not promoting segregated housing.  On the contrary, it is maintaining integrated housing.  It is surely not within the spirit of the Fair Housing Act to enlist the Act to bar integrated housing.  Nor is there any indication that application of the statute toward such a perverse end was within the intent of those who enacted the statute.  It is true that there are some statements in the legislative history that broadly condemn discrimination for “any” reason.  Senator Mondale, the principal sponsor of Title VIII, said that “we do not see any good reason or justification, in the first place, for permitting discrimination in the sale or rental of housing.”  But his context, like that in which the entire debate occurred, concerned maintenance of segregation, not integration.  His point was that there was no reason for discriminating against a Black who wished to live in a previously all‑White housing project.  He explicitly decried the prospect that “we are going to live separately in white ghettos and Negro ghettos.”  The purpose of Title VIII, he said, was to replace the ghettos “by truly integrated and balanced living patterns.”  As he pointed out, “[O]ne of the biggest problems we face is the lack of experience in actually living next to Negroes.”  Starrett City is committed to the proposition that Blacks and Whites shall live next to each other.  A law enacted to enhance the opportunity for people of all races to live next to each other should not be interpreted to prevent a landlord from maintaining one of the most successful integrated housing projects in America.

None of the legislators who enacted Title VIII ever expressed a view on whether they wished to prevent the maintenance of racially balanced housing. Most of those who passed this statute in 1968 probably could not even contemplate a private real estate owner who would deliberately set out to achieve a racially balanced tenant population.  Had they thought of such an eventuality, there is not the slightest reason to believe that they would have raised their legislative hands against it.

This Circuit has previously ruled that Title VIII does not apply literally to prohibit racially based rental policies adopted to promote integration.  Otero.  In that case a public housing authority had committed itself by regulation to give first priority for rental housing to applicants who had been displaced by construction of the project.  The housing authority then disregarded its own regulation, based on its apprehension that giving first priority to the class of those displaced from the site, most of whom were non‑White, would cause the project to pass the so‑called “tipping point” and become predominantly non‑White.  The first question in Otero was whether the authority’s deliberate decision not to honor its priority policy because the benefitted class was predominantly non‑White violated Title VIII.  The Court held that the Act was not violated simply because a race‑conscious decision had been made in connection with rental policy: 

Congress’ desire in providing fair housing throughout the United States was to stem the spread of urban ghettos and to promote open, integrated housing, even though the effect in some instances might be to prevent some members of a racial minority from residing in publicly assisted housing in a particular location.

Once the Court decided that a race‑conscious rental policy did not necessarily violate the Act, it then faced the difficult issue in the case—whether the Act imposed an affirmative duty to promote integration of sufficient force to permit the authority to violate its own regulation.  On that issue, the Court also ruled in favor of the authority, remanding for a trial at which the defendant could establish that its apprehension concerning a “tipping point” was well founded and that abandonment of its priority policy was necessary to promote integration.

Our case is much easier than Otero.  Starrett City is not seeking to be released from a commitment it has previously made to any of the applicants for housing.  To prevail it need not find in Title VIII some affirmative obligation compelling it to promote integration.  It has freely chosen to promote integration and is entitled to prevail unless something in Title VIII forbids its voluntary policy.  If anything in Title VIII prohibited race‑conscious rental policies adopted to promote integration, Otero would have been summarily decided against the defendant.

Acknowledging the significance of the ruling in Otero, the Court distinguishes it essentially on the ground that Otero involved a policy of limited duration, applicable only to the period in which those displaced from the site were applying for housing in the new project, whereas Starrett City seeks to pursue a long‑term policy of maintaining integration.  I see nothing in the text or legislative history of Title VIII that supports such a distinction.  If, as the Court holds, Title VIII bars Starrett City’s race‑conscious rental policy, even though adopted to promote and maintain integration, then it would bar such policies whether adopted on a short‑term or a long‑term basis.  Since the Act makes no distinction among the durations of rental policies alleged to violate its terms, Otero’s upholding of a race‑conscious rental policy adopted to promote integration cannot be ignored simply because the policy was of limited duration.4 

But even if Title VIII can somehow be construed to make the lawfulness of a race‑conscious rental policy that promotes integration turn on the duration of the policy, Starrett City is entitled to a trial so that it can prove its contention that its policy is still needed to maintain integration. In the District Court the Government, though seeking summary judgment, contested Starrett City’s factual contention that a race‑conscious rental policy was currently needed to prevent the complex from passing the “tipping point” and becoming segregated.  The Government relied on a brief affidavit of a HUD employee, who made primarily the unremarkable observation that it is difficult to predict with any certainty the precise “tipping point” in a particular neighborhood.  In opposing summary judgment, Starrett City presented detailed affidavits providing abundant evidence to show that abandonment of its rental policies would cause the complex to pass the “tipping point” and soon become a segregated development.  This evidence was solidly based on relevant experience.  Several housing developments near Starrett City, operating without a policy of integration maintenance, have become racially segregated, including one across the street from Starrett City.

Otero established for this Circuit that a race‑conscious rental policy adopted to promote integration does not violate Title VIII and that a defendant must be afforded an opportunity to demonstrate at a trial that its rental policy is needed to prevent a housing complex from becoming segregated. Starrett City’s affidavit evidence may well be sufficient to entitle it to summary judgment on this issue of continued need for a race‑conscious rental policy to maintain integration.  At a minimum it is entitled to a trial to present its evidence to a trier of fact.

Whether integration of private housing complexes should be maintained through the use of race‑conscious rental policies that deny minorities an equal opportunity to rent is a highly controversial issue of social policy.  There is a substantial argument against imposing any artificial burdens on minorities in their quest for housing.  On the other hand, there is a substantial argument against forcing an integrated housing complex to become segregated, even if current conditions make integration feasible only by means of imposing some extra delay on minority applicants for housing.  Officials of the Department of Justice are entitled to urge the former policy.  Respected civil rights advocates like the noted psychologist, Dr. Kenneth Clark, are entitled to urge the latter policy, as he has done in an affidavit filed in this suit.  That policy choice should be left to the individual decisions of private property owners unless and until Congress or the New York legislature decides for the Nation or for New York that it prefers to outlaw maintenance of integration.  I do not believe Congress made that decision in 1968, and it is a substantial question whether it would make such a decision today.  Until Congress acts, we should not lend our authority to the result this lawsuit will surely bring about.  In the words of Dr. Clark: “[I]t would be a tragedy of the highest magnitude if this litigation were to lead to the destruction of one of the model integrated communities in the United States.” Because the Fair Housing Act does not require this tragedy to occur, I respectfully dissent.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.25: How did the program at issue in Starrett City work?  What arguments do you see about whether the program violated the literal language of the statute?  What arguments do the judges make from the legislative history?  (ME: Is this a case where legislative history should be relevant?)
3.26
What happened in the Otero case? How does the majority in Starrett City distinguish Otero  How does the dissent respond?  Who is more convincing?  

3.27: The majority’s reasoning incorporates an analogy to employer affirmative action programs under Title VII.  Develop a list of ways in which the two types of programs are similar and are different (you might want to review the Memo attached to the Slides for Classes 11 & 12)..  Does the Title VII test the court adopts make sense given your list?

3.28: Who is harmed and who is helped by the Starrett City decision?  Why do you think the Reagan administration brought the case?  


(  (  (  (  (  (  (
Review Problem 3E
A city public housing program normally selects tenants from the top of a city-wide waiting list.  However, when a vacancy opens up in a building whose tenants are at least 85% of one race, the program gives preferences to people who are not of that race.

(i) What Arguments Do You See from the Starrett City Majority?
(ii) What Arguments Do You See from the Starrett City Dissent?

(iii) In a Jurisdiction That Has Not Ruled On This Issue (so isn’t bound by Starrett City), What Policy Arguments Do You See About How a Court Should Decide?
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
UNITED STATES v. REECE

457 F. Supp. 43 (D. Mont. 1978) 

BATTIN, District Judge: This case arose out of a fair housing complaint filed with the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development (“HUD”) by two airmen stationed at Logan Field near Billings, Montana, alleging that they were denied housing in an apartment owned by the defendants on the basis of race.  ... Discovery undertaken pursuant to this complaint led the plaintiff to file an amended complaint alleging that, in addition to the racial discrimination outlined above, defendant Cleone Reece has maintained certain policies which allegedly discriminate on the basis of sex in violation of 42 U.S.C. §3604.  Presently pending is the motion of the United States for partial summary judgment on the issues of sex discrimination .... 

[T]he amended complaint alleges that Cleone Reece has engaged in a pattern or practice of sex discrimination.... The allegation is based on statements by Cleone Reece in her deposition and answers to interrogatories, and admissions made in defendant’s brief, to the effect that defendant refused to rent certain apartments to single women without cars, and that defendant did not consider alimony and child support payments in determining whether a divorced woman would meet the defendant’s requirements regarding ability to pay rent.

Defendant apparently does not dispute the fact that she adheres to the above-described policies.  However, she does deny that the policies contravene the provisions of 42 U.S.C. §3604....  In particular, defendant argues that she requires certain of her single woman tenants to have cars for their own protection,12 and that she doesn’t discriminate against divorced women.

It is somewhat difficult to perceive the impact of defendant’s alimony-child support argument, since it has been poorly briefed by defense counsel. The only defense offered is a statement in Cleone Reece’s unsigned deposition to the effect that divorced women “are sometimes the best pay.”  I find that this statement is insufficient to outweigh the fact that the defendant’s requirement that potential tenants “qualify” by demonstrating an economic ability to pay rent is applied in such a manner as to place an unequal burden on women applicants.  I therefore conclude that defendant has offered no legal defense to this issue, and that summary judgment should be granted based on the factual admissions of the defendant.

Defendant’s policy toward single women is more clearcut: she simply does not rent certain of her apartments to single women unless they have cars. It is not denied that a similarly situated male, i.e., a single man without a car, would not be disqualified on that basis.  The defendant attempts to justify this approach by stating that single women without cars are excluded from renting the apartments in question because the neighborhood in which the apartments are situated is poorly lit, and that the risk of assault or rape “or worse” against these women in walking to and from the apartments is great.  I find this defense to be insufficient as a matter of law.  A violation of the Fair Housing Act can be proved without establishing a malevolent or unlawful intent.  Since this is so, an allegedly benign motivation, especially one as paternalistic and overbroad as the one presented here, cannot provide a defense.

This is simply a case where the plaintiff’s prima facie case is made by the undisputed testimony of the defendants’ depositions, briefs, and answers to interrogatories.  Since the defendant has offered no defense sufficient to rebut the damaging impact of her own statements, I will grant summary judgment as to this issue.


(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.29: .In Reece, the landlord claimed that the local neighborhood was unsafe for women without cars.  Assuming that this is true, why shouldn’t a landlord be able to use safety as a reason to choose between potential applicants?  Would it violate the FHA to simply tell women (but not men) without cars about the crime in the neighborhood?
3.30: As noted in Roommates.com, HUD has refused to enforce §3604(c) regarding advertisements for shared space in a dwelling that indicate a preference based on sex. If a woman chooses to live only with other women for safety or privacy reasons, how is this different than the landlord’s rule in Reece?
3.31
Assume that single-sex private liberal arts colleges are still permitted by federal civil rights laws.  Linda is an alumna of Gertude Stein Women’s College (GSW).  She purchases an apartment complex less than a mile from the GSW campus. Is it a violation of the FHA for her to limit her tenants to current GSW students? What other information might affect the result?

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
BRAUNSTEIN v. DWELLING MANAGERS, INC. 

476 F.Supp. 1323 (S. D. N.Y. 1979)

PIERCE, District Judge:  This is an action brought by four single parents and their respective four children who claim that because of their sex they have been denied rental of two bedroom apartments in Manhattan Plaza, a federally-subsidized ... housing complex. Defendants are the owners and managers of Manhattan Plaza. … 


The facts are undisputed. Defendants acknowledge that a single parent with a child of the same sex is restricted to rental of a one bedroom apartment whereas a single parent with a child of the opposite sex is permitted to rent a two bedroom unit. Defendants claim that they are enforcing a policy instituted by the New York City Department of Housing Preservation and Development (HPD), the municipal agency which supervises Manhattan Plaza. An affidavit from Ruth Lerner, Assistant Commissioner of HPD, agrees that this is HPD’s policy based on its interpretation of regulations promulgated by the agency.  Defendants further maintain that the policy comports with federal guidelines.4  Plaintiffs, on the other hand, attack the policy as violating the Fair Housing Act ... and the equal protection and due process clauses of the Constitution.

Fair Housing Act.   Section 3604, enacted in 1968, was designed primarily to remedy racial discrimination in the rental or sale of housing.  ...  In 1974, the section was amended to prohibit sex discrimination also.


There are few cases deciding charges of sex discrimination, and detailing the parameters of the statute.  The facts here present the Court with a case of first impression in defining the limits of sex discrimination under §3604.  While sex discrimination is not specifically defined in the statute, cases construing similar language in Title VII ... have held that discrimination must involve “disparate treatment.” “[S]ex discrimination results when the opportunities or benefits offered . . .to one gender are less valuable or more restricted than those offered to the other.” DeLaurier v. San Diego Unified School District, 588 F.2d 674, 677 (9th Cir. 1978).


The Court does not find present in this case the requisite difference in treatment which would justify a finding of discrimination. A mother and daughter who reside together receive the same treatment as a father and son; neither family is eligible for rental of a two bedroom apartment. Since the essence of sex discrimination is the difference in treatment of the individual based on gender, and males and females receive similar treatment from the defendants, there is no sex discrimination.


An analogous situation was reviewed by the Fourth Circuit in a case in which plaintiff charged sex discrimination when she lost her job because of a municipal ordinance which banned commercial massages by members of the opposite sex. The court concluded that the statute was not discriminatory since “the restrictions imposed ... apply equally to males and females; neither can perform massages on customers who are members of the opposite sex.” Aldred v. Duling, 538 F.2d 637, 638 (4th Cir. 1976).9 


Plaintiffs urge the Court to rely on the Title VII discrimination test recently set forth in City of Los Angeles Dep’t of Water and Power v. Manhart, 435 U.S. 702, 711 (1978), to wit: “whether the evidence shows ‘treatment of a person in a manner which but for that person’s sex would be different.’ “ Plaintiffs contend that “but for” their sex they would be housed in larger apartments. They argue that if all other circumstances remained constant and one of the plaintiffs were of the opposite sex, e.g., if a male parent with a male child were a female parent with a male child, that family would receive a larger apartment.


However, the Court finds that the variable which determines allocation of two bedroom apartments is not the sex of the individual plaintiffs, but the composition of the family unit. A female parent with a female child and a male parent with a male child receive one bedroom apartments; a female parent with a male child and a male parent with a female child receive two bedroom apartments. Distinctions based upon factors other than the individual’s sex do not constitute sex-based discrimination. See General Electric Co. v. Gilbert,  429 U.S. 125, 134-35 (1976).10

The Court concludes that defendants’ housing allocation procedure is gender-neutral, equally affecting both men and women. Accordingly, it does not constitute sex discrimination in violation of the Fair Housing Act.

Equal Protection.  Plaintiffs also charge that defendants’ housing policy classifies potential tenants and distributes apartments on the basis of gender in violation of the equal protection clause of the Constitution.11 


At the outset, it should be noted that the policy by which defendants distribute apartments does not appear to be a gender-based classification of a type outlawed by the equal protection clause. The traditional equal protection case involves a classification that distinguishes broadly between males and females. In such cases, gender is often used “as an inaccurate proxy for other, more germane bases of classification.” Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S.190, 198 (1976).12  Yet, as has been stated previously, the underlying classification and determination of eligibility in the instant case rests on the composition of the family unit rather than the gender of the applicant. This is not a case where sex stereotyping is used as a convenient substitute for more accurate classifying criteria. 


However, even if the Court were to agree that classification of the family unit and the allocation of living space were based upon gender, defendants’ housing policy would withstand equal protection scrutiny nevertheless. ... [T]he Supreme Court has held that to withstand equal protection scrutiny “classifications by gender must serve important governmental objectives and must be substantially related to achievement of those objectives.” Orr v. Orr, 440 U.S. 268, 279 (1979), quoting Califano v. Webster, 430 U.S. 313, 316-17 (1977).


Defendants contend that the objectives of their policy are twofold: to maximize the number of persons who may occupy subsidized housing and to reduce the per capita cost of such subsidy. Rent ... is determined as a percentage of total family income; the federal subsidy provides the difference between the rent an eligible tenant pays and the actual cost of the apartment.14  It is acknowledged that there is no Constitutional right to housing of a particular size or quality. In this context and given the need to maximize use of available apartment space, the government’s interest would best be served by allocating one bedroom apartments to all single parent families. ...


However, in allocating space in Manhattan Plaza, an exception has been carved out where the best interest of parent and child may require separate sleeping accommodations. Reasonable land use regulations are permissible if they protect the public health, safety, morals or general welfare. Euclid v. Ambler, 272 U.S. 365 (1926). The general welfare is not to be narrowly construed; it embraces abroad range of governmental purposes. 


In specifying the public interest and general welfare they wish to protect, defendants have argued persuasively that the healthy psycho-social and sexual development of single parents and their children of the opposite sex are best served when each family member has his or her own bedroom.15 Moreover, they claim that individual sleeping arrangements reduce the likelihood of incest and problems relating to gender misidentification. Common societal experience and conventional wisdom confirm that beyond a certain age children ought not to share the same bedroom with a person of the opposite sex.  


Plaintiffs respond that empirical research on the potential psychological harm of having a single parent and child of the opposite sex share the same bedroom is limited. However, they do not refute the contention that a significant amount of social and emotional maldevelopment may be avoided where single parents and children of the opposite sex are given two bedroom apartments.


The Court recognizes plaintiffs’ contention that the privacy need of each family member would best be served if all single parent families with one child were given two bedroom apartments. However, limited federal and municipal resources preclude this alternative. Yet, maximizing use of federal housing subsidies and protecting the physical and mental welfare of the citizenry are certainly legitimate and substantial state interests. This Court should not “second guess” the government agency which recognized these traditional societal values and economic realities and sought to protect them. Village of Belle Terre v. Boraas, 416 U.S. 1, 8 (1974).


Classifications do not violate equal protection merely because they may be imperfect, imprecise or underinclusive. Where, as here, a standard has evolved which bears a substantial relationship to an important state interest, and which does not use sex as a convenient administrative substitute for a more accurate classifying characteristic, there is no equal protection violation.  ...


(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.32.  The defendants’ policy in Braunstein treats single-parent families differently if the parent and child are of different sexes.  The court says that this is not sex discrimination because both sexes are treated the same.   Suppose the policy was to treat married couples differently if the husband and wife were of different races.  Could you argue that this is not race discrimination because all races are treated alike?  If not, why are the two cases different?
3.33..  Assume that in these one parent-one child families 50% of the children are boys and 50% girls.  Assume also that 90% of the single parents are women.  What group of people are rendered worse off under the policy?
3.34. Are the cases cited in footnote 9 of Braunstein correctly decided?  Are they distinguishable from Braunstein?
3.35. The court in Braunstein says that any sex discrimination is substantially related to the important state interest in protecting the children from harm.  What harms does the court see as arising from parents sharing space with children of the other sex?  Are these harms important?  Is the policy substantially related to preventing them?  

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
CITY OF CLEBURNE v. CLEBURNE LIVING CENTER
473 U.S. 432 (1985)
JUSTICE WHITE delivered the opinion of the Court. A Texas city denied a special use permit for the operation of a group home for the mentally retarded, acting pursuant to a municipal zoning ordinance requiring permits for such homes. The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit held that mental retardation is a "quasi-suspect" classification, and that the ordinance violated the Equal Protection Clause because it did not substantially further an important governmental purpose. We hold that a lesser standard of scrutiny is appropriate, but conclude that, under that standard, the ordinance is invalid as applied in this case.

I. In July, 1980, respondent Jan Hannah purchased a building at 201 Featherston Street in the city of Cleburne, Texas, with the intention of leasing it to Cleburne Living Center, Inc. (CLC), for the operation of a group home for the mentally retarded. It was anticipated that the home would house 13 retarded men and women, who would be under the constant supervision of CLC staff members. The house had four bedrooms and two baths, with a half bath to be added. CLC planned to comply with all applicable state and federal regulations. 
… [U]nder the zoning regulations applicable to the site, a special use permit, renewable annually, was required for the construction of "[h]ospitals for the insane or feeble-minded, or alcoholic [sic] or drug addicts, or penal or correctional institutions." The city had determined that the proposed group home should be classified as a "hospital for the feebleminded." After holding a public hearing on CLC's application, the City Council voted 3 to 1 to deny a special use permit.4 
CLC then filed suit in Federal District Court against the city and a number of its officials, alleging, inter alia, that the zoning ordinance was invalid on its face and as applied because it discriminated against the mentally retarded in violation of the equal protection rights of CLC and its potential residents. The District Court found that,

"[i]f the potential residents of the Featherston Street home were not mentally retarded, but the home was the same in all other respects, its use would be permitted under the city's zoning ordinance," and that the City Council's decision "was motivated primarily by the fact that the residents of the home would be persons who are mentally retarded." 
Even so, the District Court held the ordinance and its application constitutional. Concluding that no fundamental right was implicated, and that mental retardation was neither a suspect nor a quasi-suspect classification, the court employed the minimum level of judicial scrutiny applicable to equal protection claims. The court deemed the ordinance, as written and applied, to be rationally related to the city's legitimate interests in "the legal responsibility of CLC and its residents, . . . the safety and fears of residents in the adjoining neighborhood," and the number of people to be housed in the home. 
The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit reversed, determining that mental retardation was a quasi-suspect classification and that it should assess the validity of the ordinance under intermediate-level scrutiny. Because mental retardation was in fact relevant to many legislative actions, strict scrutiny was not appropriate. But in light of the history of "unfair and often grotesque mistreatment" of the retarded, discrimination against them was "likely to reflect deep-seated prejudice."  In addition, the mentally retarded lacked political power, and their condition was immutable. The court considered heightened scrutiny to be particularly appropriate in this case, because the city's ordinance withheld a benefit which, although not fundamental, was very important to the mentally retarded. Without group homes, the court stated, the retarded could never hope to integrate themselves into the community.6 [T]he court held that the ordinance was invalid on its face because it did not substantially further any important governmental interests. The Court of Appeals went on to hold that the ordinance was also invalid as applied. Rehearing en banc was denied with six judges dissenting in an opinion urging en banc consideration of the panel's adoption of a heightened standard of review. We granted certiorari.

II. The Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment commands that no State shall "deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws," which is essentially a direction that all persons similarly situated should be treated alike. [T]he courts have … devised standards for determining the validity of state legislation or other official action that is challenged as denying equal protection. The general rule is that legislation is presumed to be valid, and will be sustained if the classification drawn by the statute is rationally related to a legitimate state interest.  When social or economic legislation is at issue, the Equal Protection Clause allows the States wide latitude, and the Constitution presumes that even improvident decisions will eventually be rectified by the democratic processes.

The general rule gives way, however, when a statute classifies by race, alienage, or national origin. These factors are so seldom relevant to the achievement of any legitimate state interest that laws grounded in such considerations are deemed to reflect prejudice and antipathy -- a view that those in the burdened class are not as worthy or deserving as others. For these reasons, and because such discrimination is unlikely to be soon rectified by legislative means, these laws are subjected to strict scrutiny, and will be sustained only if they are suitably tailored to serve a compelling state interest.  Similar oversight by the courts is due when state laws impinge on personal rights protected by the Constitution. 

Legislative classifications based on gender also call for a heightened standard of review. That factor generally provides no sensible ground for differential treatment.

"[W]hat differentiates sex from such nonsuspect statuses as intelligence or physical disability . . . is that the sex characteristic frequently bears no relation to ability to perform or contribute to society."

Frontiero v. Richardson,411 U. S. 677, 686 (1973) (plurality opinion). Rather than resting on meaningful considerations, statutes distributing benefits and burdens between the sexes in different ways very likely reflect outmoded notions of the relative capabilities of men and women. A gender classification fails unless it is substantially related to a sufficiently important governmental interest. … 
We have declined, however, to extend heightened review to differential treatment based on age:

"While the treatment of the aged in this Nation has not been wholly free of discrimination, such persons, unlike, say, those who have been discriminated against on the basis of race or national origin, have not experienced a 'history of purposeful unequal treatment' or been subjected to unique disabilities on the basis of stereotyped characteristics not truly indicative of their abilities."

Massachusetts Board of Retirement v. Murgia, 427 U. S. 307, 313 (1976).

The lesson of Murgia is that, where individuals in the group affected by a law have distinguishing characteristics relevant to interests the State has the authority to implement, the courts have been very reluctant, as they should be in our federal system and with our respect for the separation of powers, to closely scrutinize legislative choices as to whether, how, and to what extent those interests should be pursued. In such cases, the Equal Protection Clause requires only a rational means to serve a legitimate end.

III. Against this background, we conclude for several reasons that the Court of Appeals erred in holding mental retardation a quasi-suspect classification calling for a more exacting standard of judicial review than is normally accorded economic and social legislation. First, it is undeniable, and it is not argued otherwise here, that those who are mentally retarded have a reduced ability to cope with and function in the everyday world. Nor are they all cut from the same pattern: as the testimony in this record indicates, they range from those whose disability is not immediately evident to those who must be constantly cared for. They are thus different, immutably so, in relevant respects, and the States' interest in dealing with and providing for them is plainly a legitimate one. How this large and diversified group is to be treated under the law is a difficult and often a technical matter, very much a task for legislators guided by qualified professionals, and not by the perhaps ill-informed opinions of the judiciary. Heightened scrutiny inevitably involves substantive judgments about legislative decisions, and we doubt that the predicate for such judicial oversight is present where the classification deals with mental retardation.
Second, the distinctive legislative response, both national and state, to the plight of those who are mentally retarded demonstrates not only that they have unique problems, but also that the lawmakers have been addressing their difficulties in a manner that belies a continuing antipathy or prejudice and a corresponding need for more intrusive oversight by the judiciary. … 
Such legislation thus singling out the retarded for special treatment reflects the real and undeniable differences between the retarded and others. That a civilized and decent society expects and approves such legislation indicates that governmental consideration of those differences in the vast majority of situations is not only legitimate but also desirable. It may be, as CLC contends, that legislation designed to benefit, rather than disadvantage, the retarded would generally withstand examination under a test of heightened scrutiny.  The relevant inquiry, however, is whether heightened scrutiny is constitutionally mandated in the first instance. Even assuming that many of these laws could be shown to be substantially related to an important governmental purpose, merely requiring the legislature to justify its efforts in these terms may lead it to refrain from acting at all. Much recent legislation intended to benefit the retarded also assumes the need for measures that might be perceived to disadvantage them. The Education of the Handicapped Act, for example, requires an "appropriate" education, not one that is equal in all respects to the education of nonretarded children; clearly, admission to a class that exceeded the abilities of a retarded child would not be appropriate. Similarly, the Developmental Disabilities Assistance Act and the Texas Act give the retarded the right to live only in the "least restrictive setting" appropriate to their abilities, implicitly assuming the need for at least some restrictions that would not be imposed on others. Especially given the wide variation in the abilities and needs of the retarded themselves, governmental bodies must have a certain amount of flexibility and freedom from judicial oversight in shaping and limiting their remedial efforts.
Third, the legislative response, which could hardly have occurred and survived without public support, negates any claim that the mentally retarded are politically powerless in the sense that they have no ability to attract the attention of the lawmakers. Any minority can be said to be powerless to assert direct control over the legislature, but if that were a criterion for higher level scrutiny by the courts, much economic and social legislation would now be suspect.

Fourth, if the large and amorphous class of the mentally retarded were deemed quasi-suspect for the reasons given by the Court of Appeals, it would be difficult to find a principled way to distinguish a variety of other groups who have perhaps immutable disabilities setting them off from others, who cannot themselves mandate the desired legislative responses, and who can claim some degree of prejudice from at least part of the public at large. One need mention in this respect only the aging, the disabled, the mentally ill, and the infirm. We are reluctant to set out on that course, and we decline to do so.

Doubtless, there have been and there will continue to be instances of discrimination against the retarded that are, in fact, invidious, and that are properly subject to judicial correction under constitutional norms. But the appropriate method of reaching such instances is not to create a new quasi-suspect classification and subject all governmental action based on that classification to more searching evaluation. …
Our refusal to recognize the retarded as a quasi-suspect class does not leave them entirely unprotected from invidious discrimination. To withstand equal protection review, legislation that distinguishes between the mentally retarded and others must be rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose. This standard, we believe, affords government the latitude necessary both to pursue policies designed to assist the retarded in realizing their full potential, and to freely and efficiently engage in activities that burden the retarded in what is essentially an incidental manner. The State may not rely on a classification whose relationship to an asserted goal is so attenuated as to render the distinction arbitrary or irrational.  Furthermore, some objectives -- such as "a bare . . . desire to harm a politically unpopular group," -- are not legitimate state interests. 

IV We turn to the issue of the validity of the zoning ordinance insofar as it requires a special use permit for homes for the mentally retarded. We inquire first whether requiring a special use permit for the Featherston home in the circumstances here deprives respondents of the equal protection of the laws. If it does, there will be no occasion to decide whether the special use permit provision is facially invalid where the mentally retarded are involved, or to put it another way, whether the city may never insist on a special use permit for a home for the mentally retarded in an R-3 zone. This is the preferred course of adjudication, since it enables courts to avoid making unnecessarily broad constitutional judgments. 
The constitutional issue is clearly posed. The city does not require a special use permit in an R-3 zone for apartment houses, multiple dwellings, boarding and lodging houses, fraternity or sorority houses, dormitories, apartment hotels, hospitals, sanitariums, nursing homes for convalescents or the aged (other than for the insane or feeble-minded or alcoholics or drug addicts), private clubs or fraternal orders, and other specified uses. It does, however, insist on a special permit for the Featherston home, and it does so, as the District Court found, because it would be a facility for the mentally retarded. May the city require the permit for this facility when other care and multiple-dwelling facilities are freely permitted?

It is true, as already pointed out, that the mentally retarded, as a group, are indeed different from others not sharing their misfortune, and in this respect they may be different from those who would occupy other facilities that would be permitted in an R-3 zone without a special permit. But this difference is largely irrelevant unless the Featherston home and those who would occupy it would threaten legitimate interests of the city in a way that other permitted uses such as boarding houses and hospitals would not. Because, in our view, the record does not reveal any rational basis for believing that the Featherston home would pose any special threat to the city's legitimate interests, we affirm the judgment below insofar as it holds the ordinance invalid as applied in this case.

The District Court found that the City Council's insistence on the permit rested on several factors. First, the Council was concerned with the negative attitude of the majority of property owners located within 200 feet of the Featherston facility, as well as with the fears of elderly residents of the neighborhood. But mere negative attitudes, or fear, unsubstantiated by factors which are properly cognizable in a zoning proceeding, are not permissible bases for treating a home for the mentally retarded differently from apartment houses, multiple dwellings, and the like. It is plain that the electorate as a whole, whether by referendum or otherwise, could not order city action violative of the Equal Protection Clause, and the city may not avoid the strictures of that Clause by deferring to the wishes or objections of some fraction of the body politic. …  Second, the Council had two objections to the location of the facility. It was concerned that the facility was across the street from a junior high school, and it feared that the students might harass the occupants of the Featherston home. But the school itself is attended by about 30 mentally retarded students, and denying a permit based on such vague, undifferentiated fears is again permitting some portion of the community to validate what would otherwise be an equal protection violation. The other objection to the home's location was that it was located on "a five-hundred-year flood plain." This concern with the possibility of a flood, however, can hardly be based on a distinction between the Featherston home and, for example, nursing homes, homes for convalescents or the aged, or sanitariums or hospitals, any of which could be located on the Featherston site without obtaining a special use permit. The same may be said of another concern of the Council -- doubts about the legal responsibility for actions which the mentally retarded might take. If there is no concern about legal responsibility with respect to other uses that would be permitted in the area, such as boarding and fraternity houses, it is difficult to believe that the groups of mildly or moderately mentally retarded individuals who would live at 201 Featherston would present any different or special hazard.

Fourth, the Council was concerned with the size of the home and the number of people that would occupy it. The District Court found, and the Court of Appeals repeated, that,

"[i]f the potential residents of the Featherston Street home were not mentally retarded, but the home was the same in all other respects, its use would be permitted under the city's zoning ordinance."

Given this finding, there would be no restrictions on the number of people who could occupy this home as a boarding house, nursing home, family dwelling, fraternity house, or dormitory. The question is whether it is rational to treat the mentally retarded differently. It is true that they suffer disability not shared by others, but why this difference warrants a density regulation that others need not observe is not at all apparent. At least this record does not clarify how, in this connection, the characteristics of the intended occupants of the Featherston home rationally justify denying to those occupants what would be permitted to groups occupying the same site for different purposes. … 
In the courts below, the city also urged that the ordinance is aimed at avoiding concentration of population and at lessening congestion of the streets. These concerns obviously fail to explain why apartment houses, fraternity and sorority houses, hospitals and the like, may freely locate in the area without a permit. So, too, the expressed worry about fire hazards, the serenity of the neighborhood, and the avoidance of danger to other residents fail rationally to justify singling out a home such as 201 Featherston for the special use permit, yet imposing no such restrictions on the many other uses freely permitted in the neighborhood.

The short of it is that requiring the permit in this case appears to us to rest on an irrational prejudice against the mentally retarded, including those who would occupy the Featherston facility and who would live under the closely supervised and highly regulated conditions expressly provided for by state and federal law.

The judgment of the Court of Appeals is affirmed insofar as it invalidates the zoning ordinance as applied to the Featherston home. The judgment is otherwise vacated, and the case is remanded. It is so ordered.
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
HELLER v. DOE

509 U.S. 312 (1993)

JUSTICE KENNEDY delivered the opinion of the Court. In the Commonwealth of Kentucky, involuntary civil commitments of those alleged to be mentally retarded and of those alleged to be mentally ill are governed by separate statutory procedures. Two differences between these commitment proceedings are at issue in this case. First, at a final commitment hearing, the applicable burden of proof for involuntary commitment based on mental retardation is clear and convincing evidence, while the standard for involuntary commitment based on mental illness is beyond a reasonable doubt. Second, in commitment proceedings for mental retardation, unlike for mental illness, "[g]uardians and immediate family members" of the subject of the proceedings "may participate ... as if a party to the proceedings," with all attendant rights, including the right to present evidence and to appeal. Respondents are a class of mentally retarded persons committed involuntarily to Kentucky institutions. They argue that these distinctions are irrational and violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. …. We reject [this contention] and hold the Kentucky statutes constitutional. …
III.   [The Court decided that it would apply rational basis review in this case because that was the standard argued and applied in the courts below.] We many times have said, and but weeks ago repeated, that rational-basis review in equal protection analysis "is not a license for courts to judge the wisdom, fairness, or logic of legislative choices." FCC v. Beach Communications, Inc., 508 U. S. 307, 313 (1993). … Nor does it authorize "the judiciary [to] sit as a super-legislature to judge the wisdom or desirability of legislative policy determinations made in areas that neither affect fundamental rights nor proceed along suspect lines." New Orleans v. Dukes, 427 U. S. 297, 303 (1976) (per curiam). For these reasons, a classification neither involving fundamental rights nor proceeding along suspect lines is accorded a strong presumption of validity. … Such a classification cannot run afoul of the Equal Protection Clause if there is a rational relationship between the disparity of treatment and some legitimate governmental purpose… Further, a legislature that creates these categories need not "actually articulate at any time the purpose or rationale supporting its classification." Nordlinger, supra, at 15. See also, e. g., United States Railroad Retirement Bd. v. Fritz, 449 U. S. 166, 179 (1980)… Instead, a classification "must be upheld against equal protection challenge if there is any reasonably conceivable state of facts that could provide a rational basis for the classification." Beach Communications, supra, at 313. 
A State, moreover, has no obligation to produce evidence to sustain the rationality of a statutory classification. "[A] legislative choice is not subject to courtroom factfinding and may be based on rational speculation unsupported by evidence or empirical data." Beach Communications, supra, at 315. …A statute is presumed constitutional, see supra, at 319, and "[t]he burden is on the one attacking the legislative arrangement to negative every conceivable basis which might support it," Lehnhausen v. Lake Shore Auto Parts Co., 410 U. S. 356, 364 (1973) … whether or not the basis has a foundation in the record. Finally, courts are compelled under rational-basis review to accept a legislature's generalizations even when there is an imperfect fit between means and ends. A classification does not fail rational-basis review because it "'is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality.'" Dandridge v. Williams, at 485, quoting Lindsley v. Natural Carbonic Gas Co., 220 U. S. 61, 78 (1911). "The problems of government are practical ones and may justify, if they do not require, rough accommodations-illogical, it may be, and unscientific." Metropolis Theatre Co. v. Chicago, 228 U. S. 61, 69-70 (1913). … We have applied rational-basis review in previous cases involving the mentally retarded and the mentally ill. See Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Center, Inc., 473 U. S. 432 (1985); Schweiker v. Wilson,. In neither case did we purport to apply a different standard of rational-basis review from that just described.
True, even the standard of rationality as we so often have defined it must find some footing in the realities of the subject addressed by the legislation. That requirement is satisfied here. Kentucky has proffered more than adequate justifications for the differences in treatment between the mentally retarded and the mentally ill.
A. Kentucky argues that a lower standard of proof in commitments for mental retardation follows from the fact that mental retardation is easier to diagnose than is mental illness. That general proposition should cause little surprise, for mental retardation is a developmental disability that becomes apparent before adulthood. By the time the person reaches 18 years of age the documentation and other evidence of the condition have been accumulated for years. Mental illness, on the other hand, may be sudden and may not occur, or at least manifest itself, until adulthood. Furthermore, as we recognized in an earlier case, diagnosis of mental illness is difficult. See Addington v. Texas, 441 U. S. 418, 430 (1979). Kentucky's basic premise that mental retardation is easier to diagnose than is mental illness has a sufficient basis in fact..
This difference between the two conditions justifies Kentucky's decision to assign a lower standard of proof in commitment proceedings involving the mentally retarded. In assigning the burden of proof, Kentucky was determining the "risk of error" faced by the subject of the proceedings. Addington v. Texas, supra, at 423. If diagnosis is more difficult in cases of mental illness than in instances of mental retardation, a higher burden of proof for the former tends to equalize the risks of an erroneous determination that the subject of a commitment proceeding has the condition in question.1 See G. Keppel, Design and Analysis 65-68 (1973). From the diagnostic standpoint alone, Kentucky's differential burdens of proof (as well as the other statutory distinction at issue, are rational.
There is, moreover, a "reasonably conceivable state of facts," Beach Communications, 508 U. S., at 313, from which Kentucky could conclude that the second prerequisite to commitment-that "[t]he person presents a danger or a threat of danger to self, family, or others," Ky. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 202B.040 -is established more easily, as a general rule, in the case of the mentally retarded. Previous instances of violent behavior are an important indicator of future violent tendencies. Mental retardation is a permanent, relatively static condition, so a determination of dangerousness may be made with some accuracy based on previous behavior. We deal here with adults only, so almost by definition in the case of the retarded there is an 18-year record upon which to rely.
This is not so with the mentally ill. Manifestations of mental illness may be sudden, and past behavior may not be an adequate predictor of future actions. Prediction of future behavior is complicated as well by the difficulties inherent in diagnosis of mental illness. It is thus no surprise that many psychiatric predictions of future violent behavior by the mentally ill are inaccurate. For these reasons, it would have been plausible for Kentucky to conclude that the dangerousness determination was more accurate as to the mentally retarded than the mentally ill.
A statutory classification fails rational-basis review only when it "'rests on grounds wholly irrelevant to the achievement of the State's objective.'" Holt Civic Club v. Tuscaloosa, 439 U. S. 60, 71 (1978), quoting McGowan v. Maryland, 366 U. S. 420, 425 (1961). Because ease of diagnosis is relevant to two of the four inquiries, it is not "wholly irrelevant" to the achievement of Kentucky's objective, and thus the statutory difference in the applicable burden of proof survives rational-basis review. In any event, it is plausible for Kentucky to have found that, for purposes of determining the acceptable risk of error, diagnosis and dangerousness are the most critical factors in the commitment decision, so the appropriate burden of proof should be tied to them.
There is a further, more far-reaching rationale justifying the different burdens of proof: The prevailing methods of treatment for the mentally retarded, as a general rule, are much less invasive than are those given the mentally ill. The mentally ill are subjected to medical and psychiatric treatment which may involve intrusive inquiries into the patient's innermost thoughts, and use of psychotropic drugs, By contrast, the mentally retarded in general are not subjected to these medical treatments. Rather," 'because mental retardation is ... a learning disability and training impairment rather than an illness,'" Youngberg v. Romeo, 457 U. S. 307, 309, n. 1 (1982), the mentally retarded are provided "habilitation," which consists of education and training aimed at improving self-care and self-sufficiency skills. 

It is true that the loss of liberty following commitment for mental illness and mental retardation may be similar in many respects; but the different treatment to which a committed individual is subjected provides a rational basis for Kentucky to decide that a greater burden of proof is needed before a person may be committed for mental illness. …

These distinctions may explain, too, the differences in treatment between the mentally retarded and the mentally ill that have long existed in Anglo-American law. At English common law there was a "marked distinction" in the treatment accorded "idiots" (the mentally retarded) and "lunatics" (the mentally ill). … Ancient lineage of a legal concept does not give it immunity from attack for lacking a rational basis. That the law has long treated the classes as distinct, however, suggests that there is a commonsense distinction between the mentally retarded and the mentally ill. The differentiation continues to the present day. A large majority of States have separate involuntary commitment laws for the two groups, and many States as well have separate agencies for addressing their needs.
Kentucky's burden of proof scheme, then, can be explained by differences in the ease of diagnosis and the accuracy of the prediction of future dangerousness and by the nature of the treatment received after commitment. Each of these rationales, standing on its own, would suffice to establish a rational basis for the distinction in question.
B. There is a rational basis also for the other distinction challenged by respondents: that Kentucky allows close relatives and guardians to participate as parties in proceedings to commit the mentally retarded but not the mentally ill. As we have noted, by definition, mental retardation has its onset during a person's developmental period. Mental retardation, furthermore, results in "deficits or impairments in adaptive functioning," that is to say, "the person's effectiveness in areas such as social skills, communication, and daily living skills, and how well the person meets the standards of personal independence and social responsibility expected of his or her age by his or her cultural group." Manual of Mental Disorders 28-29. Based on these facts, Kentucky may have concluded that close relatives and guardians, both of whom likely have intimate knowledge of a mentally retarded person's abilities and experiences, have valuable insights that should be considered during the involuntary commitment process.
Mental illness, by contrast, may arise or manifest itself with suddenness only after minority, when the afflicted person's immediate family members have no knowledge of the medical condition and have long ceased to provide care and support. Further, determining the proper course of treatment may be far less dependent upon observations made in a household setting. Indeed, we have noted the severe difficulties inherent in psychiatric diagnosis conducted by experts in the field.  In addition, adults previously of sound mental health who are diagnosed as mentally ill may have a need for privacy that justifies the State in confining a commitment proceeding to the smallest group compatible with due process. Based on these facts, Kentucky may have concluded that participation as parties by relatives and guardians of the mentally ill would not in most cases have been of sufficient help to the trier of fact to justify the additional burden and complications of granting party status. To be sure, Kentucky could have provided relatives and guardians of the mentally retarded some participation in commitment proceedings by methods short of providing them status as parties. That, however, is irrelevant in rational-basis review. …
v. In sum, there are plausible rationales for each of the statutory distinctions challenged by respondents in this case. It could be that "[t]he assumptions underlying these rationales [are] erroneous, but the very fact that they are 'arguable' is sufficient, on rational-basis review, to 'immunize' the [legislative] choice from constitutional challenge." Beach Communications, 508 U. S., at 320. The judgment of the Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit is Reversed.
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.36.  In Cleberne, what reasons does the court give for not applying heightened scrutiny?
3.37.  In Cleberne, what were the city’s reasons for refusing to grant the special use permit?  How does the Court address each of them? Why doesn’t the neighbors’ fear justify the refusal?

3.38.  At the beginning of Part III in Heller, the Court provides a description of the operation of rational basis scrutiny.  In what ways does the analysis in Cleberne seem to differ from this description?  
3.39.  In Heller, the Court finds rational the different treatment of persons with mental retardation and persons with mental illness. In Cleberne, the Court finds irrational the different treatment of group homes for the mentally retarded and other group living situations in the same neighborhood.  What reasons might justify this distinction?
.(  (  (  (  (  (  (
BANGERTER v. OREM CITY CORP.

46 F.3d 1491 (10th Cir. 1995)

EBEL, Circuit Judge:  Plaintiff-Appellant Brad Bangerter , a mentally disabled  adult, alleges that zoning actions taken by Defendant-Appellee, Orem City, Utah, violated the Fair Housing Act [Amendments].  In particular, Bangerter claims that conditions placed by Orem on zoning approval for a group home for the mentally retarded in which Bangerter lived, and the Utah statute and local ordinance pursuant to which those conditions were imposed, discriminated against Bangerter because of his handicap in violation of the FHAA.  The district court dismissed Bangerter’s claims pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), and he now appeals.  We hold that the district court prematurely dismissed this action and incorrectly applied an equal protection  analysis to Bangerter’s statutory claims under the FHAA.  Accordingly, we  reverse and remand.

BACKGROUND.  In late December 1989, Utah mental health officials discharged Bangerter from the Utah State Developmental Center to a group home in an Orem residential neighborhood zoned R-1-8, single family residential.  Although technically designated as “single family,” Orem allows a number of uses in its R-1-8 zone category, including nurses’ homes, foster family care homes, convents, monasteries, rectories, and, pursuant to state law, group homes for the elderly. In addition, Orem allows group homes for the mentally or physically handicapped to be located in areas zoned R-1-8 provided that the homes obtain a conditional use permit.
 … The group home into which Bangerter was placed was established pursuant to a contract between the home’s operator, RLO, Inc. and the Division of Services for People With Disabilities of the Utah State Department of Human Services (“Division”).   However, RLO had not obtained a conditional use permit, as required by an Orem ordinance … when Bangerter moved to the group home to live with three other mentally retarded men.  At Orem’s insistence, RLO subsequently applied for the permit, which the Orem City Council granted, subject to conditions permitted [by state law] after reviewing the application during public hearings held in February and March 1990.


In granting the permit on March 13, 1990, the Council imposed two conditions on the group home that Bangerter alleges violate the FHAA:

[1] [the group home operator] had to ensure the City that the residents were properly supervised on a twenty-four-hour basis;  [and]

[2] [the group home operator] had to establish a community advisory committee through which all complaints and concerns of the neighbors could be addressed. 

  
On March 15, 1991, Bangerter was transferred to a different group home in Provo, and he has not since lived at the … group home in question in the instant action.  Bangerter filed this action … asking for declaratory, injunctive, and monetary relief [claiming inter alia] that the conditions allowed by Utah [law] and imposed by the Orem City Council in granting the conditional use permit were preempted by and in violation of the FHAA….

  
In response to Bangerter’s complaint, Orem filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6), and the court dismissed … Bangerter’s causes of action.  The court first addressed the issue of standing and concluded that Bangerter possessed standing to challenge the imposition of the 24-hour supervision requirement because Bangerter belongs to a protected class under the FHAA and alleged an actual injury in the form of the 24-hour supervision requirement’s interference with his ability to live independently and his right of privacy. The court … held that Bangerter alleged a prima facie case that Orem’s housing ordinance violates the FHAA because it treats handicapped individuals differently from non-handicapped residents.  Nonetheless, the court concluded that the challenged ordinance and the 24-hour supervision requirement did not violate the FHAA because they were rationally related to the legitimate government interest of integrating the handicapped “into normal surroundings.”   …  [W]e hold that the district court incorrectly evaluated the challenged conduct under the FHAA and  impermissibly relied on factual findings in dismissing Bangerter’s complaint.

DISCUSSION ...  As a preliminary matter, we note that the district court correctly found that Bangerter, a mentally retarded adult, is within the class of persons protected by the FHAA.  In amending the Fair Housing Act …  
Furthermore, the FHAA’s prohibitions clearly extend to discriminatory zoning practices.  The House Committee Report accompanying the FHAA states that the FHAA “is intended to prohibit the application of special requirements through land-use regulations, restrictive covenants, and conditional or special use permits that have the effect of limiting the ability of [the handicapped] to live in the residence of their choice in the community.”  Prohibited practices include not only those that make the sale or rental of housing unavailable, but also those that impose discriminatory terms, conditions, or privileges of sale or rental of a dwelling, or in the provision of services or facilities in connection with such dwelling…  Thus, Bangerter may bring suit under the FHAA to challenge the restrictions placed on the operation of his group home even though the home was issued a conditional use permit. ...  

  
Bangerter attempts to show that Orem has violated the FHAA by intentionally discriminating against him as a handicapped person, taking actions that produced discriminatory effects against him, and failing to provide reasonable accommodations in its zoning policies.  The district court stated that Bangerter did not allege that Orem acted with a discriminatory motive, and thus could not state a claim for discriminatory intent.
  The court concluded that Bangerter made out a prima facie case of discrimination because the challenged statute and ordinance treat the handicapped differently on their face.  Nonetheless, the court concluded that no cause of action could be stated against Orem based on its permitting ordinance because the permitting process was rationally related to the legitimate governmental interest of ensuring integrated housing for the disabled.  … [T]he district court utilized the wrong legal standard in applying the FHAA, and that … requires us to reverse and remand for reconsideration under the proper standard.

  
We first consider the nature of Bangerter’s claims under the FHAA and conclude that Bangerter’s action should be construed only as one for intentional discrimination.  Next we outline the elements of an intentional discrimination claim and hold that Bangerter has made allegations sufficient to state a claim of intentional discrimination under the FHAA and to withstand a motion to dismiss.  Finally, we outline the legal standard the district court should apply to review Bangerter’s claims and Orem’s possible defenses on remand.

1.  Characterization of the Claim as One for Intentional Discrimination.  We hold, contrary to the district court, that Bangerter’s claims are properly characterized as claims of intentional discrimination and should be analyzed in the established framework for such claims.  Here, the Act and the Orem ordinance facially single out the handicapped and apply different rules to them.  Thus, the discriminatory intent and purpose of the Act and Ordinance are apparent on their face.  Whether such discrimination is legal or illegal remains to be determined, but there can be no doubt that the Act and Ordinance are discriminatory.
 …  [A] plaintiff need not prove the malice or discriminatory animus of a defendant to make out a case of intentional discrimination where the defendant expressly treats someone protected by the FHAA in a different manner than others.
  Thus, a plaintiff makes out a prima facie case of intentional discrimination under the FHAA merely by showing that a protected group has been subjected to explicitly differential–i.e. discriminatory–treatment.

In applying a discriminatory intent analysis to this case, we do not imply that FHAA claims cannot also be based on the discriminatory effect of a facially neutral policy.  It is widely accepted that an FHAA violation can be demonstrated by either disparate treatment or disparate impact.  See, e.g., Huntington Branch; Metropolitan Hous. Dev. Corp. v. Village of Arlington Heights.  We also do not suggest that the differential treatment in this case has not caused a “disparate impact” on the handicapped in an everyday sense–as probably all intentional discriminatory treatment does.  However, the legal framework for discriminatory effects, or disparate impact, claims remains inappropriate for this case.  “A disparate impact analysis examines a facially-neutral policy or practice, such as a hiring test or zoning law, for its differential impact or effect on a particular group.  Disparate treatment analysis, on the other hand, involves differential treatment of similarly situated persons or groups.”  Huntington Branch.  Because Bangerter challenges facially discriminatory actions and not the effects of facially neutral actions, we conclude that his claim is one of disparate treatment and not disparate impact.

We also conclude that Bangerter has not stated a valid claim that Orem’s refusal to waive the 24-hour supervision and community advisory committee requirements constitutes a refusal by Orem to make a reasonable accommodation for the handicapped in its zoning policies.  Under the FHAA, discrimination on the basis of handicap includes a “refusal to make reasonable accommodations in rules, policies, practices, or services, when such accommodations may be necessary to afford such person equal opportunity to use and enjoy a dwelling.”  However, the thrust of a reasonable accommodation claim is that a defendant must make an affirmative change in an otherwise valid law or policy.  By one court’s definition, a “reasonable accommodation” involves “changing some rule that is generally applicable so as to make its burden less onerous on the handicapped individual.”  Oxford House, Inc. v. Township of Cherry Hill, 799 F.Supp. 450, 462 n.25 (D.N.J.1992).  Here, Bangerter does not challenge an ordinance that is generally applicable, since it is specifically directed at group homes for the handicapped.  Under these facts, we conclude that the claim for “reasonable accommodation” is simply inappropriate and the district court correctly dismissed that claim. 


2.  Dismissal Under Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(b)(6).  Applying a discriminatory treatment framework, we hold that the district court improperly dismissed Bangerter’s action. ...  We agree with the district court’s initial conclusion that Bangerter made out a prima facie case of discrimination under the FHAA. “The ultimate question in a disparate treatment case is whether the defendant intentionally discriminated against plaintiff.”  Honce v. Vigil.  Here, the imposition of special conditions on the permit granted for Bangerter’s group home, and the ordinance and statute pursuant to which the conditions were authorized, expressly apply only to group homes for the handicapped.  In particular, it was alleged that the 24-hour supervision condition regulated the lives of Bangerter and the other handicapped residents of the group home in a way not suffered by non-handicapped residents of other group homes.  Thus, Bangerter’s complaint states a direct claim of facially discriminatory treatment of handicapped persons.  Nonetheless, the district court dismissed Bangerter’s action because the court concluded that the challenged restrictions were “rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose.” However, there was no basis in this record to conclude–at least not on a 12(b)(6) motion–what legitimate government purposes were involved or how these restrictions related to those purposes.  Orem’s justifications for its actions certainly cannot be found within the confines of Bangerter’s complaint.  Focusing solely on Bangerter’s pleadings, we conclude that Bangerter states a legally sufficient claim of discrimination under the FHAA and reverse the district court’s dismissal.

3.  Issues for Remand.  On remand, Bangerter will have to introduce evidence to support his allegations of discrimination. … Bangerter must support his basic claim that his group home was subjected to conditions not imposed on other group homes in Orem that were permitted in areas zoned R-1-8 for single family residences.  If Bangerter cannot show that group homes for the non-handicapped are permitted in Orem without requirements like the 24-hour supervision or neighborhood advisory committee requirements, he will have failed to show that he has suffered differential treatment when compared to a similarly situated group, and his claims will fail under the FHAA. 

  
In addition, on remand the district court will have to consider Orem’s justifications for its discriminatory treatment of Bangerter and its proffered reasons for imposing the challenged conditions.  At least two potential justifications seem relevant for inquiry here:  (1) public safety; and (2) benign discrimination. However, first we address the district court’s use of the rational relationship test to review Orem’s challenged actions.

The district court analyzed Orem’s actions pursuant to the rational relationship test borrowed from Equal Protection Clause jurisprudence, and the court stated that the challenged restrictions should be upheld if “rationally related to a legitimate governmental purpose.”.  The district court relied principally on the Eighth Circuit’s decision in Familystyle [of St. Paul v. City of St. Paul, Minn., 923 F.2d 91, 94 (8th Cir.1991)], which held that government policies that discriminate against the handicapped should not receive heightened scrutiny because the handicapped are not a “suspect class.” (citing City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., 473 U.S. 432, 446 (1975)).  However, the use of an Equal Protection analysis is misplaced here because this case involves a federal statute and not the Fourteenth Amendment.  As the Tenth Circuit has said, a plaintiff’s “inability to properly assert a right under the Fourteenth Amendment is not of concern when examining [the plaintiff’s] claims brought pursuant to the Fair Housing Act.” [Housing Authority of the Kaw Tribe of Indians v. City of Ponca City, 952 F.2d 1183, 1193 (10th Cir.1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct. 1945 (1992).]  Moreover, the FHAA specifically makes the handicapped a protected class for purposes of a statutory claim–they are the direct object of the statutory protection–even if they are not a protected class for constitutional purposes. 

The proper approach is to look to the language of the FHAA itself, and to the manner in which analogous provisions of Title VII have been interpreted, in order to determine what justifications are available to sustain intentional discrimination against the handicapped.  First, the FHAA expressly allows discrimination rooted in public safety concerns when it provides that “[n]othing in this subsection requires that a dwelling be made available to an individual whose tenancy would constitute a direct threat to the health or safety of other individuals or whose tenancy would result in substantial physical damage to the property of others.”  42 U.S.C. §3604(f)(9).  We read section 3604(f)(9) as permitting reasonable restrictions on the terms or conditions of housing when justified by public safety concerns, given that housing can be denied altogether for those same reasons.  However, the exceptions to the FHAA’s prohibitions on discrimination should be narrowly construed.  

Restrictions predicated on public safety cannot be based on blanket stereotypes about the handicapped, but must be tailored to particularized concerns about individual residents.  As the FHAA’s legislative history declares, the FHAA “repudiates the use of stereotypes and ignorance, and mandates that persons with handicaps be considered as individuals.  Generalized perceptions about disabilities and unfounded speculations about threats to safety are specifically rejected as grounds to justify exclusion.”  H.R.Rep. No. 100-711.  Any special requirements placed on housing for the handicapped based on concerns for the protection of the disabled themselves or the community must be “individualiz[ed] ... to the needs or abilities of particular kinds of developmental disabilities,” Mabrunak, Inc. v. City of Stow, Ohio, 974 F.2d 43, 47 (6th Cir.1992), and must have a “necessary correlation to the actual abilities of the persons upon whom it is imposed,”  Potomac Group Home v. Montgomery County, Md., 823 F.Supp. 1285, 1300 (D.Md.1993).

Here, there is no showing that the Orem restrictions were individualized to the residents of the … home.  For example, there is no evidence or pleadings here to support a conclusion that the residents of this particular home were so mentally disabled that they needed 24-hour supervision or that they had any tendencies that would support the need for a neighborhood advisory committee. However, on remand the court should explore the public safety aspect of these requirements.  For example, the supervision requirement was simply that the operator had to ensure Orem that the residents were “properly supervised on a twenty-four hour basis.”  We cannot tell on this record whether that required on-site supervision the entire time, or whether off-site supervision might have been used to some extent, and we cannot tell the nature of the supervision or how oppressive or benign it might have been.  Thus, we cannot determine whether this restriction could be justified under §3604(f)(9) without more facts in this record.

Second, the FHAA should not be interpreted to preclude special restrictions upon the disabled that are really beneficial to, rather than discriminatory against, the handicapped.
  In this regard we are guided by employment discrimination cases and Title VII jurisprudence to inform our reading of the Fair Housing Act.  Honce; Huntington Branch.

  
In the employment discrimination context, the Supreme Court has held that Title VII’s bar on all discrimination on the basis of race should not be read literally.  United Steelworkers of America, AFL-CIO-CLC v. Weber, 443 U.S. 193, 201-08 (1979).  Instead, the statute should be interpreted “against the background of the legislative history of Title VII and the historical context from which the Act arose,” and should not be construed to prohibit race-conscious affirmative action that promotes “the ultimate statutory goals” of expanding employment opportunities for minorities.

  
The underlying objective of the FHAA is to “extend[ ] the principle of equal housing opportunity to handicapped persons,” H.R.Rep. No. 100-711, and end discrimination against the handicapped in the provision of housing based on prejudice, stereotypes, and ignorance, id.  Removing discrimination in housing promotes “the goal of independent living” and is part of Congress’s larger “commitment to end the unnecessary exclusion of persons with handicaps from the American mainstream.”  Id.

We should be chary about accepting the justification that a particular restriction upon the handicapped really advances their housing opportunities rather than discriminates against them in housing.  Restrictions that are based upon unsupported stereotypes or upon prejudice and fear stemming from ignorance or generalizations, for example, would not pass muster.  However, restrictions that are narrowly tailored to the particular individuals affected could be acceptable under the FHAA if the benefit to the handicapped in their housing opportunities clearly outweigh whatever burden may result to them.  In the context of facially neutral government actions that have a discriminatory impact on the handicapped or other groups protected by the Fair Housing Act, courts have uniformly allowed defendants to justify their conduct despite the discriminatory impact if they can prove that they “furthered, in theory and in practice, a legitimate, bona fide governmental interest and that no alternative would serve that interest with less discriminatory effect.”  Huntington Branch.

A similar approach has been suggested in the context of intentional race-based discrimination under the FHAA.  For example, in South-Suburban, the Seventh Circuit upheld selective marketing activities designed to interest white buyers in purchasing houses in traditionally black neighborhoods, even though such efforts of necessity diminished the likelihood that such homes would be available for black buyers.  In Otero v. New York City Hous. Auth., the Second Circuit allowed a housing authority to seek to justify under Title VIII a change in leasing policy in order to facilitate white participation in a housing project that was otherwise faced with the prospect of becoming predominantly black and segregated. Even those courts that have invalidated particular race-conscious policies have left some room for other policies that restrict minorities in limited ways in order to foster integration and the overarching policies of the Fair Housing Act.  In Starrett City, for example, the Second Circuit acknowledged that race-conscious plans burdening a minority might be upheld if they are temporary, flexible in nature, and designed ultimately to achieve the FHAA’s goal of integration.  …

  
These courts all recognize the importance of leaving room for flexible solutions to address the complex problem of discrimination and to realize the goals established by Congress in the Fair Housing Act.  However, once again, such an analysis cannot be performed on the pleadings alone.  For example, with regard to the neighborhood advisory committee, it would be helpful for the court to explore how such a committee operated, what burdens it imposed upon the handicapped residents of the … home, what benefits such a committee provided to the handicapped residents, and what the motivations and intentions were of the City of Orem in imposing such a restriction.
  It could be that the evidence will show that such a neighborhood advisory committee might prove to be beneficial to the handicapped, increasing their access to, and acceptability in, the neighborhood.  Only after a record has been developed can the district court, and ultimately our Court, determine whether these restrictions violate of the FHAA. 
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DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.40.  The trial court and the Eighth Circuit in Familystyle, used rational basis scrutiny intentional discrimination claims under FHAA 3604(f).  Why does the Tenth Circuit reject this approach? What does it use instead?  Whose approach seems best to you?
3.41.
In the paragraph beginning at the bottom of page 140, the court describes situations in which exceptions to the literal language of the FHAA are possible.  Describe these in your own words.


(a) How would this analysis apply to the facts in Cleberne?


(b) How would this analysis apply to the facts in Heller (assuming fair housing standards could be used).


(c) How do you think this analysis, on remand, would address the restrictions at issue in Bangerter itself?
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ROMER v. EVANS 

116 S. Ct. 1620 (1996)

JUSTICE KENNEDY delivered the opinion of the Court.  One century ago, the first Justice Harlan admonished this Court that the Constitution “neither knows nor tolerates classes among citizens.” Plessy v. Ferguson, 163 U.S. 537, 559 (1896) (dissenting opinion). Unheeded then, those words now are understood to state a commitment to the law’s neutrality where the rights of persons are at stake. The Equal Protection Clause enforces this principle and today requires us to hold invalid a provision of Colorado’s Constitution.

I.  
The enactment challenged in this case is an amendment to the Constitution of the State of Colorado, adopted in a 1992 statewide referendum. The parties and the state courts refer to it as “Amendment 2,” its designation when submitted to the voters. The impetus for the amendment and the contentious campaign that preceded its adoption came in large part from ordinances that had been passed in various Colorado municipalities. For example, the cities of Aspen and Boulder and the City and County of Denver each had enacted ordinances which banned discrimination in many transactions and activities, including housing, employment, education, public accommodations, and health and welfare services. What gave rise to the statewide controversy was the protection the ordinances afforded to persons discriminated against by reason of their sexual orientation. Amendment 2 repeals these ordinances to the extent they prohibit discrimination on the basis of “homosexual, lesbian or bisexual orientation, conduct, practices or relationships.”

   
Yet Amendment 2, in explicit terms, does more than repeal or rescind these provisions. It prohibits all legislative, executive or judicial action at any level of state or local government designed to protect the named class, a class we shall refer to as homosexual persons or gays and lesbians. The amendment reads:

 No Protected Status Based on Homosexual, Lesbian, or Bisexual Orientation. Neither the State of Colorado, through any of its branches or departments, nor any of its agencies, political subdivisions, municipalities or school districts, shall enact, adopt or enforce any statute, regulation, ordinance or policy whereby homosexual, lesbian or bisexual orientation, conduct, practices or relationships shall constitute or otherwise be the basis of or entitle any person or class of persons to have or claim any minority status, quota preferences, protected status or claim of discrimination. … 
Soon after Amendment 2 was adopted, this litigation to declare its invalidity and enjoin its enforcement was commenced in the District Court for the City and County of Denver.  ...  The trial court granted a preliminary injunction to stay enforcement of Amendment 2, and an appeal was taken to the Supreme Court of Colorado. Sustaining the interim injunction and remanding the case for further proceedings, the State Supreme Court held that Amendment 2 was subject to strict scrutiny under the Fourteenth Amendment because it infringed the fundamental right of gays and lesbians to participate in the political process. ... On remand, the State advanced various arguments in an effort to show that Amendment 2 was narrowly tailored to serve compelling interests, but the trial court found none sufficient. It enjoined enforcement of Amendment 2, and the Supreme Court of Colorado … affirmed the ruling. We granted certiorari and now affirm the judgment, but on a rationale different from that adopted by the State Supreme Court.

II.   
The State’s principal argument in defense of Amendment 2 is that it puts gays and lesbians in the same position as all other persons.  So, the State says, the measure does no more than deny homosexuals special rights. This reading of the amendment’s language is implausible. We rely not upon our own interpretation of the amendment but upon the authoritative construction of Colorado’s Supreme Court. The state court, deeming it unnecessary to determine the full extent of the amendment’s reach, found it invalid even on a modest reading of its implications. The critical discussion of the amendment … is as follows:  

The immediate objective of Amendment 2 is, at a minimum, to repeal existing statutes, regulations, ordinances, and policies of state and local entities that barred discrimination based on sexual orientation ... and various provisions prohibiting discrimination based on sexual orientation at state colleges.  ... The ‘ultimate effect’ of Amendment 2 is to prohibit any governmental entity from adopting similar, or more protective statutes, regulations, ordinances, or policies in the future unless the state constitution is first amended to permit such measures. 
   
Sweeping and comprehensive is the change in legal status effected by this law. So much is evident from the ordinances that the Colorado Supreme Court declared would be void by operation of Amendment 2. Homosexuals, by state decree, are put in a solitary class with respect to transactions and relations in both the private and governmental spheres. The amendment withdraws from homosexuals, but no others, specific legal protection from the injuries caused by discrimination, and it forbids reinstatement of these laws and policies.

   
The change that Amendment 2 works in the legal status of gays and lesbians in the private sphere is far-reaching, both on its own terms and when considered in light of the structure and operation of modern anti-discrimination laws. That structure is well illustrated by contemporary statutes and ordinances prohibiting discrimination by providers of public accommodations. “At common law, innkeepers, smiths, and others who ‘made profession of a public employment,’ were prohibited from refusing, without good reason, to serve a customer.” Hurley  v. Irish-American Gay, Lesbian and Bisexual Group of Boston, 515 U.S. ___  (1995). The duty was a general one and did not specify protection for particular groups. The common law rules, however, proved insufficient in many instances, and it was settled early that the Fourteenth Amendment did not give Congress a general power to prohibit discrimination in public accommodations, Civil Rights Cases, 109 U.S. 3, 25 (1883). In consequence, most States have chosen to counter discrimination by enacting detailed statutory schemes.

   
Colorado’s state and municipal laws typify this emerging tradition of statutory protection and follow a consistent pattern. The laws first enumerate the persons or entities subject to a duty not to discriminate. The list goes well beyond the entities covered by the common law. The Boulder ordinance, for example, has a comprehensive definition of entities deemed places of “public accommodation.” They include “any place of business engaged in any sales to the general public and any place that offers services, facilities, privileges, or advantages to the general public or that receives financial support through solicitation of the general public or through governmental subsidy of any kind.” …

   
These statutes and ordinances also depart from the common law by enumerating the groups or persons within their ambit of protection. Enumeration is the essential device used to make the duty not to discriminate concrete and to provide guidance for those who must comply. In following this approach, Colorado’s state and local governments have not limited anti-discrimination laws to groups that have so far been given the protection of heightened equal protection scrutiny under our cases. Rather, they set forth an extensive catalogue of traits which cannot be the basis for discrimination, including age, military status, marital status, pregnancy, parenthood, custody of a minor child, political affiliation, physical or mental disability of an individual or of his or her associates and, in recent times, sexual orientation.

   
Amendment 2 bars homosexuals from securing protection against the injuries that these public-accommodations laws address. That in itself is a severe consequence, but there is more. Amendment 2, in addition, nullifies specific legal protections for this targeted class in all transactions in housing, sale of real estate, insurance, health and welfare services, private education, and employment.

   
Not confined to the private sphere, Amendment 2 also operates to repeal and forbid all laws or policies providing specific protection for gays or lesbians from discrimination by every level of Colorado government. The State Supreme Court cited two examples of protections in the governmental sphere that are now rescinded and may not be reintroduced. The first is Colorado Executive Order D0035 (1990), which forbids employment discrimination against “‘all state employees, classified and exempt’ on the basis of sexual orientation.” Also repealed, and now forbidden, are “various provisions prohibiting discrimination based on sexual orientation at state colleges.” The repeal of these measures and the prohibition against their future reenactment demonstrates that Amendment 2 has the same force and effect in Colorado’s governmental sector as it does elsewhere and that it applies to policies as well as ordinary legislation.

   
Amendment 2’s reach may not be limited to specific laws passed for the benefit of gays and lesbians. It is a fair, if not necessary, inference from the broad language of the amendment that it deprives gays and lesbians even of the protection of general laws and policies that prohibit arbitrary discrimination in governmental and private settings. See, e.g., Colo. Rev. Stat. §24-4-106(7) (1988) (agency action subject to judicial review under arbitrary and capricious standard); §18-8-405 (making it a criminal offense for a public servant knowingly, arbitrarily or capriciously to refrain from performing a duty imposed on him by law); §10-3-1104(1)(f) (prohibiting “unfair discrimination” in insurance); 4 Colo. Code of Regulations 801-1, Policy 11-1 (1983) (prohibiting discrimination in state employment on grounds of specified traits or “other non-merit factor”). At some point in the systematic administration of these laws, an official must determine whether homosexuality is an arbitrary and thus forbidden basis for decision. Yet a decision to that effect would itself amount to a policy prohibiting discrimination on the basis of homosexuality, and so would appear to be no more valid under Amendment 2 than the specific prohibitions against discrimination the state court held invalid.

   
If this consequence follows from Amendment 2, as its broad language suggests, it would compound the constitutional difficulties the law creates. The state court did not decide whether the amendment has this effect, however, and neither need we. In the course of rejecting the argument that Amendment 2 is intended to conserve resources to fight discrimination against suspect classes, the Colorado Supreme Court made the limited observation that the amendment is not intended to affect many anti-discrimination laws protecting non-suspect classes. In our view that does not resolve the issue. In any event, even if, as we doubt, homosexuals could find some safe harbor in laws of general application, we cannot accept the view that Amendment 2’s prohibition on specific legal protections does no more than deprive homosexuals of special rights. To the contrary, the amendment imposes a special disability upon those persons alone. Homosexuals are forbidden the safeguards that others enjoy or may seek without constraint. They can obtain specific protection against discrimination only by enlisting the citizenry of Colorado to amend the state constitution or perhaps, on the State’s view, by trying to pass helpful laws of general applicability. This is so no matter how local or discrete the harm, no matter how public and widespread the injury. We find nothing special in the protections Amendment 2 withholds. These are protections taken for granted by most people either because  they already have them or do not need them; these are protections against exclusion from an almost limitless number of transactions and endeavors that constitute ordinary civic life in a free society.

III.   
The Fourteenth Amendment’s promise that no person shall be denied the equal protection of the laws must co-exist with the practical necessity that most legislation classifies for one purpose or another, with resulting disadvantage to various groups or persons. We have attempted to reconcile the principle with the reality by stating that, if a law neither burdens a fundamental right nor targets a suspect class, we will uphold the legislative classification so long as it bears a rational relation to some legitimate end.

   
Amendment 2 fails, indeed defies, even this conventional inquiry. First, the amendment has the peculiar property of imposing a broad and undifferentiated disability on a single named group, an exceptional and, as we shall explain, invalid form of legislation. Second, its sheer breadth is so discontinuous with the reasons offered for it that the amendment seems inexplicable by anything but animus toward the class that it affects; it lacks a rational relationship to legitimate state interests.

   
Taking the first point, even in the ordinary equal protection case calling for the most deferential of standards, we insist on knowing the relation between the classification adopted and the object to be attained. The search for the link between classification and objective gives substance to the Equal Protection Clause; it provides guidance and discipline for the legislature, which is entitled to know what sorts of laws it can pass; and it marks the limits of our own authority. In the ordinary case, a law will be sustained if it can be said to advance a legitimate government interest, even if the law seems unwise or works to the disadvantage of a particular group, or if the rationale for it seems tenuous. … See New Orleans  v. Dukes, 427 U.S. 297 (1976) (tourism benefits justified classification favoring pushcart vendors of certain longevity); Williamson v. Lee Optical of Okla., Inc., 348 U.S. 483 (1955) (assumed health concerns justified law favoring optometrists over opticians)…. The laws challenged in the cases just cited were narrow enough in scope and grounded in a sufficient factual context for us to ascertain that there existed some relation between the classification and the purpose it served. By requiring that the classification bear a rational relationship to an independent and legitimate legislative end, we ensure that classifications are not drawn for the purpose of disadvantaging the group burdened by the law.

   
Amendment 2 confounds this normal process of judicial review. It is at once too narrow and too broad. It identifies persons by a single trait and then denies them protection across the board. The resulting disqualification of a class of persons from the right to seek specific protection from the law is unprecedented in our jurisprudence. The absence of precedent for Amendment 2 is itself instructive; “discriminations of an unusual character especially suggest careful consideration to determine whether they are obnoxious to the constitutional provision.” Louisville Gas & Elec. Co.  v. Coleman, 277 U.S. 32, 37-38 (1928).

   
It is not within our constitutional tradition to enact laws of this sort. Central both to the idea of the rule of law and to our own Constitution’s guarantee of equal protection is the principle that government and each of its parts remain open on impartial terms to all who seek its assistance. “‘Equal protection of the laws is not achieved through indiscriminate imposition of inequalities.’” Sweatt v. Painter, 339 U.S. 629, 635 (1950) (quoting Shelley v. Kraemer, 334 U.S. 1, 22 (1948)). Respect for this principle explains why laws singling out a certain class of citizens for disfavored legal status or general hardships are rare. A law declaring that in general it shall be more difficult for one group of citizens than for all others to seek aid from the government is itself a denial of equal protection of the laws in the most literal sense. “The guaranty of ‘equal protection of the laws is a pledge of the protection of equal laws.’” Skinner v. Oklahoma ex rel. Williamson, 316 U.S. 535, 541 (1942) (quoting Yick Wo v. Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, 369 (1886)).

   
Davis  v. Beason, 133 U.S. 333 (1890), not cited by the parties but relied upon by the dissent, is not evidence that Amendment 2 is within our constitutional tradition, and any reliance upon it as authority for sustaining the amendment is misplaced. In Davis, the Court approved an Idaho territorial statute denying Mormons, polygamists, and advocates of polygamy the right to vote and to hold office because, as the Court construed the statute, it “simply excludes from the privilege of voting, or of holding any office of honor, trust or profit, those who have been convicted of certain offences, and those who advocate a practical resistance to the laws of the Territory and justify and approve the commission of crimes forbidden by it.” To the extent Davis held that persons advocating a certain practice may be denied the right to vote, it is no longer good law. Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969). To the extent it held that the groups designated in the statute may be deprived of the right to vote because of their status, its ruling could not stand without surviving strict scrutiny, a most doubtful outcome. To the extent Davis held that a convicted felon may be denied the right to vote, its holding is not implicated by our decision and is unexceptionable. 

   
A second and related point is that laws of the kind now before us raise the inevitable inference that the disadvantage imposed is born of animosity toward the class of persons affected. “If the constitutional conception of ‘equal protection of the laws’ means anything, it must at the very least mean that a bare ... desire to harm a politically unpopular group cannot constitute a legitimate governmental interest.” Department of Agriculture v. Moreno, 413 U.S. 528, 534 (1973). Even laws enacted for broad and ambitious purposes often can be explained by reference to legitimate public policies which justify the incidental disadvantages they impose on certain persons. Amendment 2, however, in making a general announcement that gays and lesbians shall not have any particular protections from the law, inflicts on them immediate, continuing, and real injuries that outrun and belie any legitimate justifications that may be claimed for it. We conclude that, in addition to the far-reaching deficiencies of Amendment 2 that we have noted, the principles it offends, in another sense, are conventional and venerable; a law must bear a rational relationship to a legitimate governmental purpose, and Amendment 2 does not.

   
The primary rationale the State offers for Amendment 2 is respect for other citizens’ freedom of association, and in particular the liberties of landlords or employers who have personal or religious objections to homosexuality. Colorado also cites its interest in conserving resources to fight discrimination against other groups. The breadth of the Amendment is so far removed from these particular justifications that we find it impossible to credit them. We cannot say that Amendment 2 is directed to any identifiable legitimate purpose or discrete objective. It is a status-based enactment divorced from any factual context from which we could discern a relationship to legitimate state interests; it is a classification of persons undertaken for its own sake, something the Equal Protection Clause does not permit. … 

   
We must conclude that Amendment 2 classifies homosexuals not to further a proper legislative end but to make them unequal to everyone else. This Colorado cannot do. A State cannot so deem a class of persons a stranger to its laws. Amendment 2 violates the Equal Protection Clause, and the judgment of the Supreme Court of Colorado is affirmed.

JUSTICE SCALIA, with whom THE CHIEF  JUSTICE and JUSTICE THOMAS join, dissenting.  The Court has mistaken a Kulturkampf for a fit of spite. The constitutional amendment before us here is not the manifestation of a “‘bare ... desire to harm’” homosexuals, but is rather a modest attempt by seemingly tolerant Coloradans to preserve traditional sexual mores against the efforts of a politically powerful minority to revise those mores through use of the laws. That objective, and the means chosen to achieve it, are not only unimpeachable under any constitutional doctrine hitherto pronounced (hence the opinion’s heavy reliance upon principles of righteousness rather than judicial holdings); they have been specifically approved by the Congress of the United States and by this Court.

   
In holding that homosexuality cannot be singled out for disfavorable treatment, the Court contradicts a decision, unchallenged here, pronounced only 10 years ago, see Bowers v. Hardwick, 478 U.S. 186 (1986), and places the prestige of this institution behind the proposition that opposition to homosexuality is as reprehensible as racial or religious bias. Whether it is or not is precisely the cultural debate that gave rise to the Colorado constitutional amendment (and to the preferential laws against which the amendment was directed). Since the Constitution of the United States says nothing about this subject, it is left to be resolved by normal democratic means, including the democratic adoption of provisions in state constitutions. This Court has no business imposing upon all Americans the resolution favored by the elite class from which the Members of this institution are selected, pronouncing that “animosity” toward homosexuality is evil. I vigorously dissent.

I.  Let me first discuss Part II of the Court’s opinion, its longest section, which is devoted to rejecting the State’s arguments that Amendment 2 “puts gays and lesbians in the same position as all other persons,” and “does no more than deny homosexuals special rights.” The Court concludes that this reading of Amendment 2’s language is “implausible” under the “authoritative construction” given Amendment 2 by the Supreme Court of Colorado.

   
In reaching this conclusion, the Court considers it unnecessary to decide the validity of the State’s argument that Amendment 2 does not deprive homosexuals of the “protection [afforded by] general laws and policies that prohibit arbitrary discrimination in governmental and private settings.” I agree that we need not resolve that dispute, because the Supreme Court of Colorado has resolved it for us. In Evans v. Romer, the Colorado court stated:

It is significant to note that Colorado law currently proscribes discrimination against persons who are not suspect classes, including discrimination based on age; marital or family status; veterans’ status; and for any legal, off-duty conduct such as smoking tobacco. Of course Amendment 2 is not intended to have any effect on this legislation, but seeks only to prevent the adoption of anti-discrimination laws intended to protect gays, lesbians, and bisexuals.
The Court utterly fails to distinguish this portion of the Colorado court’s opinion. … The clear import … is that “general laws and policies that prohibit arbitrary discrimination” would continue to prohibit discrimination on the basis of homosexual conduct as well. This analysis, which is fully in accord with (indeed, follows inescapably from) the text of the constitutional provision, lays to rest such horribles, raised in the course of oral argument, as the prospect that assaults upon homosexuals could not be prosecuted. The amendment prohibits special treatment of homosexuals, and nothing more. It would not affect, for example, a requirement of state law that pensions be paid to all retiring state employees with a certain length of service; homosexual employees, as well as others, would be entitled to that benefit. But it would prevent the State or any municipality from making death-benefit payments to the “life partner” of a homosexual when it does not make such payments to  the long-time roommate of a nonhomosexual employee. Or again, it does not affect the requirement of the State’s general insurance laws that customers be afforded coverage without discrimination unrelated to anticipated risk. Thus, homosexuals could not be denied coverage, or charged a greater premium, with respect to auto collision insurance; but neither the State nor any municipality could require that distinctive health insurance risks associated with homosexuality (if there are any) be ignored.

   
Despite all of its hand-wringing about the potential effect of Amendment 2 on general antidiscrimination laws, the Court’s opinion ultimately does not dispute all this, but assumes it to be true. The only denial of equal treatment it contends homosexuals have suffered is this: They may not obtain preferential treatment without amending the state constitution. That is to say, the principle underlying the Court’s opinion is that one who is accorded equal treatment under the laws, but cannot as readily as others obtain preferential treatment under the laws, has been denied equal protection of the laws. If merely stating this alleged “equal protection” violation does not suffice to refute it, our constitutional jurisprudence has achieved terminal silliness.

   
The central thesis of the Court’s reasoning is that any group is denied equal protection when, to obtain advantage (or, presumably, to avoid disadvantage), it must have recourse to a more general and hence more difficult level of political decisionmaking than others. The world has never heard of such a principle, which is why the Court’s opinion is so long on emotive utterance and so short on relevant legal citation. And it seems to me most unlikely that any multilevel democracy can function under such a principle. For whenever a disadvantage is imposed, or conferral of a benefit is prohibited, at one of the higher levels of democratic decisionmaking (i.e., by the state legislature rather than local government, or by the people at large in the state constitution rather than the legislature), the affected group has (under this theory) been denied equal protection. To take the simplest of examples, consider a state law prohibiting the award of municipal contracts to relatives of mayors or city councilmen. Once such a law is passed, the group composed of such relatives must, in order to get the benefit of city contracts, persuade the state legislature--unlike all other citizens, who need only persuade the municipality. It is ridiculous to consider this a denial of equal protection, which is why the Court’s theory is unheard-of.

   
The Court might reply that the example I have given is not a denial of equal protection only because the same “rational basis” (avoidance of corruption) which renders constitutional the substantive discrimination against relatives (i.e., the fact that they alone cannot obtain city contracts) also automatically suffices to sustain what might be called the electoral-procedural discrimination against them (i.e., the fact that they must go to the state level to get this changed). This is of course a perfectly reasonable response, and would explain why “electoral-procedural discrimination” has not hitherto been heard of: a law that is valid in its substance is automatically valid in its level of enactment. But the Court cannot afford to make this argument, for as I shall discuss next, there is no doubt of a rational basis for the substance of the prohibition at issue here. The Court’s entire novel theory rests upon the proposition that there is something special--something that cannot be justified by normal “rational basis” analysis--in making a disadvantaged group (or a nonpreferred group) resort to a higher decisionmaking level. That proposition finds no support in law or logic.

II.  
I turn next to whether there was a legitimate rational basis for the substance of the constitutional amendment—for the prohibition of special protection for homosexuals. It is unsurprising that the Court avoids discussion of this question, since the answer is so obviously yes. The case most relevant to the issue before us today is not even mentioned in the Court’s opinion: In Bowers v. Hardwick, 478 U.S. 186 (1986), we held that the Constitution does not prohibit what virtually all States had done from the founding of the Republic until very recent years—making homosexual conduct a crime. That holding is unassailable, except by those who think that the Constitution changes to suit current fashions. But in any event it is a given in the present case: Respondents’ briefs did not urge overruling Bowers, and at oral argument respondents’ counsel expressly disavowed any intent to seek such overruling. If it is constitutionally permissible for a State to make homosexual conduct criminal, surely it is constitutionally permissible for a State to enact other laws merely disfavoring homosexual conduct. (As the Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia Circuit has aptly put it: “If the Court [in Bowers] was unwilling to object to state laws that criminalize the behavior that defines the class, it is hardly open . . . to conclude that state sponsored discrimination against the class is invidious. After all, there can hardly be more palpable discrimination against a class than making the conduct that defines the class criminal.” Padula v. Webster, 822 F.2d 97, 103 (1987).) And a fortiori it is constitutionally permissible for a State to adopt a provision not even disfavoring homosexual conduct, but merely prohibiting all levels of state government from bestowing special protections upon homosexual conduct. Respondents (who, unlike the Court, cannot afford the luxury of ignoring inconvenient precedent) counter Bowers with the argument that a greater-includes-the-lesser rationale cannot justify Amendment 2’s application to individuals who do not engage in homosexual acts, but are merely of homosexual “orientation.” Some courts of appeals have concluded that, with respect to laws of this sort at least, that is a distinction without a difference. See Equality Foundation of Greater Cincinnati, Inc. v. Cincinnati, 54 F.3d 261, 267 (CA6 1995) (“For purposes of these proceedings, it is virtually impossible to distinguish or separate individuals of a particular orientation which predisposes them toward a particular sexual conduct from those who actually engage in that particular type of sexual conduct”); Steffan v. Perry, 309 U.S. App. D.C. 281, 41 F.3d 677, 689-690 (CADC 1994). The Supreme Court of Colorado itself appears to be of this view. See 882 P.2d at 1349-1350 (“Amendment 2 targets this class of persons based on four characteristics: sexual orientation; conduct; practices; and relationships. Each characteristic provides a potentially different way of identifying that class of persons who are gay, lesbian, or bisexual. These four characteristics are not truly severable from one another because each provides nothing more than a different way of identifying the same class of persons”). 

   
But assuming that, in Amendment 2, a person of homosexual “orientation” is someone who does not engage in homosexual conduct but merely has a tendency or desire to do so, Bowers still suffices to establish a rational basis for the provision. If it is rational to criminalize the conduct, surely it is rational to deny special favor and protection to those with a self-avowed tendency or desire to engage in the conduct. Indeed, where criminal sanctions are not involved, homosexual “orientation” is an acceptable stand-in for homosexual conduct. A State “does not violate the Equal Protection Clause merely because the classifications made by its laws are imperfect,” Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 485 (1970). Just as a policy barring the hiring of methadone users as transit employees does not violate equal protection simply because some methadone users pose no threat to passenger safety, see New York City Transit Authority v. Beazer, 440 U.S. 568 (1979), and just as a mandatory retirement age of 50 for police officers does not violate equal protection even though it prematurely ends the careers of many policemen over 50 who still have the capacity to do the job, see Massachusetts Bd. of Retirement v. Murgia, 427 U.S. (1976), Amendment 2 is not constitutionally invalid simply because it could have been drawn more precisely so as to withdraw special antidiscrimination protections only from those of homosexual “orientation” who actually engage in homosexual conduct. As Justice Kennedy wrote, when he was on the Court of Appeals, in a case involving discharge of homosexuals from the Navy: 

Nearly any statute which classifies people may be irrational as applied in particular cases. Discharge of the particular plaintiffs before us would be rational, under minimal scrutiny, not because their particular cases present the dangers which justify Navy policy, but instead because the general policy of discharging all homosexuals is rational. 

Beller v. Middendorf, 632 F.2d 788, 808-809, n.20 (CA9 1980)

   
Moreover, even if the provision regarding homosexual “orientation” were invalid, respondents’ challenge to Amendment 2—which is a facial challenge—must fail. “A facial challenge to a legislative Act is, of course, the most difficult challenge to mount successfully, since the challenger must establish that no set of circumstances exists under which the Act would be valid.” United States v. Salerno, 481 U.S. 739, 745 (1987). It would not be enough for respondents to establish (if they could) that Amendment 2 is unconstitutional as applied to those of homosexual “orientation”; since, under Bowers, Amendment 2 is unquestionably constitutional as applied to those who engage in homosexual conduct, the facial challenge cannot succeed. Some individuals of homosexual “orientation” who do not engage in homosexual acts might successfully bring an as-applied challenge to Amendment 2, but so far as the record indicates, none of the respondents is such a person. See App. 4-5 (complaint describing each of the individual respondents as either “a gay man” or “a lesbian”). 

III.   
The foregoing suffices to establish what the Court’s failure to cite any case remotely in point would lead one to suspect: No principle set forth in the Constitution, nor even any imagined by this Court in the past 200 years, prohibits what Colorado has done here. But the case for Colorado is much stronger than that. What it has done is not only unprohibited, but eminently reasonable, with close, congressionally approved precedent in earlier constitutional practice.

   
First, as to its eminent reasonableness. The Court’s opinion contains grim, disapproving hints that Coloradans have been guilty of “animus” or “animosity” toward homosexuality, as though that has been established as unamerican. Of course it is our moral heritage that one should not hate any human being or class of human beings. But I had thought that one could consider certain conduct reprehensible—murder, for example, or polygamy, or cruelty to animals—and could exhibit even “animus” toward such conduct. Surely that is the only sort of “animus” at issue here: moral disapproval of homosexual conduct, the same sort of moral disapproval that produced the centuries-old criminal laws that we held constitutional in Bowers. The Colorado amendment does not, to speak entirely precisely, prohibit giving favored status to people who are homosexuals; they can be favored for many reasons—for example, because they are senior citizens or members of racial minorities. But it prohibits giving them favored status because of their homosexual conduct—that is, it prohibits favored status for homosexuality.

   
But though Coloradans are, as I say, entitled to be hostile toward homosexual conduct, the fact is that the degree of hostility reflected by Amendment 2 is the smallest conceivable. The Court’s portrayal of Coloradans as a society fallen victim to pointless, hate-filled “gay-bashing” is so false as to be comical. Colorado not only is one of the 25 States that have repealed their, antisodomy laws, but was among the first to do so.  But the society that eliminates criminal punishment for homosexual acts does not necessarily abandon the view that homosexuality is morally wrong and socially harmful; often, abolition simply reflects the view that enforcement of such criminal laws involves unseemly intrusion into the intimate lives of citizens.  . . .

   
There is a problem, however, which arises when criminal sanction of homosexuality is eliminated but moral and social disapprobation of homosexuality is meant to be retained. The Court cannot be unaware of that problem; it is evident in many cities of the country, and occasionally bubbles to the surface of the news, in heated political disputes over such matters as the introduction into local schools of books teaching that homosexuality is an optional and fully acceptable “alternate life style.” The problem (a problem, that is, for those who wish to retain social disapprobation of homosexuality) is that, because those who engage in homosexual conduct tend to reside in disproportionate numbers in certain communities,  have high disposable income, and of course care about homosexual-rights issues much more ardently than the public at large, they possess political power much greater than their numbers, both locally and statewide. Quite understandably, they devote this political power to achieving not merely a grudging social toleration, but full social acceptance, of homosexuality. See, e.g., Jacobs, The Rhetorical Construction of Rights: The Case of the Gay Rights Movement, 1969-1991, 72 Neb. L. Rev. 723, 724 (1993) (“The task of gay rights proponents is to move the center of public discourse along a continuum from the rhetoric of disapprobation, to rhetoric of tolerance, and finally to affirmation”).

   
By the time Coloradans were asked to vote on Amendment 2, their exposure to homosexuals’ quest for social endorsement was not limited to newspaper accounts of happenings in places such as New York, Los Angeles, San Francisco, and Key West. Three Colorado cities—Aspen, Boulder, and Denver—had enacted ordinances that listed “sexual orientation” as an impermissible ground for discrimination, equating the moral disapproval of homosexual conduct with racial and religious bigotry. The phenomenon had even appeared statewide: the Governor of Colorado had signed an executive order pronouncing that “in the State of Colorado we recognize the diversity in our pluralistic society and strive to bring an end to discrimination in any form,” and directing state agency-heads to “ensure non-discrimination” in hiring and promotion based on, among other things, “sexual orientation.”  I do not mean to be critical of these legislative successes; homosexuals are as entitled to use the legal system for reinforcement of their moral sentiments as are the rest of society. But they are subject to being countered by lawful, democratic countermeasures as well.

   
That is where Amendment 2 came in. It sought to counter both the geographic concentration and the disproportionate political power of homosexuals by (1) resolving the controversy at the statewide level, and (2) making the election a single-issue contest for both sides. It put directly, to all the citizens of the State, the question: Should homosexuality be given special protection? They answered no. The Court today asserts that this most democratic of procedures is unconstitutional. Lacking any cases to establish that facially absurd proposition, it simply asserts that it must be unconstitutional, because it has never happened before.

[Amendment 2] identifies persons by a single trait and then denies them protection across the board. The resulting disqualification of a class of persons from the right to seek specific protection from the law is unprecedented in our jurisprudence. The absence of precedent for Amendment 2 is itself instructive . . . .  It is not within our constitutional tradition to enact laws of this sort. Central both to the idea of the rule of law and to our own Constitution’s guarantee of equal protection is the principle that government and each of its parts remain open on impartial terms to all who seek its assistance.
As I have noted above, this is proved false every time a state law prohibiting or disfavoring certain conduct is passed, because such a law prevents the adversely affected group—whether drug addicts, or smokers, or gun owners, or motorcyclists—from changing the policy thus established in “each of [the] parts” of the State. What the Court says is even demonstrably false at the constitutional level. The Eighteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution, for example, deprived those who drank alcohol not only of the power to alter the policy of prohibition locally or through state legislation, but even of the power to alter it through state constitutional amendment or federal legislation. The Establishment Clause of the First Amendment prevents theocrats from having their way by converting their fellow citizens at the local, state, or federal statutory level; as does the Republican Form of Government Clause prevent monarchists.

   
But there is a much closer analogy, one that involves precisely the effort by the majority of citizens to preserve its view of sexual morality statewide, against the efforts of a geographically concentrated and politically powerful minority to undermine it. The constitutions of the States of Arizona, Idaho, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Utah to this day contain provisions stating that polygamy is “forever prohibited.” Polygamists, and those  who have a polygamous “orientation,” have been “singled out” by these provisions for much more severe treatment than merely denial of favored status; and that treatment can only be changed by achieving amendment of the state constitutions. The Court’s disposition today suggests that these provisions are unconstitutional, and that polygamy must be permitted in these States on a state-legislated, or perhaps even local-option, basis—unless, of course, polygamists for some reason have fewer constitutional rights than homosexuals.

   
The U.S. Congress, by the way, required the inclusion of these antipolygamy provisions in the constitutions of Arizona, New Mexico, Oklahoma, and Utah, as a condition of their admission to statehood.  (For Arizona, New Mexico, and Utah, moreover, the Enabling Acts required that the antipolygamy provisions be “irrevocable without the consent of the United States and the people of said State”—so that not only were “each of [the] parts” of these States not “open on impartial terms” to polygamists, but even the States as a whole were not; polygamists would have to persuade the whole country to their way of thinking.) Idaho adopted the constitutional provision on its own, but the 51st Congress, which admitted Idaho into the Union, found its constitution to be “republican in form and ... in conformity with the Constitution of the United States”. Thus, this “singling out” of the sexual practices of a single group for statewide, democratic vote—so utterly alien to our constitutional system, the Court would have us believe—has not only happened, but has received the explicit approval of the U.S.

   
I cannot say that this Court has explicitly approved any of these state constitutional provisions; but it has approved a territorial statutory provision that went even further, depriving polygamists of the ability even to achieve a constitutional amendment, by depriving them of the power to vote. In Davis v. Beason, 133 U.S. 333 (1890), Justice Field wrote for a unanimous Court:

In our judgment, §501 of the Revised Statutes of Idaho Territory, which provides that ‘no person ... who is a bigamist or polygamist or who teaches, advises, counsels, or encourages any person or persons to become bigamists or polygamists, or to commit any other crime defined by law, or to enter into what is known as plural or celestial marriage, or who is a member of any order, organization or association which teaches, advises, counsels, or encourages its members or devotees or any other persons to commit the crime of bigamy or polygamy, or any other crime defined by law ... is permitted to vote at any election, or to hold any position or office of honor, trust, or profit within this Territory,’ is not open to any constitutional or legal objection.
To the extent, if any, that this opinion permits the imposition of adverse consequences upon mere abstract advocacy of polygamy, it has of course been overruled by later cases. See Brandenburg v. Ohio, 395 U.S. 444 (1969). But the proposition that polygamy can be criminalized, and those engaging in that crime deprived of the vote, remains good law. See Richardson v. Ramirez, 418 U.S. 24 (1974). Beason rejected the argument that “such discrimination is a denial of the equal protection of the laws.  … 

   
This Court cited Beason with approval as recently as 1993, in an opinion authored by the same Justice who writes for the Court today. That opinion said: “Adverse impact will not always lead to a finding of impermissible targeting. For example, a social harm may have been a legitimate concern of government for reasons quite apart from discrimination.... See, e.g., ... Davis v. Beason, 133 U.S. 333, (1890).” Church of Lukumi Babalu Aye, Inc. v. Hialeah, 508 U.S. 520, 535 (1993). It remains to be explained how §501 of the Idaho Revised Statutes was not an “impermissible targeting” of polygamists, but (the much more mild) Amendment 2 is an “impermissible targeting” of homosexuals. Has the Court concluded that the perceived social harm of polygamy is a “legitimate concern of government,” and the perceived social harm of homosexuality is not?

IV.   
I strongly suspect that the answer to the last question is yes, which leads me to the last point I wish to make: The Court today, announcing that Amendment 2 “defies ... conventional [constitutional] inquiry,” and “confounds [the] normal process of judicial review,” employs a constitutional theory heretofore unknown to frustrate Colorado’s reasonable effort to preserve traditional American moral values. The Court’s stern disapproval of “animosity” towards homosexuality might be compared with what an earlier Court (including the revered Justices Harlan and Bradley) said in Murphy v. Ramsey, 114 U.S. 15 (1885), rejecting a constitutional challenge to a United States statute that denied the franchise in federal territories to those who engaged in polygamous cohabitation:

Certainly no legislation can be supposed more wholesome and necessary in the founding of a free, self-governing commonwealth, fit to take rank as one of the co-ordinate States of the Union, than that which seeks to establish it on the basis of the idea of the family, as consisting in and springing from the union for life of one man and one woman in the holy estate of matrimony; the sure foundation of all that is stable and noble in our civilization; the best guaranty of that reverent morality which is the source of all beneficent progress in social and political improvement.
I would not myself indulge in such official praise for heterosexual monogamy, because I think it no business of the courts (as opposed to the political branches) to take sides in this culture war.

   
But the Court today has done so, not only by inventing a novel and extravagant constitutional doctrine to take the victory away from traditional forces, but even by verbally disparaging as bigotry adherence to traditional attitudes. To suggest, for example, that this constitutional amendment springs from nothing more than “a bare ... desire to harm a politically unpopular group,” is nothing short of insulting. (It is also nothing short of preposterous to call “politically unpopular” a group which enjoys enormous influence in American media and politics, and which, as the trial court here noted, though composing no more than 4% of the population had the support of 46% of the voters on Amendment 2.)

   
When the Court takes sides in the culture wars, it tends to be with the knights rather than the villeins—and more specifically with the Templars, reflecting the views and values of the lawyer class from which the Court’s Members are drawn.  How that class feels about homosexuality will be evident to anyone who wishes to interview job applicants at virtually any of the Nation’s law schools. The interviewer may refuse to offer a job because the applicant is a Republican; because he is an adulterer; because he went to the wrong prep school or belongs to the wrong country club; because he eats snails; because he is a womanizer; because she wears real-animal fur; or even because he hates the Chicago Cubs. But if the interviewer should wish not to be an associate or partner of an applicant because he disapproves of the applicant’s homosexuality, then he will have violated the pledge which the Association of American Law Schools requires all its member-schools to exact from job interviewers: “assurance of the employer’s willingness” to hire homosexuals. … This law-school view of what “prejudices” must be stamped out may be contrasted with the more plebeian attitudes that apparently still prevail in the U.S. Congress,  which has been unresponsive to repeated attempts to extend to homosexuals the protections of federal civil rights laws and which took the pains to exclude them specifically from the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990.

   
Today’s opinion has no foundation in American constitutional law, and barely pretends to. The people of Colorado have adopted an entirely reasonable provision which does not even disfavor homosexuals in any substantive sense, but merely denies them preferential treatment. Amendment 2 is designed to prevent piecemeal deterioration of the sexual morality favored by a majority of Coloradans, and is not only an appropriate means to that legitimate end, but a means that Americans have employed before. Striking it down is an act, not of judicial judgment, but of political will. I dissent.  

(  (  (  (  (  (  (
DISCUSSION QUESTIONS

3.42.  Why does the Romer Court believe that Amendment  2 fails rational basis scrutiny?  Is the majority’s application of rational basis scrutiny more like thre reasoning of Heller or of Cleburne?
3.43.  
The dissent says that Romer is inconsistent with Bowers. It argued that Bowers upheld criminalizing sodomy, and therefore which it said was the “conduct that defines the class” of gay men, lesbians, and bisexuals Thus, any Equal Protection claim by those groups was inconsistent with Bowers. What does Justice Scalia mean when he uses the phrase in bold?   As the dissent [points out, the majority in Romer never mentions Bpowers. How do you think the majority would respond to this use of the phrase in bold?
3.44.  
In its Parts II and III, Cleberne discusses when heightened scrutiny is appropriate for a particular class of people. Under this approach, should Lesbian, Gay and Bisexual people receive heightened scrutiny?
(  (  (  (  (  (  (
Review Problem 3F
In the roughly four decades since Bowers, many cities and local governments have added sexual orientation to the list of protected classifications in one or more anti-discrimination laws.  The public accommodation statutes have proved particularly controversial. Owners and managers of particular operations have claimed that having to do business with gay men, lesbians, and/or bisexuals violates their religious beliefs, thus raising the general question: When should we allow a religious claim as a defense to a sexual orientation charge under public accommodations statutes?  Before addressing this general question, be prepared to discuss the following sub-questions:
(1) How do we determine whether religious refusal to comply w statute is genuine or an attempt to shield decisions made through prejudice
(2) Which of the following should be relevant to allowing religious defenses in this context?: 

a. Whether there is a textual basis underlying the religious defense?

b. Whether the particular claimant provides public notict of its religious policy?

c. The size of the business?
d. Whether the same type of services will still be available in the community if the defendant’s religious claim is upheld?

(3) Should the type of business matter? E.g., is there a difference between the following businesses asked to provide services in the context a same-sex marriage:
a. Making a wedding cake?
b. Serving as wedding photographer?
c. Renting formal men’s wear to men participating in the wedding?

d. Printing wedding invitations?

e. Providing flowers for the bride and for tables t the reception?

(  (  (  (  (  (  
American Tune
By Paul Simon (1973)


Many's the time I've been mistaken
And many times confused
Yes, and I've often felt forsaken
And certainly misused
Oh, but I'm alright, I'm alright
I'm just weary to my bones
Still, you don't expect to be bright and bon vivant
So far away from home, so far away from home

I don't know a soul who's not been battered
I don't have a friend who feels at ease
I don't know a dream that's not been shattered
Or driven to its knees
Oh, but it's alright, it's alright
For we lived so well so long
Still, when I think of the road we're traveling on
I wonder what's gone wrong
I can't help it, I wonder what's gone wrong

And I dreamed I was dying
I dreamed that my soul rose unexpectedly
And looking back down at me
Smiled reassuringly
And I dreamed I was flying
And high up above my eyes could clearly see
The Statue of Liberty
Sailing away to sea
And I dreamed I was flying

And we come on the ship they call The Mayflower
We come on the ship that sailed the moon
We come in the age's most uncertain hours
And sing an American tune
Oh, and it's alright, it's alright, it's alright
You can't be forever blessed
Still, tomorrow's gonna be another working day
And I'm trying to get some rest
That's all I'm trying to get some rest

1 The Court notes, in conclusion, that its decision not to recognize §§1981and 1982 as creating a cause of action for discriminatory advertising in the instant case is of limited practical effect here.  The Court has already held that plaintiffs have proven a Fair Housing Act violation based on the same facts and awarded them compensatory, but not punitive, damages.  Identical damages are sought for the alleged §1981 and §1982 violations.  Because plaintiffs would not be entitled to recover double damages, the Court's ruling on the scope of Sections 1981 and 1982 has limited practical significance.





2  The Court of Appeals thus rejected petitioners’ claim that respondent’s complaint alleged only national origin and religious discrimination, assertedly not reached by §1981.


4 There is a common popular understanding that there are three major human races—Caucasoid, Mongoloid, and Negroid.  Many modern biologists and anthropologists, however, criticize racial classifications as arbitrary and of little use in understanding the variability of human beings.  It is said that genetically homogeneous populations do not exist and traits are not discontinuous between populations;  therefore, a population can only be described in terms of relative frequencies of various traits.  Clear�cut categories do not exist.  The particular traits which have generally been chosen to characterize races have been criticized as having little biological significance.  It has been found that differences between individuals of the same race are often greater than the differences between the “average” individuals of different races. These observations and others have led some, but not all, scientists to conclude that racial classifications are for the most part sociopolitical, rather than biological, in nature.


5 We note that under prior cases, discrimination by States on the basis of ancestry violates the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.


1 The defendants use the denominizations Latins and Hispanics to describe the members of a single race.  The Supreme Court in St. Francis ... uses only the term Latin in its discussion of the Congressional intent of §1981. Without a judgment as to which term is more appropriate to describe the Spanish speaking peoples of the Western Hemisphere, and without determining whether the terms Latin and Hispanic actually describe separate racial groups, the court has followed the lead of Congress and the Supreme Court and used “Latin” to include the entire group.





4 The Court, drawing a parallel between Title VIII and Title VII, which bars discrimination in employment, supports its view of Title VIII with Supreme Court decisions approving only limited use of race�conscious remedies under statutory and constitutional standards in the employment context.  Though Titles VIII and VII share a common objective of combating discrimination, their differing contexts preclude the assumption that the law of affirmative action developed for employment is readily applicable to housing.  The Title VII cases have not been concerned with a “tipping point” beyond which a work force might become segregated.  Yet that is a demonstrated fact of life in the context of housing. The statutory issue arising under Title VIII should be decided on the basis of what practices Congress was proscribing when it enacted this provision.  Whether the constitutional standards for affirmative action differ between the employment and housing contexts need not be considered since the Government has explicitly declined in this litigation to advance any claim of unconstitutional action.





12 The apartments in question are located in the area east of 19th Street North in Billings, Montana, an area allegedly poorly lit and otherwise poorly suited for single women walking alone.





4 As the local housing finance agency, the Department of Housing Preservation and Development has primary responsibility for supervision and management of Manhattan Plaza. HPD must comply with HUD regulations and is subject to audit and review by the federal agency. Criteria established by HUD provide “The bedroom size assigned should not require persons of the opposite sex other than husband and wife to occupy the same bedroom other than infants or very young children.” 


9 Courts considering the legitimacy of legislation against bisexual massages within the context of Title VII have on occasion invalidated the ordinances. See Stratton v. Drumm, 445 F.Supp. 1305, 1312(D.Conn.1978) (effects of such ordinance coupled with realities of the massage business had a disproportionately detrimental impact on women); Cianciolo v. Members of City Council, 376 F.Supp. 719, 722-24 (E.D.Tenn.1974) (ordinance prohibiting bisexual massages was invalid since gender was not bona fide occupational qualification). See note 10 infra. In another Title VII action, male and female basketball coaches of the women’s team complained that they earned less than coaches of the men’s team. The court dismissed the complaint on the ground that “the disparity in treatment [was] not based on Plaintiffs’ sex.” Jackson v. Armstrong School Dist., 430 F.Supp. 1050, 1052 (W.D.Pa.1977); Accord, Kenneweg v. Hampton Township School Dist., 438 F.Supp. 575, 577 (W.D.Pa.1977).


10 Neither has there been any showing that the facially neutral plan in this case discriminates against a particular gender in its effect. See General Electric Co. v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125, 136-37 (1976).


11 Although the equal protection violation is urged upon the Court as a separate ground, it has of necessity been dealt with to a certain extent in the Court’s analysis of the Fair Housing Act. The court notes that in General Electric Co. v. Gilbert, 429 U.S. 125, 136 (1976), the Supreme Court held that the equal protection reasoning in Geduldig v. Aiello, 417 U.S. 484 (1974), was applicable to an action claiming gender-based discrimination under Title VII. In discussing sex discrimination under Title VII, the Supreme Court stated: 


The concept of ‘discrimination,’ of course, was well known at the time of the enactment of Title VII, having been associated with the Fourteenth Amendment for nearly a century, and carrying with it a long history of judicial construction. When Congress makes it unlawful for an employer to ‘discriminate ... because of ... sex ...,’ without further explanation of its meaning, we should not readily infer that it meant something different from what the concept of discrimination has traditionally meant.


Id. at 145.


12 The Supreme Court elaborated on the “proxy” theory as follows: 


‘[A]rchaic and overbroad’ generalizations ... concerning the financial position of servicewomen, Frontiero v. Richardson, (411 U.S. 677, 689 n.23 (1973)), and working women, Weinberger v. Wiesenfeld, 420 U.S. 636 (1975), could not justify use of a gender line in determining eligibility for certain governmental entitlements. Similarly, increasingly outdated misconceptions concerning the role of females in the home rather than in the ‘marketplace and world of ideas’ were rejected as loose fitting characterizations incapable of supporting state statutory schemes that were premised upon their accuracy... . In light of the weak congruence between gender and the characteristic or trait that gender purported to represent, it was necessary that the legislatures choose either to realign their substantive laws in a gender-neutral fashion, or to adopt procedures for identifying those instances where the sex-centered generalization actually comported with fact.


Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 198-99 (1976).


14 According to the affidavit of Richard R. Kirk, Managing Director of defendant Dwelling Managers, Inc., in December 1978, there were 35 one bedroom apartments in Manhattan Plaza that were occupied by single parents with children of the same sex. Defendants calculate that if these 35 families were to occupy two bedroom apartments, the annual increase in subsidy would be $40,740.  Thus, defendants claim that “[o]ccupancy of two-bedroom apartments by other than single parents obviously permits a greater number of persons to enjoy the benefits of the [federal] subsidy, and also positively tends, because of the greater number of adults, to reduce the amount of the subsidy because a certain portion of families with two adults will be comprised of multiple wage earners.”  ...


15 On April 5, 1979, the Court heard oral argument regarding the governmental interest served by assignment of two bedroom apartments to single parents with a child of the opposite sex. Defendants subsequently submitted affidavits and statements from two psychiatrists (Vincenzo Conigliaro, M.D. and Yale Kramer, M.D.) who presented their views on the psychological dangers which result from having a single parent and a child of the opposite sex share the same bedroom.  Dr. Kramer concluded that “affectional and sexual overstimulation is more likely to occur where the opposite sexes sleep together, and this leads to ... impaired psychological development.” In addition, where opposite sexes sleep together there may be “traumatic overexposure to adult genitalia which may have powerful pathogenic effects on children....”  Finally “there is suggestive evidence that children sleeping with opposite-sexed parents reinforces a gender identification with those parents which leads to later gender-identity conflicts.”  Dr. Conigliaro contended that the sharing of the same bedroom by a single parent and child of the opposite sex “could contribute to, or cause, an excessive degree of ‘allosexual identifications’, [where a child identifies with the parent of the opposite sex] with results bearing on character formation, Super Ego formation and sexual identity.”


4 4 The city's Planning and Zoning Commission had earlier held a hearing and voted to deny the permit. Id. at 91.


6 The District Court had found:


"Group homes currently are the principal community living alternatives for persons who are mentally retarded. The availability of such a home in communities is an essential ingredient of normal living patterns for persons who are mentally retarded, and each factor that makes such group homes harder to establish operates to exclude persons who are mentally retarded from the community."





� The record before us suggests that the conditions that Bangerter complains of (i.e. the 24-hour supervision and the citizen's advisory committee) are not conditions that could be imposed on at least some of these other multiple uses. …  Thus, the bare record before us suggests that group homes for the handicapped are treated differently in these regards from other group home uses in R-1-8 zones.


� Before reaching the substance of Bangerter's claims, the district court analyzed whether the FHAA preempted state and local regulation of group homes for the handicapped.  The court concluded that the FHAA does not preempt the Utah statute at issue because “Congress did not intend to abrogate a state's power to determine how facilities for the mentally ill must meet licensing standards.” The court was certainly correct in concluding that the FHAA does not completely preempt all state and local regulation of housing for the disabled.  However, the Utah statute and Orem ordinance are preempted to the extent that they violate the Fair Housing Act. The FHAA expressly provides that:


[n]othing in this subchapter shall be construed to invalidate or limit any law of a State or political subdivision of a State, or of any other jurisdiction in which this subchapter shall be effective, that grants, guarantees, or protects the same rights as are granted by this subchapter; but any law of a State, a political subdivision, or other such jurisdiction that purports to require or permit any action that would be a discriminatory housing practice under this subchapter shall to that extent be invalid. 


42 U.S.C. §3615.  Thus, the law of a state or municipality is expressly  preempted by the Fair Housing Act if it is a “discriminatory housing practice” under the Act.  As such, the question of whether the Orem provisions challenged in this action are preempted by federal law does not guide our inquiry as it does not present a distinct issue from whether Bangerter has stated a valid claim that Orem has violated the FHAA.


� There is no need to probe for a potentially discriminatory motive circumstantially, or to apply the burden-shifting approach outlined in McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792 (1973), as the statute discriminates on its face by allowing conditions to be imposed on group housing for the handicapped which would not be permitted for non-handicapped group housing.  


� That is not to say that a government can never justify any intentional differential treatment of the handicapped.  Some differential treatment may be objectively legitimate.  In the Title VII context, for example, facially discriminatory treatment is permitted if it represents a bona fide occupational qualification (“BFOQ”) that is reasonably necessary to an employer's operations. We address the issue of potential justifications for discriminatory treatment under the Fair Housing Act below.


� Moreover, even if this case had been brought as an equal protection claim, there is no evidence that the zoning restrictions were rationally related to legitimate government concerns and not based on unsubstantiated fears or irrational prejudices.  Cleburne, 473 U.S. at 448-49.  Under the analysis in Cleburne, Orem would fail the rational relationship test on this state of the record even if an equal protection analysis were used.


� Section 3604(f)(2), for example, only makes it illegal “to discriminate against any [handicapped persons].”  


� We do not suggest that Bangerter must prove that Orem acted with bad animus to make out a case of intentional discrimination.  Nevertheless, a limited inquiry into Orem's intentions might shed light on whether the justifications offered for its actions are bona fide.
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